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PART II.

ZAKKA KHEL AFRIDIS: OPERATIONS.

No. 1.

Letter from the Government of India, Foreign Department, to the Right Honourable
Lord George F. Hamilton, Her Majesty’s Secretary of State for India, dated
the 17th November, 1898. Received 5th December, 1898.

(Extract.)

We have the honour to forward, for the information of Her Majesty’s Govern-
ment, a copy of papers regarding the settlement effected with the Khyber Pass
Afridis.

Enclosure 1 in No. 1.

From the Foreign Secretary to the Government of India, to the General Officer Commanding,
Khyber Drigade, Landi Kotal, dated 26th September, 1898,

(Telegraphic.)

The Government of India expect to be able shortly to issue to you and to Mr.
Cunningham, who will be associated with you, instructions as to the terms on which
the British Government is prepared to resume friendly relations with the Khyber
Afridis, the payment of allowances and the management of the Khyber Pass.
Please summon the jirgas of Kuki, Kambar, Malikdin, Zakka, Sipah and Kamrai
to meet you at Peshawar, and to hear these terms and the orders of Government.

Enclosure 2 in No. 1.

From the GGeneral Officer Commanding, Khyber Brigade, to the Foreign Secretary to the
Government of India, dated 29th Scptember, 1898.

(Telegraphic.)

Your telegram of 26th.  After consulting with Mr. Cunningham, I have
summoned the jirgas therein mentioned to be at Peshawar on the 22nd October,
with a view to the announcement of terms on the 24th.

Enclosure 3 in No. 1.

Letter from General Officer Commanding, Khyber Brigade, to the Secrctary to the
Government of India, Foreign Department, dated 3rd October, 1898.

(Extract.)

In continuation of my telegram of the 29th September, I have the honour
to forward, for your intormation, a translation of the summons which has
been issued to the jirgas of the Malikdin Khel, Kambar Khel, Kuki Khel, Zakka
Kbel, Sipah and Kamrai sections of the Afridis, in accordance with your telegram
of the 26th ultimo.

32610 C
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Annexure.

Translation of orders issued by the Political Officer, Khyber, dated Peshawar, the
98th Septener, 1898,

(Extract.)

The Government of India being now prepared to announce to your clans the terms on
which the British Government is prepared to resume friendly relations with you, the payment
of allowances and the management of the Khyber Pass, 1 have 1)(-(—\11. ordered by the General
Officer Commanding. Khyber Brigade, to summon you to attend with a full and represen-
tative jirga of vour clan to hear the same from him and Mr. Cunningham in Peshawar on
Monday, the 24th October, 1898 i.c., the 8th Jamadi-us-Sani, 1316 H.  You are particularly
to Lear in mind that your jirga which attends must be a full and represcutative one. You
are accordingly summoned to atiend on Saturday, the 22nd Oclober, t.e., Gth Jamadi-us-
Sani, 1316 H.

Enclosure 4 in No. 1.
Letter from Secretary to the Government of India, to the General Officer Commanding the
Khyber Brigade, duted Tth October, 1898,
(Extract.)

The Governor-General in Council has decided to associate Mr. F. D. Cunning-
ham, C.I.E, with you for the purpose of communicating to the full jirga of
the Afridi clans* with whom the Khyber agree-

* Kuki Khel. Zakka Khel,  ment of the 17th February, 1881, was concluded the
Kambar Khel. | Sipoh. terms upon which the Government of India have
Malikdin Khel. | Kamrai. decided to renew friendly relations with them, and

to deal with the Khyber Pass. The jirga has been
summoned by you to assemble in Peshawar on the 24th October, 1898, and I am
now to convey instructions as to the manner in which you and your colleague will
announce the Government terms and explain their nature and intention. The
announcement to be made is to the following effect :—First.—The Afridis by their
own acts ruptured all agreements, forfeited all allowances, gnd forced the British
Government to take and hold the Pass, which, as already announced by Sir William
Lockhart, will be managed and controlled as the British Government think most
desirable. Second.—The Pass will be kept open for trade. The British Government
will build a fort at Landi Kotal and posts between that and Jamrud, will keep up a
good road or roads, and, if they want it, a railway, and will take such measures as
they think fit to punish offences and prescrve order on road and railway, in the
fort and posts, and in the neighbourhood where necessary for their purposes.
Third —The Afridis will have no decalings with any power but the British.
They will be left to manage their own affairs in their own country; but, in the
Khyber Pass, they are responsible to the British Government that they will co-
operate to preserve order and security of life and property on roads or railway, and
within the limits of the Pass. Fourth.—The British Government will give allow-
ances as formerly to the Khyber Afridi clans for discharging this duty, and will
maintain a militia recruited from the Afridi and other tribes and commanded by
British officers. The British Government do not undertake always to keep troops at
Landi Kotal, but will make arrangements for supporting the Militia if circum-
stances require. Fifth—Arrangements for trade in the Khyber will be made by the
British Government, and the Militia will be used for guarding traders. Sizth.—The
allowances granted by the British Government will commence to reckon from the
date of the adhesion by the tribe to the terms settled hy the Government of India;
but thqy are subject to withdrawal for misbehaviour in the Pass, in British India,
or against the friends or allies of Government.

Enclosure 5 in No. 1.
Translation of written statement of acceptance of orders of (Fovernment handz=d in by Maliks,
elders and representatives of the Khyber Afridis in full jirga.
To Mr. F. D. Cunningham, Commissioner, dated 26th October, 1898.
We, headmen, representatives, and men of the Afridi clans, Kuki Khey,
Malikdin, Sipah, Zakka Khel, Kamrai and Kambar Khel, represent that on the

t i 24th October day of the Darbar,t six terms (or conditions) laid down
- or by Government were read out to us, and after that copies
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of a Pashtu translation were given to us, we have thoroughly understood them; we

now declare hy this writing that we accept and acquiesce in these six terms which

are attached to this paper, and this “ jirga” for itself, and as representing all the

clans concerned, agrees to these terms unconditionally.

(Here follow seals and attestations of over 200 Maliks, elders, and representative
men.)

No. 2.

Letter from the Government of India, to the Right Honourable St. John Brodrick,
His Majesty’s Sccretary of State for India, dated 5th Junuary, 1905. Received
23rd January, 1905,

(Extract.)
We have the honour to forward, for the information of His Majesty’s Govern-
ment, a copy of papers regarding the Afridis.

Enclosure 1 in No. 2.

From the Chief Commissioner, North- West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary to
the Government of India, dated 25th September, 1904.

(Telegraphic.) )

Party of about 15, consisting of Zakka Khel, Kambar Khel, and Orakzais,
committed a raid at Darshi Khel in Teri tahsil of Kohat district on night of 3rd
September, looting shop of Bhamain Das and killing owner and wounding a Bannu-
chi Mulla, and breaking other houses. Village pursuit party turned out at once,
and pursued raiders, who had retired into hills. Mr. Reid, of Salt Department,
was first officer to arrive, and rendered valuable services in directing pursuit.
Raiders finally succeeded in evading pursuit after killing five and wounding six
villagers, and carrying off four Snider rifles from the villagers. Of the raiders one
was wounded and captured, and another shot dead. Trile mainly fimplicated in
raid appears to be Zakka Khel, and it is reported that this tribe considers that it
has committed itself too far, and intends to do further mischief on a large scale,
and it is said revenge itself on Mr. Reid for action taken by him. Every possible
precaution is being taken to guard against this, and Political Agent, Khyber, has
warned Zakka Khel Maliks of absolute responsibility of tribe, and reports that
Maliks are making genuine efforts. If further threatened raid takes place, a serious
situation regarding the Zakka Khel will be created.

Enclosure 2 in No. 2.

Letter from the Chicf Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Secretary to the
Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated 28th September, 1904.
(Extract.)

I have the homour to refer to my telegram, dated 25th September,
1904, reporting a raid on the village of Darshi Khel, in the Kohat District, by a
gang, consisting mainly of Afridis, mostly of the Zakka Xhel Section. ILater infor-
mation goes to show that this was not a raid of an ordinary character, but rather an
act of defiance to Government, and of hostility to the two Zakka Khel Maliks.
Owing to an outlaw, Multan, harboured by the Zakka Khel having taken part in the
dakaiti at Jangal Khel in the Kohat District, last spring, two Zakka Khel
Maliks had gone to Tirah to try to obtain security for the future good behaviour of
this outlaw.  In their cfforts they found themselves confronted by the partisans of
Khwas Khan, who succeeded so well that, on the very day the Maliks left Maidan, a
raiding party, headed by this very outlaw, started for the Kohat border, and com-
mitted the raid at Darshi Khel. The value of the actual damage inflicted in this
raid including compensation for men killed and wounded amounts to approximately
Rs. 6,000, while the allowances due to the sections implicated amount to only

33510 c3
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Rs. 4500, of which Rs. 1,000 is already due as fine for their complicity in the Janga)
Khel dakaiti. The position thus appears to be exactly that desu‘qd by Khwas
Khan and his agents. They have induced the Zakka Khel to commit themselves
beyond their ordinary means of settlement, avnc! to hope to extricate themselves
from this difficulty by continuing their depredations on such a scale as to commit
the entire Afridi tribe. An exactly similar point of view is that of the elders who
have taken a leading part in organising or accompanying deputations to Kabul.
A report has been received that, on the 16th S.e.ptember, a meeting was held
at Bagh attended by all Afridis hostile to the British Government, vyho could be
collected, as well as by agents of Khwas Khan. After discussing the situation, this
jirga came to the conclusion that apart from this Darshi Khel raid, it was certain
that some measures would be taken to punish those who had gone to Kabul this year,
and that the best course lay in an attempt to commit the entire tribe to a common
cause. To this end it was suggested that the raiders who had already committed
the Darshi Khel raid should be induced to commit further raids, as the resulting
fines would be so large as to necessitate their collection from the entire Afridi tribe,
which would thus be rendered hostile to Government, and possibly blockaded from
British territory. The raiders agreed to adopt this course, though whether they
will do so remains to be seen. It was also suggested that, as efforts had failed to
remove by violent means Major Roos-Keppel and Sahibzada Abdul Qaiyum, other
measures should be tried. The question was discussed of addressing a petition to
His Excellency the Viceroy against both these officers, but it was finally decided that
there was no prospect of success in the case of a petition-against Major Roos-
Keppel, but 'tﬁat it might be tried in the case of Sahibzada Adbul Qaiyum.
The situation has already been discussed with the Zakka Khel Maliks, who
suggest that they should summon a jirga of the whole clan, which might then be
arrested by the Political Agent on the ground that he did not summon 1t. This is,
of course, not possible, but the expedient suggested by these Maliks is evidence that
they feel they are losing control of their clan. As an altcrnative these Maliks
suggest that the whole of the Afridis should be excluded from British territory
this winter, or that Bazar should be taken and retained. Up to the present time
the leading Maliks and elders have been doing their best to ensure the maintenance
of peace. Their efforts are, however, being constantly frustrated by Khwas Khan,
who is employing all his energies to give trouble, and who finds little difficulty
in leading the more turbulent elerhent of the Afridis in the dircction in which 1t
is already inclined to go. There can be no doubt that the state of affairs, which
is due to the efforts of Khwas Khan, has become very serious, and that, if the raids
contemplated do occur, Government may find itself committed to hostilities with the
Afridi tribe. The case of the Darshi Khel raid will be taken up in the ordinary
course with the jirgas, and cndeavours will be made to come to a settlement regarding
it, but in view of the serious state of affairs in the Afridj tribe, I deem it advisable to

place the Government of India in possession of the facts with as little delay as
possible.

Enclosure 3 in No. 2.

Letter from the Chicf Commissioner, North- West Frontier Province, to the Secretary to the
Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated 8th October, 1904.

I have the honour to forward a copy of a letter of 5th October, 1904, from the
Political Agent, Khyber, in which he proposes at the next distribution of allowances
to the Afridi tribe to withhold the shares of those who this year have either them-
selves gone to Kabul or have sent representatives, and to distribute the money thus
saved among those who have supported Government.

2. T agree with the view expressed by Major Roos-Keppel, and recommend
sanction being given to his proposals.

Annexure.

Letter from the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Secretary to the Chief Commissioner, Novth- West
: Frontier Province, dated 5th October, 1904,

I have the honour to point out that, Ly the existing system of distribution of tribal
allowances to the Afridis, every head of a family or “kandi’ receives his share direct from
me, less fines recoverable from individuals whom he represents.
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Before 1897 the allowances were paid to the Maliks who kepl a large rhare, and divided
the remainder among those who supported them. The present syslem came in at the settlo-
mont of 1898 owing (o the absence of many of the Maliks. At present men who are known
to be hostile to Government, who visit Kabul and receive large sums of money, share equally
with those who have supporied us, and who have resisted the very great templaiions held
out to them from Kabul. 7This paturally makes the laiter very discontented and inclined
to join the Kahul party, and I propose, if ihe Ilonourable the Chief Commissioner has no
objection, to withhold the shares of those who have this year either been to Kalul, or have
sent representatives, and to distribute the money thus saved among those who have sup-

rted us. ) ]
Po It is, I think, absolutely necessary to encourage ihese men, as they are geiting dis-
beartened and gradually detached from us. ) ) ) ,

There are no Gevernment orders regarding the distribufion of the subsidy, apd the
Political Officer has always distributed it as scemed hest to him, but I am nnw asking for
orders on this point, as my proposal involves the punishment of those who have gone to
Kabul.

Enclosure 4 in No. 2.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Secretury to the
Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated 8th October, 1904.

In continuation of my telegram, dated the 25th September, 1904, I
have the honour to forward a detailed report of the raid on the village of Darshi
Khel on the night of the 3rd September. . ' o

2. The raiding party which, it is believed, consisted of thirtecn Afridis of the
Kambar Khel and Zakka Khel sections, and two Mishti Orakzais, met at Bagnak
Masjid within the limits of the Ali Khel Orakzai country. Here an Ali Khel
Orakzai was induced to join the party on the pretence that the real object of the
enterprise was the murder of a private enemy who was proceéding from Tirah to
British territory. The party then proceeded vid the Chargu Pass, near Kot and
Ramdan, two Ali Khel Orakzai hamlets in Khanki, and from there to Saidarrai, a
village belonging to the religious sect of Khadazai Orakzais, and thence vid Bullula
Tseri, to Askha Darra, some three miles from the Shinawari post, in Zaimusht terri-
tory. Here the party was seen by some Zaimushts, and the villages of Sperkot and
Mauzabhi turned out to bar the raiders’ passage. However, the Ali Khel Orakzai
already referred to repeated the story told to him, and assured the Zaimushts that
no harm was intended to them. The Zaimushts took the Ali Khel’s rifle as security
for his statement, and returned to their villages. The raiding party then proceeded
on their way, with the exception of the Ali Khel who, being now weaponless, judged
it best to retire from the enterprise. The raiding party then crossed to the Karboga
Hills, and from there to the Manzalai Range, south of Anon Kot; then, leaving the
Sperkai Border Military Post to the west, they hid in the hills and ravines north of
Darshi Khel. They appear to have travelled by night, and, after their meeting
with the Zaimushts, to have had no dealings with, or assistance from, persons in
British territory.

3. On the afternoon of the Srd September, three of the party came unarmed
into the Darshi Khel village, and purchased some flour and other provisions at the
shops of Bhawani Das and two other Hindus. This they had cooked in the village,
and while waiting were doubtless enabled to familiarise themselves with the place
without arousing suspicion. At about 8 p.m., the whole party came down armed,
and sacked Bhawani Das's shop, shot the owner dead, and wounded a Bannuchi
Mulla, who came to his assistance. They then proceeded to break into the adjoin-
ing houses of Hindus, and to rob the women of the jewellery they were wearing.
The village alarm drum was at once beaten, and messengers ran off to warn the
Bahadur Khel Thana and Border Military Police Post. It is to be noted that Darshi
Khel consists of a small village with a large number of hamlets situated from a
quarter of a mile to a mile-and-a-half from the parent village. The villagers turned
out as promptly as the distance would allow, and those who possessed arms continued
to fire on the raiders. The Police and the Border Military Police turned out sharply,
but the raiders had left before they reached the village.

4. Mr. Reid, Superintendent of the Northern India Salt Department at Baha-
dur Khel, hearing the news, galloped up the village, and was able to render valuable
services. At first, the pursuit party thinking the raiders to be Waziris. started
towards the west. Mr. Reid, however, finding tracks leading to the north and
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north-east, recalled the pursuit party, and directed them to follow these up. The
night was dark; but with the aid of torches, the pursuit party, augmented from
Bahadur Khel, Nur, and Kurram followed these tracks to the foot of the Surtang
Range, and thence up a very steep and narrow hill-track which leads to the Surtang
Salt post: here the raiders had evidently made use of the Salt Department hill-path.

5. At about 2 a.m., the pursuit party were surprised by a volley fired from
above at a distance of 150 yards by the raiders, who were concealed in a ravine:
this volley killed two men and wounded two others. In spite of this reverse, the
villagers armed with Snider and Enfield rifles continued to oppose thq Martini-
Henry rifles of the raiders, who gradually retreated to the highest point of the
range which stands some 3,000 feet above the plain, and is inaccessible from the
south. The raiders retired by sections from this point, and were careful to take
good cover. _

6. The pursuit of the retiring raiders was continued throughout the day, but
the superiority of their armament kept the pursuit party at a distance. In the
afternoon a shot fired by a sepoy of the Surtang Salt post broke the thigh of one of
the raiders. His comrades attempted to carry him off, but finding this impossible,
took his rifle and cartridges, and left him concealed in a bush. He was sulise-
quently captured and found to be a Zakka Khel Afridi, Khairabaz, a reservist of
the 26th Punjab Infantry.

7. About 6 in the afternoon, the Khan of Teri’s party and the Police of Teri
joined the pursuit party, bringing with them a Lee-Mctford and a Martini-Henry
rifle, and this doubtless increased the speed with which the raiders then retired.
The pursuit slackened off at dusk, when it is was found that the casualties among
the villagers were two shot dead and six severely wounded; while four Government
Sniders had also been taken. The raiders’ tracks were followed during the night
into the next day as far as Mardan, where they were obliterated by heavy rain.
In the morning it was found that three of the villagers were missing; search parties
went out and found their dead bodies in the Surtang Range.

8. Subsequent enquiries show that the raiders marched the whole of the night,
and entered Zaimusht territory hefore dawn on the 5th Septemher, thus escaping
the parties of the Border Military Police and the Samana Rifles, who closed the
passes as soon as they were in possession of information as to the direction taken.

Some days later a wounded dakait, who was subsequently identified as Dilbar,
Zia-ud-din Zakka Khel, was found on the Surtang Range with a Lee-Metford rifle
by a patrol of villagers and shot dead. The casualties among the raiders were then
one killed and one wounded and captured, while two others are known to be
wounded. The casualties among British subjects were six killed and seven wounded,
in addition to the loss of property valued at Rs. 2,000 and four Snider rifles.

9. The facts themselves and subsequent enquiries show that the inhabitants of
British territory had not only not connived at this raid, but had, on the other hand,
done all in their power to arrest the raiders, and in face of serious difficulties showed
indomitable pluck and Lravery with their inferior weapons. The question of suit-
ably rewarding them is engaging my attention. I would also bring to the notice of
the Government of India the prompt and practical services of Mr. Reid, superin-
tendent, Northern Indian Salt Department. That officer’s readiness and assistance
enabled the pursuit to he carried on, and two of the raiders to be captured or killed;
but for him they would have probably escaped scot free. This, indeed, is recognised
by Phe raiders themselves, who are said to have vowed to be revenged on him for his
action. I have directed the Deputy Commissioner, Kohat, to see that suitable
measures are taken for Mr. Reid’s protection.

10. T have already in my letter, dated the 28th September, dealt with
the case as regards the Afridis implicated in this raid. The Deputy Commis-
sioner, Kohat, is investigating the case as regards the Orakzais, of whom two belong-
Ing to the Mishti section are said to have actually taken part in the raid, while the
Ali Khel section is being called upon to explain the passage of the raiders through
its country. On the conclusion of the investigation, suitable action will be taken
against these sections.
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Enclosure 5 in No. 2.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West F'rontier Province, to the Secretary to the
Gueernment of India in the Foreign Department, dated 8th October, 1901,

(Extract.)

In continuation of the correspondence ending with my letter, dated 8th October,
1904, regarding the raid on the village of Darshi Khel, in the Kohat District, on
the 3rd Scptember, 1 have the honour to forward a copy of a letter, dated 5th October,
1904, from the Political Agent, Khyber, regarding the measures which it is proposed
to take on account of this offence. I have already pointed out the serious position in
which ‘Government, has been involved with the A%ridis by the intrigues of Khwas
Khan. The case of this raid on Darshi Khel is such that it is impossible to obtain
full redress from the Afridi sections concerned, and I can suggest no other means of
meeting the case than by having it placed, as Major Roos-Keppel suggests, before
a jirga of the whole Afridi tribe, and by seeing whether this jirga can, or will,
continue to enforce peace and order on the border. The tribe should be specially
called in for this purpose, and I consider it necessary that, pending their decision in
the matter, the Afridi tribal allowances should be withheld. If the combined jirga
take action in the matter, and render proper assistance in the maintenance of
order, I see no reason to impose a heavy fine in addition to the redress which would
be obtained for this raid. The imposition of such a fine would and must mean its
recovery from all the Afridi clans, and to do this would be to achieve the result aimed
at by those responsible for the raid, namely, to commit the whole tribe with Govern-
ment. If the combined jirgas do make honesteffortsto keep the Zakka Khels in order,
it would be impolitic to make them discontented by the enforcement of tribal respon-
sibility. On the other hand, if they refuse to give honest assistance, the hands of
Government will be forced, and it will be necessary to deal with the Afridis as a
whole. If the Government of India approve of the above views, which T have put
forward as in my opinion the hest calculated to avoid general trouble with the
Afridis, T would solicit early orders, so that timely instructions may issue to Major
Roos-Keppel.

Annexure.

Letter from Major G. O. Rons-Keppel, C.LE., Political Agent, Khyber, lo the Secretary to the Chief
Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, dated dth October, 1904,

I have the honour to state, with reference to the recent raid at Darshi Khel, that it
has been ascertained that {his raid was committed by a party of Afridis and Orakzals num-
bering about 15 or 16 men. The Afridis were greatly in the majority, their clans implicated
being the Anai Zakka Khel, the Zia-ud-din Zakka Ithel, and the Shalobar Kawmbar Khel in
about equal proportions.

The amount of damage done in the raid (including blood-money for the twelve Dritish
subjects killed and wounded) is variously estimated at from Rs. 6,000 to Rs. 8.000, and if
a fine is imposed, its amount would be, judging by fines imposed in former and less serious
raids, not less than Rs. 6,000. Thus the total amount to be recovered from the relatives of
fellow-tribesmen of the offenders is Rs. 12,000 to Ms. 14,000, or, say, Rs. 13,000. I have
given throughout the lowest possible figures and the Ionourable the Chief Commissioner
may not consider this amount to be sufficient, but it is necessary for the purposes of this
report to name a definite sum, and arguments for and against the imposition of a fine of this
amount will apply proportionately 10 any greater or less sum that may be decided upon.

I do not, of course, know in what vroportion the llonourable the Chief Commissioner
would wish to impose this fine upon the Afridis and Orakzais, but may safely assume that
the share of the Afridis will be not less than one-half, or Rx. (,500.

The Afridi allowances are paid half-yearly, and the autumn share (/3th) is payable
in November or December next. The following amounts will then lLe payable to the three
clans concerned in the Darshi Khel raid, after deducting a sum of Rs. 1,000 due from the
Anai Zakka Khel on account of a fine already imposed, but not yet recovered.

Res.

Anai Zakka Khel ... 1.800
Zia-ud-din , 350
Shalobar Kambar Khel ... 2,100
— Total 4,250

The share of the Zia-ud-din is so small that it is impossible to equalise the incidence
of the fine, and even if the whole of the nllowances of the three clans were forfeited, the
amount realised would be Rs. 2,250 ghort of that required. The general conduct of the Anai
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and Zia-ud-din Zakka Khel has heen so bad that there would be no injustice in forfeiting
the whole of their allowances, although to do so would be to alicnate those of their elders
who have hitherto supported us. .

The case of the Shalobar Kambar Khel is different, as they are in Feneral a well-conducted
clan, and this is the first time that any of them have joined the Zakka Khel in raiding. In
any case, the whole fine cannot be recovered from the three clans concerned and, as the
matter is too serious to be passed over, we shall be forced to deal with the Afridis as a whole,
The Zakka Khel Maliks have suggested the exclusion of all Afridis from DBritish territory
and the stoppage of all tribal allowances uniil the Afridis have brought the Zakka Khel to
reason. This remedy would, I have no doubt, be effectual, but a paper blockade would he
useless, and an armed blockade is almost certain to develop into an expedition. That we
are hound {o have an Afridi expedition sooner or later T am convinced, as no one could
hope that the setilement of 1898 would be final, but, if Government for reasons of higher
policy are not at present prepared to sanction strong measures. I would suggest, as an alter-
native to the Malik's proposal that I should summon at the end of November or the beginning
of December a jirga of all the Afridis, and inform them that they must come to some under-
standing to punish the Zakka Khel, that they are responsible for their behaviour, and that
payment of the tribal allowances will be withheld until they have brought the Zakka Khel
to order or have at least done their best to do so.

That they will succeed on any large scale I do not expect, but it is possible that they
may settle this last raid and may stop Zakka Khel raiding for a time.

It is also possible that they may try and fail, and may then ask us to Jdeal with the
Zakka Khel ourselves. In this case the only way to gain a permanent hold over this trouble-
some_clan is to take and occupy the Bazar Valley. ] o

I would not propose to suspend Maliki or special allowances, as the recipients have been
and are working honestly in our cause, and it would be a mistake to discourage them.

¢

Enclosure 6 in No. 2.

From the Foreign Secretary to the Government of India, to Chief Commissioner,
North-West Frontier Province, dated 15th Octobér, 1904,

(Telegraphic.) _

Your letter, 8th October. Pending experience of effect of announcement
of forthcoming Mission to Kabul, authority to make which we hope will shortly be
sent- you, Government of India still think it undesirable to take strong measures
against Afridis. Within reasonable period of announcement of Mission, you should
report effect on Afridis, when your proposals for dealing with Zakka Khels will be
reconsidered. In the meantime no allowances should Le paid except maliki and
special allowances to men who have done service.

Enclosure 7 in No. 2.

Letter from the Secretary to the Government of India, Forcign Department, to the Chief
Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, dated 18th October, 1904,

I am directed to acknowledge the reccipt of your letter, dated the
8th October, 1904, in which you furnish a dctailed report of the raid by Zakka
Kbhels and others on the village of Darshi Khel, in the Kohat District, on the 3rd
September last.

. 2. The general views of the Government of India as to the necessity of refrain-
ing for the immediate present from taking strong measures against the Afridis,
have been explained to you in my telegram, dated the 15th October, 1904.
I am now to add that Mr. Reid, Superintendent, Northern India Salt De-
partment, is being informed through the head of his Department that in the opinion
of the Government of India his prompt and plucky initiative in organizing and con-
ducting the pursuit of a well-armed gang of raiders is worthy of high commendation.

3. His Excellency the Viceroy has observed with satisfaction that the inhabi-
tants of British territory had not only no concern with the outrage, but, on the other
hand, in the face of serious odds, showed great bravery in their efforts to arrest the
raiders. Your proposal to suitably reward them is approved, and His Excellency
the Viceroy trusts that this will be done with the least possible delay.
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Enclosure 8 in No. 2.

From the Foreign Secretary to the Gorvernment of Indin to the Chief Commissioner,
Novth-West Frontier P'rovince, dated 20th October, 1904,

(Telegraphic.)

My telegram October 15th.  You arc now authorized to publicly announce
despatch of Mission to Kabul in following terms :—

Begins: Since the accession in 1901 of the prescnt Amir of Afghanistan there
has been no opportunity hitherto for a meeting for the discussion of general topics
between His Highness and a representative of the Government of India. The Amir
has now proposed to send his eldest son, Sardar Inayat Ulla Khan, to meet Lord
Curzon on his return to India, and will receive at Kabul an official of the Government
of India authorised to discuss with His Highness questions concerning his relations
with the British Government. Mr. Louis Dane, Foreign Secretary to the Govern-
ment of India, who has been selected for the purpose, will proceed to Kabul at the
end of November. Ends. Please closely watch and report effect of this announce-
ment.

Enclosure 9 in No. 2.

From the Ioreign Secretary to the Government of India ty the Chief Commissioner,
North-West Frontier Province, dated 13th Norember, 1904.
(Telegraphic.)
My telegram October 20th. Government of India will he glad to learn effect
on border tribes of announcement of Kabul Mission.

Enclosure 10 in No. 2.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Secretary to the
Government of India in the Foreiqn Department, dated 14th November, 1904.

(Extract.)

In continuation of the correspondence ending with your telegram of the
13th November, I have the honour to state that, since the announcement of the forth-
coming mission to Kabul, there has been a lull in the going of tribesmen to Kabul
and the general attitude of the tribes is now one of expectation. The effect of the
announcement has been much as I expected; and so far as I can judge at present
the announcement has put a stop to active restlessness, as the tribesmen are waiting
to see the results of the Mission.

No. 3.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 3rd March, 1903,

(Telegraphic.)
_ On the 28th ultimo Afridis raided police post at Matanni, carrying off nine
rifles and other property. Matanni is between Peshawar and Kohat.

No. 4.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated Tth March, 1905,

(Telegraphic.)
My telegram of the 3rd instant. It is now reported that it was a gang of
outlaws from Afghan territory that raided the police post at Matanni.
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No. 5.
From Viceroy to Seerctary of State, dated 13th Mareh, 1905,

(Telegraphic.)

Deane reports another raid at Garhi Shahdad near Peshawar-Mullagori
Lorder on &h March. One Hindu and two villagers killed. three wounded, and
property looted. Same gang of outlaws mentioned in my telegram of 7th instant
apparently implicated.

No. 6.

From Viceray to Seeretary of State, dated 15th Mareh, 1905,

(Telegraphic.)

Raids recently made in Peshawar district. My telegram of the 13th March.
Kaddam, Kuki Khel village, two miles from Jamrud. was successfully surprised
yesterday morning by Roos-Keppel. No opposition was encountered. Leader of
raiders was captured and his house burnt.  Some clothing and jewellery which had
been looted was recovered.

No. 7.

Letter from the Government of India, Foreign Department, to the Right Honourable
St. John Brodyick, His ilajesty's Secretary of State for India, dated 25th May,
1905. Received 13th June, 1905.

(Extract.)

In continvation of cur despateh dated the 5th January, 1905, we have the
honour to forward, for the information of His Majesty's Government, a copy of
papers regarding offences committed in British territory by Atridis and by a gang
of well-known outlaws and dakaits who reside at Hazarnao, in Afghan territory.
The Afridi jirga has behaved well in inflicting severe punishment on the
offenders concerned in the serious raid on the Darshi Khel in the Kohat district on
the 3rd September last, and in recognition of the attitude of the tribe as a whole,
we have waived the realisation of a fine from them in this instance, and the tribal
allowances which had been temporarily withheld have been paid. We directed,
however, that no payments should be made to these who went to Kabul last year or
this, or who sent representatives there.  We invite your attention to Colonel Deane's
report on the more recent raid at Matanni on the 28th YFebruary, 1905, which was
organized at Hazarnao by Shakar, the notorious dakait and rifle thief, and carried
out by members of his gang, comprising several Afghan subjects and others who are
harboured in Afghanistan in close proximity to Afridi limits.

Enclosure 1 in No. 7.

Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the weel ending Saturday, the
17th December, 1904.

All the Bazar Zakka Khel came to Chora on the day of the Id (9th Decem-
ber, 1904) to pay their respects to Khan Bahadur Malik Yar Muhammad Khan,
Malikdin Khel. During the course of conversation, the Malik told them that they
liad, owing to their own misconduct, displeased the British Government; and that,
unless they repented and gave good securities not to commit themselves again, they
would suffer one day very heavily. They said that they had already held jirgas
among themselves, but had arrived at no definite understanding owing to the intri-
gues of the ex-Malik Khwas Khan, and that they intended on their return to settle
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matters with their bad characters, if possible. The Malik gave them sheep, and
they returned highly Fleased with him. On 9th Dccember, 1904, after the [4
prayers, the Sipah elders held a jirga with the Kambar Khel, Malikdin Khet,
and Zakka Khels, in the Kajuri Maira, for the punishment of the Zia-ud-din Zakka
Khel concerned in the Kohat raid case, and cleeted 60 clders from among them-
selves to go to the Zia-ud-dins, and to ask them to show cause why they should
not be made to give up the offenders. The Kambar Khel alsn intend to
collect a lashkar for the punishment of Mirza Ali, accused in the Kohat raid case.
A party of the Zakka Khels of Karamna, assisted by some Shinwaris of Loargi, are
reported to have raided and taken to Karamna ahout 200 Kuchi sheep grazing near
Kam Dakka. Certain Ghilzais while coming down t India from Ninzrahar, »id the
Bara Valley, attempted to kidnap a three-vears old son of Mulla Said Akbar,
Aka Khel, but they were pursued hy the Mulla’s men and arrested near Shin
Kamar and taken back to the Mulla, who ordered them to he sent to the Sarhang
of Dakka with a letter, stating the facts and asking him to have them suitably
punished.

Enclosure 2 in No. 7.
Eaxtract from the Khyber Political Diary for the weelk ending the Tth January, 1905.

A large jirga of Afridi Maliks and elders, representing every clan and
section of the tribe, waited on the Political Agent, Khyber, on the 2nd January,
1905, and asked to be paid their autumn allowances. They were told that, hesides
breaking their agreement with Government hy sending jirgas to Kabul during the
summer, some of their bad characters were concerned in some very serious raiﬁs m
the Kohat district; and that, unless they thoroughly punished Mirza Ali, Kambar
Khel, Multan, Zamir, and Amal Shah, Anais, Mir Akhar, Zia-ud-din, and Chaman,
Khusrogi, six of the leading raiders and dakaits, they could not be paid their
allowances. After a long discussion, the jirga asked to he allowed a day or two
to think over the matter and give a final replv. They held jirgas among themselves
in the city for two days, and decided to punish the offenders.  They saw the Poli-
tical Agent on the 5th January, 1905, and informed him of their decision.  Their
lashkars have since left for Tirah and Bazar.

Enclosure 3 in No. 7.

Letter from the C'hief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Secretary
to the Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated 12th January,
1905.

In continuation of my letter of the Sth October, 1904, T have the honour to
forward, for the information of the Government of India, a copy of a letter, dated
the 5th January, 1905, from the Political Agent, Khyber, reporting the résults of an
interview with the Afridi Jirga who visited him with regard to the holding up of the
tribal allowances.

2. Tt is satisfactory to note that the Afridi Jirgas are making some attempt
to prevent raiding into British territory. At the same time, owing to the want of
combination amongst the Afridis, it would be too sanguine to expect that they will
arrest and hand over the men implicated in the Darshi Khel raid, but if, by
destroying the houses of the men concerned and confiseating their lands, they prove
their intentions of maintaining peace with Government, a great point will have
been gained, and a reasonable fine imposed as compensation for the loss occasioned
in the Darshi Khel raid will be all that is necessary to sccure adequate redress.

3. The point raised by the Afridis and mentioned in Major Roos-
Keppel's letter is one which they have no grounds for complaint. The
only occasion during the last three years on which an Afridi clan has been
held responsible for allowing another tribe to pass through its limits, is one which
occurred two years ago, when an Aka Khel raiding party collected in the Sipab
village of Ilm Gudar close to the Bara fort, and from theve raided into the Peshawar
District.  On this oceasion, in addition to the fine imposed on the Aka Khel tribe,
the Sipah also were fined Rs. 1,000 for the divect complicity of Tlm Gudar. On
the other hand, the Daulatzai and other Orakzai clans on the Kohat horder, and
again lately the Zaimusht clan, have heen held rvesponsible on the principle of the
enforcement of territorial responsibility for the passing ot Afridi raiders throngh
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their limits. On the occasion of my late tour on the Kohat border, the Orakzaj
and Zaimusht clans protested against being held responsible in all these cases,
when, in many instances, full satisfaction had not heen obtained from the Afridis,
and they urged that such pressure should be put on the Afridi clans as would
cnsure their controlling their bad characters. The Zakka Khel, and more parti.
cularly the Zia-ud-din section of the Zakka Khel, arve mainly responsible for so-called
Afridi offences, both on the Peshawar and the Kohat horders; and though lately,
as pointed out by the jirga to Major Roos-Keppel, there has been a considerable
improvement in respect ot such offences, the case of the Darshi Khel raid is one
which calls for special notice, inasmuch as almost every Afridi clan must have
known of the intention to commit that raid. It was openly hatched in Tirah, and
committed, in defiance both of the Zakka Khel Maliks and of Government, by the
party who were henefiting by the intrigues of Khwas Khan at Kgbul, at a time
when the Afridi clans generally were breaking their agreement with Government
by visiting Kabul. _ .

4. Although there were many threats that the Darshi Khel raid would be
followed by others, it is satisfactory to note that none such have occurred. It is
true that, in the Kohat district, two small salt posts were lately raided and six
old Enficld rifles looted, and that this was attributed by the Khan of Teri to Zakka
Khels. So far enquiries do not support the assertion that this offence was com-
mitted by Afridis at all, and therc appears to be reason to believe that it was the
work of local bad characters. The casc, however, is still under enquiry.

5. It remains to be seen how far the Afridi Jirgas take definite steps to
punish the individuals and families of those concerned in the Darshi Khel raid.
Should satisfactory action be taken, it will afford some guarantee against future
raids, and at present it is believed that the Afridi Jirgas have a genuine intention
of putting pressure on the men concerned.

Annexure,

Letter from the Political Agent, Khyler, to the Secretary to the Chief Commissioner, North-1est
Fronticr Province, dated Sth Jawary, 1905.

I have the honour lo report, for the information of the MHonourable the Chicf Commis-
sioner, that the Afridi Jirgas came in in large numbers during the Christinas week tn ask for
payment of their autumn allowances. They had not come in before, as they were waiting
to be sent for.

On the 2nd instant, T interviewed a representative jirga, comprising all the Maliks and
a number of representative elders of each clan. They asked why they had not been sum-
moned as usual in November to rcceive their allowances, and when these allowances would
be paid. I replied that, by their behaviour throughout the summer and autumn, they had
deliberately broken the agreement which they came to with (Government in 1898, and that
besides their misconduct 1n sending jirgas to Kabul, some of their number had committed
a raid in the Kohat district, in which six men, British subjects, were killed and six wounded;
that this was practically an act of war, and could not be settled in the ordinary way, ‘.c.,
by the imposition of fines upon the actual offenders. That the Afridis, as a whole, would he
held responsible for this very grave ofience, and that, until they had given us satisfaction,
I should withhold their allowances.

The elders, in reply, put forward many arguments. They said that the difference between
the state of the Peshawar horder now and formerly was sufficient proof that they did their
hest to prevent any raiding into British territory. That as {he British Government had not
in sixty years succeeded in stamping oul crime in settled districts or in cities like Peshawar,
80 they, the elders, could not make it impossible for individuals or small gangs to commit
offences in British territory.

They complained that, when other tribes, e.g., the Aka Khel, passed through Afridi
limits to raid into the Peshawar dirtrict, the Afridis were held 1o their ferritorial respon-
sibility, and were punished for the ofences of others; but that, when individuals or gangs of
Afridis joined Orakzais in the commission of offences in (he Kohat distriet, the Afridis were
again held responsible, though it was quife tmpossible for {hem {o guarauntee the peace of the
Orakzai border.

After a long discussion, the elders asked if this Kohat raid case, which they did not
deny, could not be settled by {he imposition of fine, either upon the offenders’ clans, or upon
the whole tribe, and were {old thal this could not he accepled. as no fine upon the tribe
would deter from further raiding {he half-a-dozen men, who were ringleaders in all {hese
cases. The elders then asked what {erms would be accepted, and were told that they should
hand over for punishment ihe following six men:—

Multan, Anai Zakka Khel,

Amal Shal, Anai Zakka Khel,
Zamir, Anai Zakka Khel,

Mir Akbar, Z1a-ud-din Zakka Khel,
Chaman, Khusrogi Zakka Khel,
Mirza AL, Kambar Khel,
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;vho were the leaders and organisers of every raid which had taken place during the last
oW VOATS.

At first the elders replied thal this was quile impossible, but after some discussjon said
thal the six men named would probably either fight or bolt to Ningrahar or to the (rakeai
country, whera they could not follow them. They were told that, if six men and their
near relalions foughi against a combined lashkar of tlie whole tribe, they would almost
certainly be killed, and that this would ) sufficient; and that if they fled to Ningrahar
or to other trihal country, the elders shonld make it impossible for them in come hack to
Tivah by destroying their houses, confiscating their lands and cattle, and giving a heavy
securily against their return.

Some of the younger men said that they would never vomply with such demands, but
they were silenced hy the elders, who, after talking the matter over among themselves, asked
for time for consideration. They were given until the 4ih. bhul, on the morning of that day,
they had not come te any agreement, and T saw them again to-day.

They were in a quiet and business-like mond, and had agreed that the elders of the two
(Gara clans, the Kambar Khel and Kuki Klel, should leave Peshawar at once for Tirah,
raise a lashkar, and, if possible, capture Mirza Ali and bring Lhim in. The Samil clans, ie,
the Malikdin Khel, Sipah, Kamrai, and Zakka Khel elders had come to similar agreement
with regard to the five Zakka Khel offenders. A truce has been made for all feuds, both
tribal and personal, and there is no doubi that the bulk of the elders are in earnest. They
have agreed that any man not joining the lashkar shall be fined twenty rupees, that any man
siding with the offenders shall have his house burnt, and have asked that, in the event of
the Zakka Khel taking sides with the offenders, all Zakka Khel in British ferriiory may be
arrested. I have {old them that I will arresl any Afridi whom they may point out.

I asked them what they would do if the whole Zakka Khel clan were to oppose them, and
they replied that in this case they would not be strong enough io coerce them, but would
assist us to do so either actively or by giving hostages who should remain in our custody
while we punished the Zakka Kiml of Bazar and Bara. The Maliks privately urged me to
continue to withhold the allowances until the matter is seitled, as this is the only hope
of keeping the clans together.

The Maliks and elders and the bulk of the tribesmen are thoroughly {ired of being con-
stantly punished for the misconduct of a small handful of their tribe, and are now in earnest.
There is no doubt of this, but how long the mood will last it is impossible o say, as once
the lashkars meet in Tirah the Mullas and other mischief-makers will do their utmost to
sow dissensions among them. The Zakka Khel will have a strong inducement to settle matters,
as they will find the entertainient of the three other Samil clans a very heavy tax.

Enclosure 4 in No. 7.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Secretary to
the Government of India in the Forcign Department, dated 14th January,
1905,

I have the honour to refer to your letter dated the 18th October, 1904, regarding
the raid on the village of Darshi Khel in the Kohat District.

2. The proposals for rewarding suitably the villagers who took a prominent
part in following up the raiders have been under consideration, but could not be
framed earlier, as the announcements of revenue under the new assessment were
made only in November, and the intervening time has been taken up in the prepara-
tion of the Bachh statements in the villages concerned.

3. The villages which took part in the pursuit of the raiders were those of
Darshi Khel, Bafladur Khel, and Nar, while the lambardars of Kurram also
rendered valuable assistance. The revenue of these villages is credited, not to
Government, but to the Khaun of Teri, and the Khan has stated that he himself
desires to join in rewarding the villagers, and asks to he allowed to bear one-half
of the expense of any reward which Government deems suitable.

4. The exact numbers of the villagers who joined the pursuit garty have
been ascertained. It is found that the revenue for Kharif 1904 paid Dy these,
excluding local rates and cesses, amounts to Rs. 910-9. I propose, therefore, that,
in recognition of their good work, the revenue payable by these villagers for Kharif
1904 he remitted.  As the revenue to be vemitted is paid to the Khan of Teri, who
is bearing the expense of one-halt of the reward, I recommend that the other half
Rs. 455-4-6 be adjusted by deduction from the annual payment of Rs. 18,000
presently made to Government by the Khan.

5. As regards compensation for the villagers killed and wounded, I would
refer to my letter dated the 12th January, 1905, regarding the action to
be taken by the Afridis against the perpetrators in this raid.  Whatever he the
result of the action taken, it will be necessary to impose a fine sufficient to cover
the loss actually inflicted in the raid, and from this fine the wounded and the heirs
of those killed can be compensated.
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Enclosure 5 in No. 7.
E.rtract from the Khyber Political Diary for the weel ending the 21st January, 1905,

The Samil Afridi jirga was interviewed by the Political Agent, Khyber,
on the 20th Japuary, 1905. ‘They handed over Amal Shal, one of the five Zakka
Khel bad characters, in person, and surrendered Sher Ahmad, Aunai, who had stood
surety for the good hehaviour of Multan and Nur Abbat, a near relation of Mir
Akbar, Zia-ud-din, as prisoners: and said that, owing to the severity of the winter
and the heavy snowfall in Maidan and Tirah, they could not go heyond Bazar to
punish the had characters who had crossed to Ningrahar; lll_lt that, as soon as the
weather was a little warmer, they would take a lashkar against the offenders, and
would either bring them in or punish them thoroughly to the satisfaction of the
Political Agent. After a long discussion, they volunteered to leave the leading
Anai and other Zakka Khel clders as hostages to show that they really meant to
punish the offenders, and also as a proot of their. goo-d faith; so twelve Anai elders
were selected as hostages for Mpltan and Zamin, six Zia-ud-din for Mir Akbar,
and four Khusrogis for Chaman and handed over by the Samil jirga with the
three prisoners. They all were sent to the Political kavilaz. The jirga promised
to take action against the offenders after the Id-ul-zuha (beginning of March), and
did not press for the payment of the allowances.

Enclosure 6 in No. 7.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Secre-
tary to the Goverament of Indic in the Foreign Department, dated 31st January,
1905.

In continuation of my letter dated the 12th January, 1905, I have the honour
to forward, for the information of the Government of India, a copy of a letter from
the Political Agent, Khyber, of 21st January, 1905, reporting the action taken by the
Afridis in regard tc the men concerned in the Darshi Khel raid. By their action
the jirgas have shown their desirc to put a stop to these depredations in British
territory, and it is to be hoped that this end will to some extent be secured. Further,
the action taken will cnable the case of the Darshi Khel raid to be settled up by a
fine in p;gfment of compensation in the usual manner. Major Roos-IKcppel deserves
great credit for the manner in which he has conducted this matter.

2. I ask for sanction to pay to the Afridis the allowances which have been
withheld in accordance with the Government of India telegram dated the
15th October, 1904. T also ask for imstructions as to the line to be taken in
regard to the breach of their agrcement with Government by the Afridis in their
visits to Kabul. The matter might be taken up when the jirgas attend to receive
the allowances which it is not proposed to distribute until the instalment in spring
also falls due.

3. Admittedly, it is practically impossible for us to prevent the Afridis from
paying visits to Kabul. In my letter of {he Sth October I recommended
that Government should mark its disapproval of these visits by paying to
other membhers of the tribe the allowances of such men as had gone to Kabul.
I still recommend that this conrse he adopted, and ask for definite orders. I would
recommend further that the subject e discussed in open Durbar, and the jirgas
he told that Government has a right to expect that the Afridis should in future
adhere strictly to their agrecment. An announcement to this cffect will, to some
extent, strengthen the hands of the well-affected Maliks.

Annexure.
Letter from the Political Ageat. Khyber, to Lthe Secretery to the Chief Commissioner, North- West
Frontier Provence, duated 2150 Janwry, 1900,
(ixtract.)
I have the homnour to report, in cmxti.nuutinu_of. my letter of 5th January, 1905, that
I interviewed to-day the jirgas of the Samil Afridi clans (i.e.. the Malikdin Khel, Kamarai,

Sipah, aud Zakka Khel: all the Maliks were presewd, and the jirga was a thoroughly repre-
seutative one. the total number heing abeut L1000 They informed me that they had taken
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the united Samil lashkar to Bazar and Bara, and had lived al the expense of the Zakka
Khel for some time, and had broughi pressure upon the five men wanted and upon their relations.
Of the five men, (1) Muliav and (2) Zamin (brothers) had fled to the hilL heyond Majdan,
where il was impossible now to follow them owing to the heavy snow and to the difficulty
of feeding the lashkar. The lashkar propose, however, to go after them agnin as soon as
the snow melts. They handed over, as a prisoner, Sher Ahmad, an elder, who had stood
surety for Multan's good behaviour, and agreed {o hand over, us hostages for Mulian's good
behaviour and for his eventua! production, as many Anal elders as I might wish 10 keep.
Amal Shah (No. 3) they had bronght in as a prisoner, and handed him over unconditionully.
As regards Mir Akbar, Zis-ud-din (4), who had Hed ut once on hearing of the jirga, they
handed over his uncle, Nur Abbat, as a prisoner, and eaid that they would give usﬁummm'n
from the Zia-ud-din- c¢lders. Chaman Liusrogr (5) left tor Paklka with some other bad
charocters.  The jirga say ihat he ecannot cscape them, ns he owns land in Bara, and that
they will arrest and bring him in sooner or later, and in the meantime will hand over elders
»f his section ay hostages. The nel resull is therefore: —

(1) Amal Shali-—brought in and handed over as a prisoner. .

(2) Multan j Sher Ahmad brought in and handed over as o prisoner; Anai elders,
(3) Zamin including the leading men in the section, and one Shan Khel, a friend
and connection of Multan, handed over as hortages.

(4) Mir Akhar---his uncle, Nur Abbat, handed over as a prisoner and six Zia-ud-din elders

as hostages.
(5) Chaman- -four Khusrogi clders handed over as hostages. ] . .
All the prisoncrs and hostages have heen sent to the Haweilat. The (iara jirgas, that is,

the Kambar Khel and Kuki Khel, who had gone after Mirza Ali, have nol yet returned,
but with this examples it is probable that they will bring him in, as it is believed that
they had been waiting to eee the result of the Samil lashkar hefore taking aclion. 1
would bring to the notice of the llonourable the Chief Commissioner the very good work
the Samil Maliks Yar Mubammad Khan, Sher Muhammad Khan, Hafiz Snmapdar Khan,
Nur Ahmad Khan, and Jabbar Khan have done during the whole of the negotiations, during
the despatch of the lashkar to Bazar, and in the handing over of the prisoners and hostages.

Enclosure 7 in No. 7.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the weelk ending the 4th February, 1905.

The Garai Afridi jirga, consisting of the Kambar Khel and Kuki Khel
elders, who had heen to Maidan to punish Mirza Ali, returned on the Ist February,
1905, and were interviewed by the Political Agent on the following day.  They
stated that, on hearing of the wrrival of the Kambar Khel lashkar, Mirza Al
collected a party of 8 Kambar Khels, + Aka Khels, and 2 Orakzais, shut himself
up in his garhi, and defied the lashkar, and that firing went on all the day without
any result. The lashkar closely invested the village; but owing to a heavy fall of
snow, the lashkar could not maintain 1ts position, and the next morning they found
that the village was deserted, and that Mirza Ali had fled to the Aka Khel country
with his companions. The lashkar were unable to capture him, but burnt his garhi
completely and destroyed all his property. They considered that they had done
enough to punish him. It was, however, explained to them that it was not sufficient
to burn 'his garhi, and that further cfforts were required. After a long discussion
they agreed to leave the leading elders of Mivza Ali's section (the Zena Khel) as
hostages, and to make a fresh attempt to catch him. Mirza Ali has taken refuge
at Lawata on the Aka Khel-Sturi Khel (Orakzai) border, and the Kambar Khel
_'{ind it rather difficult to bring any effective pressure to hear upon him in foreign
1mits, but several of his relations have heen pointed out by the jirga in villages
near Peshawar and have been arrested. 1t is hoped that through them Mirza Ali
may be forced to come to terms.

Enclosure 8 in No. 7.

Extract from the Khyher Political Diary for the week ending the
11th February, 1905.

The Zakka Khel of Bazar held a jirga on the 10th February, 1905, and
decided to wait on the Political Agent, after the “ Id.” to arrange fo1 the exchange
of hostages. They think that, unless the elders among the hostages are replaced
by their younger near relations, such as brothers and sons, there will be difficulty
in raising a lashkar to punish or making any other “ sarishta ™ (arrangement) to
capture the men whose surrender has been demanded.
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Enclosure 9 in No. 7.

Letter from the Deputy Secretary to the Government o f1I 'ndl:a in the f‘oreign Depart-
m.e{nt to the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, dated 21st
February, 1905.

In reply to your letter dated the 14th January. 1905, I am directed to convey
sanction to your proposals for rewarding the villagers who aided in the pursuit of
the raiders on the village of Darshi Khel.

Enclosure 10 in No. 7.

Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending the
25th February, 1905.

The Garhi Afridi jirga of Kambar Khel and Kuki Khel attended on the
Political Agent on the 24th February, 1905; and after discussing at length the
uestion of the further punishment of Mirza Ali and his companions [see
giary for the week ending 4th February, 1905], decided. to take a lashkar
against Hamidulla, a relation and friend of Mirza Ali, and to press him to exercise
bis influence in getting in Mirza Ali, whose garhi was burnt and who himself has
taken refuge with the Aka Khel and the Sturi Khel Orakzais at Lawata, near
Barkai. The jirga seemed prepared to do their utmost in awarding effective punish-
ment to their bad characters, and will take the lashkar as soon as the weather
improves. At present the roads to Maidan are impassable. The Afridis can now
fairly realise the extent of their loss and trouble on account of the mishehaviour of
their bad characters, and are determined to punish them if they can get hold of them.
The Political Agent visited the Afridi hostages in the Peshawar jail on the
24th February, 1905, and, at their request, arranged to get in some of their relations
from Bazar to raise a sarishta for taking action against Multan and others.
So much pressure has been put on Multan by the relations of the hostages
now in custody that he has sent messages to the hostages, offering to return all
rifles and property taken at Darshi Khel, burn his village, leave his lands, and
move to Afghan territory, if he can obtain their release on these terms.

Enclosure 11 in No. 7.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 1st March, 1905.
(Telegraphic.)
Report received from Peshawar that Matanni Thana was entered by Afridis

last evening, _and nine Martini rifles, with ammunition, two horses, and other
property, carried off. No further information received as yet. *

o

Enclosure 12 in No. 7.

From the Foreign Secretary to the Government of India to the Chief (‘ommissioner,
North-West Frontier Province, dated 7th March, 1905.
(Telegraphic.)
In view of present satisfactory attitude of Afridi jirga, Political Officer,
Khyber, may be given discretion to pay Afridi allowances when he considers it

desirable, on understanding that no payments arc made to those who cither went
to Kabul last year or this, or who sent representatives there.
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Enclosure 13 in No. 7.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 10th March, 1905.

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram of 1st instant. Another raid, supposed to be
by the same gang as was concerned in Matanni Thana case, is reported to have
occurred on 8th at Garhi Shahdad in Peshawar district, near Mullagori border.
One Hindu and two villagers killed, and threc wounded, and property estimated
at Rs. 1,500 taken.

Enclosure 14 in No. 7.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 11¢h March, 1905.

(Telegraphic.) )

My telegram of yesterday. Raid on Garhi Shahdad is found to have
been work of six Kuki Khel Afridis from Kadam, near Jamrud, some¢ Peshawaris,
including one outlaw and two Khusrogis of China in Bazar, members of _Haza.rnao
gang. Leading Kuki Khel raider, Sahib Gul, is now in Kadam, and it is believed
that a wounded outlaw with him. Roos-Keppel proposes surrounding their village
with Khyber Rifles, and to try and effect capture and burn house of Sahib Gul
He would want support of two guns in case of opposition. He is confident of
success, and I support his proposal strongly, as otherwise these raids will increase.
Please telegraph if Government of India agree.

Enclosure 15 in No. 7.

From the Foreign Secretary to the Government of India to the Chief Commissioner,
North West Frontier Province, dated 13th March, 1905.

(Telegraphic.)

Your telegram 10th March. Viceroy considers this succession of successful
raids and dakaitis, in which apparently raiders get off unscathed, very unsatis-
factory, and is disposed to doubt whether military police protection can be adequate.
Please submit full report on the Matanni and Garhi Shahdad raids as early as
possible.

Enclosure 16 in No. 7.
Ezxtract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending the 11¢th March, 1905.

The Zakka Khel of Bazar held a jirga on Friday, the 10th March, 1905, and
decided to take another lashkar against Multan Anai and Mir Akbar Zia-ud-din in
Maidan. A “nagha ” (fine) of Rs. 200 was fixed to be recovered from anyone failing
to attend the lashkar. The whole lashkar is to assemble at Bazar on Friday, the
17th March, 1905. The Paindai Zakka Khel of Bazar sent a message to Usman,
Khusrogi, to say that as he would not give up thieving and raiding in British terri-
tory, which must sooncr or later lead to the occupation of Bazar by the British
Government, they intended to invite the Government to take China which solely
belonged to them (Paindais), and that if they asked the Political Agent to come
up at once, the Khusrogis and other Bazar Zakka Khel should only thank themselves
for it. Several raiding parties having passed near the village of Ilm Gudr, the
Sipah Malik Sher Muhammad Khan again requested the Political Agent to put a
post of Khyber Rifles in that village in order to satisfy himself that the inhabitants
did not in any way harbour the raiders. With the approval of the Honourable the
Chief Commissioner a 1;])ost has been established in Sheikh Garhi, the furthest village
af the group, no Sipah Sepoys being sent. Some threatening messages have been
received from the Aka Khel, and from the Afridis living in Kajurai and Shin Kamr,
but it is unlikely that they will take any overt action. A Shinwari, who was in
Hazarnao on the 9th instant, reports that about 60 armed men were collected in
Shakar’s ‘Garhi, about one-third of them being Khusrogi Zakka Khel. Great
Irritation was expressed at the measures being taken to punish the Darshi Khel
raiders in Tirah, and it was suggested to retaliate by a determined attack on a

32610 E



30

caravan in the Khyber or on the Kifila Serai guard at Landi Kotal. The guards
have been st.r(-ngt.h(;ned. An exceptionally hrutal raid was committed at the village
of Shahdad Garhi on the nizht of the 2th and 9th instant. four of the villagers,
who were quite unarmed. being killed. Tt has l)(‘vn ascertained that the raid was
organised at the villnge of one Sahib Gul. a Kuki Khel of Kadam (about four mileg
from Jamrud), and that the raiders. about 18 in number, included Shakar’s followers
Turai (a Peshawari outlaw), two Khusrogis of China in Bazar, Sahib Gul and some
of his hamsayas and some five Peshawaris. Some Zakka Khel of Bazar who are at
feud with Usman recently committed a raid into Dakka limits in order to get Usman
into trouble with the Sarhang. They carried off a flock of sheep. This has annoyed
the Sarhang so much that he has collected at Dakka a large number of Kuda Khel
Mohmands nominally to defend his shepherds. Tt is, however, believed that these
men should traid the flocks of the Shinwaris of Landi Kotal in order to recover his
losses. ’

Enclosure 17 in No. 7.

From the Foreign Secretary to the Government of India to the Chief Commissioner,
North-West Frontier Province. dated 13th March, 1905.

(Telegraphic.) _ » .
Your telegram 11th March. Viceroy concurs in proposal to surprise Kadam.
You can artange with General Officer Commanding for guns.

Enclosure 18 in No. 7.

From the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Foreign Secretary to the Government of
India, dated the 14th March, 1905.

(Telegraphic.)

Surrounded Sahib Gul’s village at dawn with Khyber Rifles. Cavalry and
%uns in support. Infantry in reserve. Village completely surprised. Arrested
Sahib Gul. Searched village, finding clothing and jewellery, probably obtained in
recent raids. Burnt Sahib Gul’s house completely. No opposition.

Enclosure 19 in No. 7.

From the Foreign Seeretary to the Government of India to Political Agent, Khyber,
dated 15th March, 1903,
(Telegraphic.)
Viceroy desires to congratulate you on successful surprise of Kadam village.

Enclosure 20 in No. 7.
Extract from Khyber Political Diary for the weel: ending the 18th March, 1905.

On the morning of Tuesday, the 14th March, 1905, a small force surprised
a village of Kadam to arrest Sahib Gul, a Zora Khel Kuki Khel, concerned 1n the
Shahdad Garhi dakaiti case [see last Diary]. The village was surrounded at dawn
and searched, and Sahib Gul was arrested. The house of one, Naimulla, a notorious
bad character, was also searched, and some jewellery and clothes found in the houses
of Sahib Gul and Naimulla, and suspected to be stolen property were brought in with
the prisoner. Everything went off quietly, and there was no occasion to use force.
The Zakka Khel of Bazar took a lashkar against Multan and Mir Akbar on the
16th March, 1905, but the news of the advance of the lashkar having been received by
them prior to the arrival of the lashkar in Maidan, Multan managed to escape to
Ningrahar with his family, and the lashkar conld only burn his garhi. Mir Akbar
had, meanwhile, collected about 20 Aka Khel and some Feroz Khel and other
Orakzais in his garhi, and offered opposition to the lashkar which surrounded the
garhi. Firing went on during the night of the 18&th March, and Mir Akbar himself
was shot in the morning. Full details will not be known until the return of the
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lashkar. Akbar Khan, a nephew of ex-Malik Khawas Khan, came to Kahi from
Mama Khel on 13th March, 1905, and having summoned Borai and some other
Zakka Khels from Bazar told them that his uncle had deputed him to ask them either
to do mischief in British territory in order to disgrace the Maliks and others engaged
in punishing the offenders or to try to create dissensions among the lashkar going to
Majdan. The Zakka Khel replied that they were too few to be able to do anything
against the will of the rest of the trihe who had surrendered hostages to the Sariar,
but that they would do their best to carry out the wishes of their old Malik. They,
however, returned to Bazar on the 17th March, 1905, by which time the lashkar had
started for Maidan.

Enclosure 21 in No. 7.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Secre-
tary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated 24th 3arch,
1905.

(Extract.)

In continuation of my telegram of the 11th March, 1905, I have the
honour to submit the report called for in your telegram of the 13th March,
1905, regarding the recent raids at Matanni and Garhi Shahdad.  The
raid on the Matanni Police Station took place between 6 and 7 p.m. on
the 28th of February, 1905. At the time of the raid the police station was
in charge of a sergeant, the Deputy Inspector being in Peshawar on duty. The
sergeant, moharrir, and three village watchmen were at work in one of the towers:
three other constables were in their barracks and one constable was on sentry duty
inside the post over the gate which was closed. Some men came to the gate, and
demanded admission saying they were village watchmen, come to report their
departure on patrol. The sentry opened the wicket gate, and two men entered
who at once fell npon him, and overpowered him. A number of other men then
rushed in and shut up the rest of the occupants of the police station in the rooms
in which they happened to be. The raiders then broke open the malkhana from
which they obtained 9 Martini-Henry carbines, 1 sword, 1 douole-barrelled gun,
6 bayonets, 1 saddle, 241 rounds of ammunition, and Rs. 33 in cash. They then
went off taking with them two horses, the property of the Deputy Inspector, and
a sowar. The alarm was raised, and the Matanni villagers turned out in force. It
had been raining heavily, and tracking was simple. The tracks were followed to
a spot within a few hundred yards ot the ford over the Bara river between the
Sipah villages of Ilm Gudr and Garhi Sheikh Ismail. Here the pursuit was
abandoned, as unprotected Afridi territory had been reached.  Enquiries show
that this raid was planned and organized in Hazarnao in Afghan territory
by Shakar, the well-known dakait and rifle thief. The raid was led by Shakar’s
brother Ilm Din. With Ilm Din were threc Peshawari outlaws wﬁo live at
Hazarnao, and 15 other men, residents of Hazarnao and Afghan subjects.
This party of 19 proceeded from Hazarnao direct to China in JBazar. Here
they were joined by Usman Khusrogi of Bazar; they were also joined by
four more Khusrogis and by Mursil Khusrogi. Later six moere men, three
Orakzais and three Aka Khels, joined the gang. Tt is sizmificant that while halting
at Narhadai the gang sent for Multan, Zamir, Mir Akbar, and Mirza Al to join
them. These men, who have taken refuge at Lawata to escape the Afridi tribal
lashkars, who are endeavouring to punish them for the Darshi I{hel raid, refused
to join, or even to visit, the raiders on the ground that all their relatives were in
jail in Peshawar as hostages for their good bebaviour. The raid on Garhi
Shahdad took place at about 9 p.m. on the &th March. A Hindu, Chaju
Mal, was with his family and two chaukidars in his house, which is on
the outskirts of the village, when suddenly the door was broken in, and a party
of raiders, numbering some 18 or 20 men, entered. Some of the inmates of the
house climbed on to the roof and raised the alarm. The raiders then commenced
firtng promiscuously, shooting Phani Ram, Chaju Mal's son, dead on the roof where
he had taken refuge. The villagers turned out in strength, but thev had with
them only one jezail in the wav of fire-arms. They, however, resisted the raiders
to the utmost as is shown by the fact that theyv lost two men killed and three badly
wounded. The raiders who were stronglv armed got away taking with them all tke
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jewellery, clothes, and cash which the{' found in Chaju Mal's house, the total value
eing about Rs. 1,500. Enquiries show that this raid was not, as was at first
suspected, the work of the same gang as committed the raid on Matanni Thana, but
that it was planned at Kadam in the Garhi of Sahib Gul, Kuki Khel. In the party
were Torai, Peshawari outlaw, living with Shakar at Hazarnao, two Zakka Khels
of China in Bazar, Sahib Gul, Kuki Khel, with some other Kuki Khels and Zakka
Khels and Peshawari outlaws. Subsequently, on 14th March, Kadam was sur-
rounded by the Political Agent, Khyber, and Sahib Gul arrested and his house
burnt, as reported in the Political Agent's telegram of the 14th March, 1905.
Since the end of November last, in order to cope with raiders, six special
patrols, three of the Border ‘Military Police, and three of the Regular Police, have
been organized: and the Border Military Police posts upon the Afridi section of
the border have been strengthened. There have also been ordinary Border Military
Police patrols hoth day and night between villages and between posts. The work
has been onerous and difficult and the men have had little rest and very great
hardships in the matter of food and shelter. That they failed to encounter any gan
is due to the elaborate system of espoinage employed by trans-border raiders, ang
to the fact that the numbers of the Border Military Police render it an impossi-
bility for them to guard and patrol every route traversed by raiding gangs. Owing
to the wide sketch of country and its physical features it is perfectly easy for a
ang to avoid villages, patrols, and posts. To capture or even to encounter a gang
1s an exceedingly difficult matter, and must in view of the above facts be a matter
of chance, rather than a result to be normally expected. Moreover, Border Mili-
tary Police and police protection to be effective requires the support of the inhabi-
tants of the district, and these have been practically disarmed. Rifles and pistols
are now denied to them except under licence, so that villages which formerly could
and did hold their own, can now turn out armed only with jezails, swords, and
sticks to combat a gang armed with weapons of precision and reckless of life. The
number of Government rifles distributed to villagers on security is not great, and
these rifles are merely Enfield muzzle-loading weapons of antique pattern and
doubtful utility. The abject helplessness of our own villagers in respect of arma-
ment is well known across the border, and is a subject of widespread complaint
by the people of the district. When large gangs, such as have recently been formed,
decide to embark upon a series of dakaities within the border, their success may
be held to Le assured unless and until villages are armed with weapons which
enable them to defend themselves. In view of the urgency of the matter I have
directed the temporary issuc on security of the smooth-bore Snider carbines discarded
by the police, and I now ask that I be allowed to retain these weapons to arm the
villagers. To prevent raids like that on the Matanni Thana, the main chance
of success lies i1n gangs of this nature being stopped across the border. The
Afridi Maliks, however, have pointed out their inability, so long as Bazar is
in its present state, to cope with what are really gangs from Afghanistan. In
the case of the raid on Garhi Shahdad, the robbery was planned close under
the walls of Jamrud fort and was carried out from Kuki Khel territory
which lies close to the village attacked. Blame can hardly attach to the
Border Military Police that they received no information regarding this raid.
The raid on Matanni Tbana, howcver, raises a much larger question. This
raid differs materially from ordinary raids in the fact that it was organized in
Afghan territory by Afghan subjects.  During the last threc months there have
been within the Peshawar district ten other dakaities and robberies, some of them
serious and some of lesser importance, which have now after police and political
enquiry been attributed to members of this gang from Hazarnao, and while members
of that gang may not have been actually concerned in all of these, there can be no
doubt that they have taken part in most, with the assistance of the bad characters
in the villages themselves who take advantage of the state of unrest, which the
presence of such a gang naturally creates, to act as their spies and assistants. While
enquiries point to these dakaitics being the work of this gang, it will at the same
time be difficult to gutain absolute proot. It is known that rifles and horses obtained
in these robberies arc now with Shakar at Hazarnao. In onc case in which a
robber suppcsed 1o be a member of this gang was shot by the police, his
companions cut off his head and carried it away with them to prevent
identification, throwing the stripped body into the river. The body was
recovered, but, as anticipated by the raiders, identification was impossible.
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This new development of raids from Afghanistan is far more serious and
more difficult to deal with than tribal raids on however large a scale. The
originators of raids from Afghan territory arc beyond our reach, and no arrange-
ments we can make can be depended upon to prevent these gangs passing through
the sparsely inhabited hills between the Sassobi pass and the British border. That
tribal raiding can be stopped to a large extent has been proved by the absence of
any such raids since that on Darshi Khel in September last and by the fact that
the measures adopted by the Afridis against the leaders in that case led to the
latter’s refusing the invitation to join the Hazarnao gang. The Afridi Maliks
the measures adopted by the Afridis against the leaders in that case, led to the
that the eclat which must necessarily accompany the success of this gang, which
has sprung into fame in so short a time, will sccure the adhesion to the gang of
every malcontent Afridi. It is, of course, hopeless to cxpect that the officials in
Ningrahar will do anything to discourage this gang. The Political Agent, Khyler,
has expressed the opinion that nothing but the closing of the Sassobi pass
can prevent raiding  from Afghanistan, and that in taking this measure
Government would have the support of all the Afridi Maliks and of most
of the elders. I have personally discussed matters with the leading Afridi
Maliks, and their view is that troops should bc sent into the Bazar valley.
They state that after this is done they themseclves, with tribal levies from
the clans generally, are ready to occupy any post which may be built. This measure
would of course lead to expense in the payment for the levies, and the troops would
certainly encounfer opposition not only from the Zakka Khels but from the mal-
contents of all Alridi sections.

Enclosure 22 in No. 7.
Eztract from Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 25th March, 1905.

The Zakka Khel lashkar, who had been ordered to zo to Maidan to punish
Mir Akbar Zia-ud-din, Multan Anai, and Zamir Anai, returned to Peshawar on the
24th instant. They went first to Multan's village, but he, on hearing of their
approach, fled with his family to Afghan territory. The lashkar destroyed his
village and crops, and levelled the walls and towers of the village after burning it.
They then went on to Mir Akbar’s village, and found him there. As he refused
to surrender himself, the lashkar attacked the village and captured it and killed
Mir Akbar. They then went to Bara and captured Zamir, whom they nrought in and
handed over to the Political Agent. On the 25th instant, the Political Agent inter-
viewed the lashkar, who were accompanied by the Samil Maliks and clders, and told
them that, as they had now carried out their promiscs to punish the Darshi Khel
raiders, he would release their hostages and open payment of allowances. He pointed
out that, during their absence, Usman, Khusrogi, had joined an Afghan band of
raiders, and had, with them, committed scrious dakaitis in the Peshawar Disirict,
and told them that it was absolutely necessary that they should, in their cwi
interest, take steps to at once punish Usman, and any other Zakka Khel of Bazar
who might help or harbour Afghan raiders. Reference diary for the week
ending 11th March, 1905. On the 19th instant, the Sarhang of Dakka sent
a message to the Khusrogis of Bazar, through a son of Madak Fakir, asking
them not to raisc a lashkar to punish his fricnds, Chaman and Usman,
but the Khusrogis replied that the question of punishing the Afridi offenders
had been taken up by the whole wllus, and that they had no power to stop
it. The surprise of Kadam on the 14th instant has had an effect out of all pro-
portion to its importance. The Afridis say that it is a very serious matter, as 1t is
the beginning of a system of punishment by counter-raiding. It was at
first suggested by some that the Political Agent had exceeded his powers
in taking the forcc to Kadam, and would incur the displeasure of Govern-
ment, but, at a large meeting held in Maidan to discuss the situation, the leading
elders informed the people that it was a strict rule that * cannons could not be taken
from their houses without the orders of the company,” sa all were forced to believe
that the raid had the sanction of Government. The Afridis. who have recently
returned from punishing the Darshi Khel raiders, have come in for a good deal of
abuse in Peshawar city, where the people say that the Afridis are * Kafirs ™ for
killing a Musulman at the bidding of a * Kafir."
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Enclosure 23 in No. 7.

Letter from the (‘hief C'ommissioner, North-West Frontier Province, ta the Secre-
tary to the Government of India in the Foreiyn Department, dated 28tk March,
1905.

In continuation of my letter, dated 31st January, 1905, I have the honour to
forward a copy of a letter, dated 25th March, 1905, from the Political Agent,
Khyber, reporting the further action taken by the Afridis against the leaders in
the Darshi Khel raid.

2. The action which has been taken is in every way most creditable to the
Afridis and to Major Roos-Keppel, the Political Agent. :

In regard to the last paragraph of the Political Agent's letter, in which he
asks what fine, if any, should now be recovered from the Afridis on account of the
Darshi Khel raid, I am now of opinion that, after the exceptional action taken by the
Afridis, to realise any fine from them for the Darshi Khel raid would be injudicious
and impolitic, and T am instructing the Political Agent to this effect.

The compensation due for the villagers killed and wounded in this raid can be
realised from the Orakzai clans through whose limits the raiders passed.

Annexure.

Letter from the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Secretary to the Chief Commissioner, North- West
Frontier Provinee, dated 25th March, 1905.

I have the honour to report, for the information of the Honourable the Chief Commis-
sioner, that the Zakka Khel lashkar, who started on the 7th instant to punish Multan, Zamir,
and Mir Akbar for their share in the Darshi Khel raid, have now returned.

They went from Peshawar to the Bara and Bazar in two bodies; and hearing there that
the three men wanted had gone to Maidan, the lashkar joined forces in the Upper Bara and
went after them.

They decided that the only effective way to punish Multan and Mir Akbar, the two
leaders of the Darshi Khel raid, was to kill them, and determined to do this. They first
went against Multan's village, but Multan just succeeded in escaping them and getting to
Hazarnao, leaving, however, all his property. '

Ile, with his nephews, Taza Khan and Zamir, owned a very fine garhi with several
towers; the whole was valued at Rs. 4,000, British, which estimate, I am told by the Maliks,
is approximately correct. The lashkar not only burnt the whole village and all the property
in it, but levelled the walls and towers to the ground. They made every man of the lashkar
take a share in this, in order that the responsibility of all towards the tribe might be equal.

They then went off to Mir Akbar's village and found him there. They demanded that
he should give himself up, but he refused to do so. The lashkar then encircled the village
and bivouacked round it for the night. In the morning they made a determined attack and
killed Mir Akbar.

Hearing that Zamir had not gone to Hazarnao, but was in the Bara, the lashkar went
after him, caught him, and have handed him over unconditionally to me to-day.

I have told the jirga that the behaviour of their lashkar has been eminently satisfactory,
and that their hostages will he immediately released and their allowances paid in due
course.

1 have, however. warned them that, as long as they con‘inue to own the Bazar Valley,
it is necessary 1o hold them responsible for the passage of Afghan raiders and for the beha-
viour of Usman and the other Khusrogis' who have joined Shakar's gang, and have impressed
upon them that, in their own inlerest, they must punish the latter although ihis is outside
{he original orders, for the carrying out of which they had given hostages. They are quite
prepared to do this, and will take their lashkar to Bazar and settle with Usman.

The really astounding success of their expedition to Maidan has, although only a few
days’ old, had a crushing effect upon the Bazar bad characters. Usman is hastily removing
his property to the Sassobi villages, in Afghan territory, and his neighhours are grazipg their
eattle in his crops. He had sent me several messengers, asking for forgiveness, and begging
that the lashkar may nol be sent against him, and many Jless notorious nien have sent
messages to the Maliks and {o the lashkar, offering to give securities for good behaviour if
they can be spared. oo L .

The punishment for the Darshi Khel raid has now been inflicted in full, Mir Akbar
has been killed, Multan has been driven out of the country, and his house, together with
those of Mirza Ali, Zamir, aud Taza Khan, have heen {otally destroyed. Amal Shah and
Zamir, well-known Anai bad characters, have heen handed over, and the Gara lashkar, after
burning Mirza Ali's village, are trving to catch or kill him. Tle hag however, taken refnae
with the Aka Khel and Siuri Khel and is protected hy them. If the Deputy Commis-
¢ioner. Peshawar, who has been asked to get him turued out, can effect this, he will either
Le killed or captured. -

T have the honour fo sk what fine. if any, should now he recovered from the Afl‘ldl?‘l on
account of the Darshi Khel raid, pointing out that the fine can now only be recovered from
the men who have punished the raiders.
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Enclosure 24 in No. 7.

Extract from the enclosures of a letter from L. W. Dane, Esq., ('S.1., Foreign
Secretary on Deputation with the Kabul Mission, dated the 23rd March, 1905,

(1)
Translation of a letter from His Highness the Amir of Afghanistan, to L. W. Dane,
Esq., dated 15th Muharram, 1323 H. (22nd March, 1803).

(Extract.)
You also mentioned the movements of frontier people and made a friendly com-
plaint that recently their intercourse (with Kabul) had increased. T wtite to say
that ifi this matter, please God, I will not exceed my father’s principles.

(2)
Translation of a letter from L. W. Dane, Esq., C.S.1., to His Highness the Amir of
Afghanistan, dated the 23rd March, 1905.
(Extract.)
I am glad to receive Your Highness's assurance that, in regard to the too
frequent comings.and goings of British frontier tribesmen, you are prepared scrupu-
loisly to adhere to the engagements of your father.

. Enclosure 25 in No. 7.
Ezxtract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 1st April, 1905,

The Gara jirga, who after burning Mirza Ali’s garhi had heen to brinz
pressure to bear upon his relations in Maidan to get him in from Lawata and
surrender him, returned on the 29th March, 1905. They stated that, as Mirza Ali’s
uncles, Hamidulla and Nasimulla, failed to get their nephew in, although they were
able to recover the rifle fallen to his share in the Darshi Khel raid case, they burnt
their garhis also. They handed over the rifle to the Political Agent, and requested
that the Kohat authorities might be asked to expel Hamidulla and others from the
Aka Khel country, where they had taken shelter with some bad characters.
Hearing that the Zakka Khel lashkar were coming to Dazar to punish
them, Chaman and Usman, Khusrogis, have removed most of their property to
Dakka, and are, it is said, prepared to resist the lashkar.

Enclosure 26 in No. 7.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending Sth A pril, 1905.

Reference diary for the week ending 25th March, 1905. On arrival at Bazar,
the Zakka Khel lashkar, which had been dcspatched to punish Usman, found
that he and Chaman, Khusrogis, had shut themselves up in Usman's garhi
at China, and had been joined by their friends, Ilmdin, brother of Shakar
of Hazarnao, Ghani, Sangn Khel Shinwari of Nazian, Jafar, Rasul, Torai,
Peshawar outlaws, Hazrat Shah, Aka Khel, and about 30 Ningraharis, Orakzais,
and Aka Khels. The Ningrahar contingent were in favour of a desperate resist-
ance, birt Usman did not wish to finally debar himself from any chance of returning
to Bazar and opeméd megotiations with the lashkar, who did not like the idea of
attacking so well-defended a garlii and were very glad to let him go. He went
with his family and portable property to Dakka, and the lashkar then burnt his
share of the village, two houses, and some stack of bhoosa. The lashkar then went
to Bara to the village of Sher Baz, uncle of Chaman, another Khusrogi badcharacter.
and not finding Chaman there, burnt his uncle’s village. The Kambar Khels
were paid their allowances for the past year on 5th April, 1905. There
were no serious cases against them except that of Mirza Ali’'s complicity
i the Darshi Khel raid case, for which he has been thoroughly punished.
All petty cases were settled on the spot. The shares of those who had been to
Kabul during the year were cut from the tribal nowajib, and are being paid to
deserving elders who did not go to Kabul and who rendered service to Government.
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Enclosure 27 in No. 7.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 15th April, 1905,

Allowances for the past 12 months were paid to the following Afridi clang
on the dates given below : —

Kamarais ? :
Malikdin Khel § ... 11th April
Kuki Khel ... 12th April.
Pakhai .
Shan Khel } . ... 13th April
Anai 15th April.

There were no cases against the Kamarais and Shan Khel, and very few of
them had been to Kabul. The Malikdin Khel, Kuki Khel, and Pakhais had gone
in large numbers to Kabul and the shares of all who had been were cut. The Anais,
though guilty of several serious offences in British territory, had done exceedingl
well 1n punishing their offenders, and very few of them had been to Kabul during
the year. They paid Rs. 1,000 on account of the fine imposed on Multan and Zamir
in the Jangal Khel raid case of last year. All petty cases were settled on the spot.
Mulla Said Akbar has convened all the Mullas of the Afridi and Orakzai
tribes to a meeting at the beginning of next month (Muhammadan calendar). He
has merely informed them that it is urgently necessary to make a very important
“sarishta.” His action has caused widespread speculation as to his intentions.
A probable explanation is that the Mulla is much frightened at the action
of the Afridi lashkars in punishing the Darshi Khel raiders, and, fearing that a
lashkar may be sent against him, wishes to excite the tribes against their leaders
of the lashkars.

Enclosure 28 to No. 7.

Letter from the Deputy Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign
Department to the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, dated
20th April, 1905,

(Extract.)

I am directed to refer to your letter, dated the 24th March, 1905, regarding the
recent raids at Matanni and Garhi Shahdad. You have therein pointed out that
these raids were either deliberately planned and carried out by men living in
Afghan territory, or were participated in by such men; that such raids are
more difficult to cope with than ordinary tribal raids; and that the tribes-
men within our sphere of influence are powerless to prevent them. You
have not yourself proposed a remedy, but report that the Political Agent,
Khyber, is of opinion that nothing but the closing of the Sassobi Pass will
prevent raiding from Afghanistan, and that the Afridi Maliks and most
of the elders would lend their support to this measure. Their view, which you have
personally ascertained, is that troops should be sent into the Bazar Valley, and that
thereafter any post, which might be built, could be held by tribal levies. At the
same time you have pointed out that the troops would encounter opposition, not
only from the Zakka Khel, but from the malcontents of all Afridi sections, and that
the plan would lead to expense in the payment of levies. With this warning before
them the Government of India are not inclined to consider the despatch of troops
into the Bazar Valley, except in the last resort. His Excellency the Viceroy
has already congratulated Major Roos-Keppel on the successful surprise of the
Kuki Khel village of Kadam and the capture of the leader of the Garhi Shahdad
raid. The question of arming the border villages with the smooth-bore Sniders
discarded by the Border Police is under separate consideration.

Enclosure 29 in No. 7.

Letter from the Deputy Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign
Department to the Chief (‘ommissioner, North-West Frontier Province, dated
20t% April, 1905.

I am directed to refer to the correspondence ending with your letter
dated the 28th March, 1905, reporting the further action taken by the Afridis
against the leaders in the Darshi Khel raid.
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2. The Government of India agree with you that the action taken is most
creditable to the Afridis, and not less to Major Roos-Keppel, who has handled a
very difficult situation with great ability, and has achieved a remarkable success.
In recognition of the attitude of the Afridis as a whole, your instructions to Major
Roos-Keppel not to realise any fine from them for the raid in question are approved,
and the Darshi Khel villagers may, as you propose, be compensated from the fines
to be realised from the Orakzais, through whose limits the raider passed.

Enclosure 30 in No. 7.
Ewxtract from the Khyber Political Diary for the weel: ending the 22nd April, 1905.

Allowances for the past 12 months were paid to the Paindais, Sipahs, and
Khusrogis on the 17th, 20th, and 21st April, 1905, and all pending cases settled.
On the 17th instant Multan, Anai, returned to Bazar, and asked Dadai,
Miras Khan, &c., elders, about the fate of his nephew, Zamir. Dadai informed
him that Zamir was in jail in Peshawar, and told him that he could not remain
in Bazar, upon which Multan went to the village of Sinjab Khan of Barkai, where
he was joined by Mirza Ali, another of the Hazarnao gang. They stayed there
for four days and returned to Ningrahar. Mulla Said Akbar and other
Mullas in Tirah were approached by a deputation from the Zakka Khel bad
characters recently expelled to Ningrahar, asking them to take up their cause, and
to induce the Afridis to allow them to return to their homes. The Mullas said that
they would do all in their power to help them as soon as the Afridi Kaddas returned
to Tirah from the plains. It is reported that the Afridis will hold a big jirga as
soon as they arrive in Tirah to discuss the question of whether to go to Kabul this
year or not. Torai, the Peshawari outlaw, came on the 22nd April, 1905, to the Sipah
Village of Dora, and asked Sarmast, Sipah, to allow him to cook food in the village
for about 25 men, who, he said, were waiting at the Gandao Pass; but Sarmast
replied that the Sipah allowances had been cut by the Khyher authorities for
harbouring bad characters, and that he could not help him. Torai then went to the
Miri Khel Aka Khel caves.

Enclosure 31 in No. 7.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 26th April, 1905.

(Telegraphic.)

A dakaiti occurred last night at about 3 a.m., at the tonga chauki, near Matanni
Police Station. Twenty raiders are reported to have taken off five tonga ponies.
No lives were lost. It is not yet known who raiders were, but they are supposed
to be the Hazarnao gang.

Enclosure 32 in No. 7.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 28th April, 1905.

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram of 26th instant. Village chigha followed up
raiders to Barkai limits, and recovered the stolen horses. The identification of the
raiders is not yet established. Political Agent, Khyber, now reports another raid
on the 24th near Jamrud, supposed to be by the same gang.

Enclosure 33 in No. 7.

Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the weelk ending the 29th April, 1905.

On receipt of information that Torai, outlaw, a leading member of the
Hazarnao gang, was in the Kajuri plains, in Sipah limits, the Political Agent,
accompanied by Assistant Political Officer and some Khyber Rifle sepoys and

dolu F
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Sipahs, left in search of him on the evening of the 28th April_; but failing to find
him, returned the next morning, leaving some Sipah of Tandai to arrest him if he
returnced later. They lay in wait for him above the Gandao Pass, and tried to arrest
him, -and, as he resisted, shot him through the body. They were bringing
him in to the Khyber Rifle post at Sheikh Garhi when they were attacked
by a pursuit party of Sturi Khel from Barkai and Bini Garhi. They
succeeded in making their escape, bringing with them Torai’s rifle, but were
obliged to leave him. The rifle has. been handed over to the Political Agent,
and has been identified as one of those taken from Matanni police post.
Torai was taken to Bini Garhi, a hamlet of Barkai, by Jumma Khan and other
Sturi Khel. The Sipah jirga went to Bini Garhi, and threatened to punish the
Sturi Khel for having violated their limits by the taking away of the wounded man
and demanded his surrender, but unfortunately Mulla Mir Ahmed, Akhundzada,
Sultan Khel Aka Khel, of Bara, happened to be at Barkai at the time with a large
following of Mullas. The Mullas came to Bini Garhi, and took away Torai to

Barkai, thence to Vaisaki, Barwan, &c. It is reported that the outlaw cannot
recover,

No. 8.

From Secretary of State to Viceroy, dated 16th January, 1907.
(Telegraphic.)
Zakka Khels. Letter from Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province,
dated 3rd December, 1906, and other papers sent home by mail of 13th and 20th

ultimo.* Tt is presumed that previous reference will be made to me before any
action is taken other than baramta and stopping allowances.

No. 9.
From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 21st January, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Zakka Khels. Your telegram dated the 16th instant. We are sending you
all papers as they are received. Reference will he made to you before any definite
action is taken against tribe. After March next, question of further action will
be considercd in light of their behaviour between then and now; up to that time
we have dcecided, as far as possible, to ignore tribe. Another raid is reported near
Peshawar, probably by the same men as those who conducted the Pabhi raid, in
which latter complicity of Zakka Khel has heen proved. When British Agent
made representations to Amir on the subject, latter replied that Zakka Khels were

subjects, if of anyhody, of the British Government, and that he had nothing to do
with them. >

No. 10.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 29th January, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

My telegram dated the 21st instant. On the 14th instant another raid was
committed by gang helieved to consist principally of Zakka Khel on serai at Matanni.
Raiders escaped uninjured, carrying off 43 camels as booty. One Border Police
horse wounded.

* These papers are printed as enclosures 1-7 in No. 11,
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No. 11.

Letter from the Government of India, Foreign Department, to the Right Honourable
John Morley, O.M., His Majesty's Secretary of State for India, dated Tth
March, 1907. Received 23rd March, 1907.

(Extract.)

In continuation of our despatch, dated the 25th May, 1905, we have the honour
to forward, for the information of His Majesty’s Government, a copy of papers
regarding the hostile attitude of the Zakka Khel section of the Khyber Afridis.
It will be remembered that in September, 1904, Sir H. Deane brought strongly to
notice the attitude of the Zakka Khel, and warned us of the possibilitics of
our finding ourselves committed to hostilities with the Afridi tribe. The conclusion
of the Convention at Kabul was followed by a cessation for a time of the serious
raids upon British territory, and so no further action was taken, in the hope that
the tribesmen would in the future hehave with more regard for their engagements.
In this hope we have been disappointed, so far as the Zakka Khels are concerned.
Visits of the tribesmen to Iabul, though perhaps not in such large numbers as.
before, have continued, and while the conguct of the Afridis as a whole has, generally
speaking, been good, the Zakka Khel have hecome more and more troublesome and
dl;ﬁant. The present position of affairs is summed up in the Chicf Commissioner's
letters of the 3rd December, 1906, and the 13th February, 1907. These formulate a
very grave series of charges against the Zakka Khel. The offences outstanding
against them have been tabulated by the Political Agent, in the enclosurcs of his
letters to the Chief Commissioner, dated 26th November, 1906, and 7th February,
1907, and their hostile attitude towards Government is shown with great clearness
in the correspondence. During the period that has elapsed since the first of Sir H.
Deane’s letters cited was written, four more serious raids have been committed in
the Peshawar District. ‘On the 5th December, the village of Badbher, eight miles
from Pcshawar, was attacked by a gang of 40 men, most belonging to the Zakka
Khel. The raiders, besides lifting 2 ponies, 14 camels, and other live-stock, carried
off 7 men, including 2 police constablecs. The two constables were ransomed by a
Kamarai Afridi Malik, acting on his own initiative, but two Hindus are still
retained as prisoners in Afghan territory. The seizure and detention in
Afghanistan of these Border Military Police constables has caused a considerable
stir along the frontier, which renders it very difficult, if not dangerous, to over-
look the incident. On the 15th December, a gang attacked and looted the Pabbi
Police Post, about 14 miles to the east of Peshawar, securing 5 rifles, and fired on
a British officer and detachment of troops who were in the vicinity. There is no
doubt that this gang also consisted mainly of Zakka Khels. On the 11th January,
four bullock-drivers were seized on the road between Peshawar and Matanni, by
thirty armed raiders, of whom half were Zakka Khels, and taken to independent
territory, whence the men were allowed to return, their eight bullocks being held
up to ransom. On 14th January, the same gang attacked the Serai at Matanni
in the vicinity of a Police Station, and carried off 31 camels and other
property after firing on a Border Military Police patrol.  Other raids were
contemplated during the dark nights at the beginning of February, but the
raiders captured a large herd of camels owned by men of the Peshawar District,
Just across the administrative border, and so did not actually enter the district.
It must be also remembered that, in addition to these specific offences com-
mitted mainly by the Zakka Khel at the end of a long course of misconduct which
we have vainf; tried to ignore or hush up by pro formd settlements, we have to deal
with the fact that, while the clan solemnly agreed in the spring of 1905 not to
allow certain outlaws to return to Zakka Khel limits and to prevent the passage
of raiders from Afghanistan, they have violated their promises in the most flagrant
manner. One headman did try to carry out his promises as regards preventing
the passage of raiders. The result was that the whole of the clan went against him
and burnt his village and killed the headman and his brother and turned out his
relations. This shows that the clan can act effectively when they choose, and they
ought to be made to act for, instead of against, Government. We cannot hope to
secure the support of well-disposed men of the tribe, if we ignore so open an act
of hostility towards the British Government and their well-wishers as this.
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Fortunately, a day or two after the Badbher raid, the local authorities were able
to make rg.prisalsyand made prisoners of 21 Zakka Khel—of these, 11 belong to
the Zia-ud-din subsection, with whom the Badbher ;'alde;rs ll))Ut up, bot_h coming
and going—and this promptly had the effect of bringing in t e Zm-ud-dlp section
to beg for the release of the prisomers. This success, satisfactory so far as it
goes, cannot be expected to have any lasting effect upon the real problem,
Tn order to minimise the risk of the Zakka IChel causing trouble while
the Amir was on his way to India, either in the Khyber, or in Afghan territory,
we brought the fact of the Pabbi and Badbher raids, and th_e.gencral misconduct
of the Zakka Khel, to the notice of the Amir, through the British Agent at Kabul.
The Amir replied to the British Agent that the Afridis were under the Government
of India, that he had no concern with them, and was not responsible for their acts.
In conversation with our Foreign Secretary the Amir again disclaimed any connec-
tion with the Zakka Khel. Notwithstanding this, however, a great many of the
Zakka Khel went to Basawal and Dakka in the hope of being recognised by the
Amir on his journey to India; they argue that they are independent and can choose
whether they shall be our or the Amir’s subjects. In our telegram of the
13th December, 1906, we warned the Chief Commissioner against taking any action
which was likely to lead to an open rupture, till after the Amir had gone back to
Afghanistan. If the Zakka Khel continued thereafter to raid in British territory,
ang to maintain their defiant attitude, we were of opinion that it would be
impossible any longer to avoid taking active measures to bring them to submission.
Sir H. Deane represented that it would be useless to call in the Zakka
Khel when the other sections of the Afridis came in for their allowances, and to
patch up another settlement. Forbearance was regarded as weakness, promises
given were broken as soon as made, and the section had, moreover, taken up an
attitude of deliberate defiance. He proposed, therefore, not to call in the Zakka
Kbhel, and, if possible, to ignore them till March. To ignore the Zakka Khel would
have no worse effect than to call them in and stop the whole of their allowances
for the payment of fines and the settlement of cases; and we therefore
authorised Sir Harold Deane to adopt this course. It was not anticipated
that this would bring the Zakka Khel to their senses, and though they
might realise that the patience of Government was exhausted, and under
pressure from other sections might possibly mend their ways, the probability
was that they would continue to commit offences as hefore, in which case,
Sir Harold Deane pointed out, the only course would be that recommended by
the loyal Afridi maliks themselves, viz., the occupation of the Bazar valley. In
putting forward this proposal, the Chief Commissioner explained that occupation
entailed, first, the subjugation of the people by troops, and thereafter the cstablish-
ment of posts in the country. The attitude of the Zakka Khel has not improved.
The tribe regard themselves as committed to an attitude hostile to Government
and have picketted all the roads and passes leading from the Khyber to the Bazar
Valley, and it is reported that they are only waiting an opportunity to commit
further serious raids. But, even should there be for the moment a cessation of
raids, the clan alrealy owe, in the shape of fines and compensation for raids an
amount which would not be covered even by the stoppage of their allowances
for the next three years, a measure which would be undesirable as tending
inevitably to lead to further disturbances. It would be manifestly unjust to make
the other clans of Afridis, who have behaved well, responsible in any way for the
misconduct of the Zakka Khel, and any such course would have the effect of driving
the whole of them to make common cause with the Zakka IKhel and consolidate
the already weakening bonds of Afridi union. The immunity of the Zakka Khel
from punishment is, it is reported, having the worst effect on the border tribes;
and it is confidently expected that, if we do not speedily adopt severe mcasures, we
shall be called upon, sooner or later, to undertake punitive operations on an extensive
scale. The Amir, apparently, has genuinely changed his policy towards the Afridis
and forhids his officers to intrigue with them. If this attitude is strictly main-
tained it will give us a much freer hand and relieve us of some anxicty in dealing
with tribal territory on the Afghan frontier; and we are confident that, so far as
our relations with the Amir and the tribes are concerned, better and more lasting
results are to be expected by our taking a bold course and by holding the western
exits from the Bazar Valley than by any minor temporary punishment of the tribe
that might be inflicted. We should, as was done in the case of the Mohmands in
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1897, give the Amir full information of our intentions and of the causes that have
compcﬁed us to take action, and would request him to prevent his had characters
from joining in, so that our operations may he confined to the territory of the
Zakka Khel. The present would appcar a very suitable time for carrying the project
into execution, as the Amir has twice repudiated any connection with the Zakka
Khel and has indicated clearly that the duty of keeping them in order lics with
us. In ordinary circumstances we should have no difficulty in recommending
to you a punitive expedition against this clan, or a blockade of their country. But
the geographical position in which they are placed gives rise to several important
considerations. Should we enter the Bazar Valley with a punitive expedition, only
to retire from it as has previously been done in numerous instances, both there as well
as in other parts of the frontier, we should merely raise a possible hornet’s nest and
a fresh outburst of hatred against us. The openings from the Bazar Valley over
the passes into Afghanistan, and southwards into Tirah, would cnable all the
fighting-men and bad characters of the tribe to escape with case, leaving only
women, children, and the better disposed inhabitants to suffer the punishment
that would be inflicted on their country; and, when we had withdrawn, the present
raids and disorders would recur in an aggravated form. Whereas, if we were
to remain and administer the Bazar Valley, we could, by making roads, develop
it, protect the law-abiding portion of the population, and prevent Further intrigues
with Afghanistan. We cannot, however, place these considerations before you with-
out letting you know that there is a possibility of the other Afridi clans taking part
with the Zakka Khel, in which case the expedition would become one of greater
dimensions. But we do not consider that such action on the part of the other Afridis
is probable, as their sympathies are evidently not with the Zakka Khel in their
misbhehaviour and hostility to Government; and, if an expedition struck sharply
and without long warning, the remainder of the tribes would probably agree entirely
that the punishment meted out to the section was justly deserved. In any case,
our position in the Bazar Valley would be an excellent one bhoth from the political
and military point of view, protecting the Khyber line and with easy communica-
tion with the scttled districts we now occupy. If we remained in the Zakka Khel
country the position we shonld hold would be strictly limited to the Bazar Valley
alone, bounded on the North-West by the range crossed by the Sassobai and Thabai
passes and on the South-West by the range dividing it from the Bara Valley. These
natural boundaries would give clear lines of demarcation between our posts and
Afghanistan on the one side and the remainder of the Afridi country on the other.
If, after due examination of the facts and considerations placed before
you, you agree with us that an expedition against the Zakka Khel is now advisable
in order to maintain our prestige and authority amongst the tribes on the North-
West frontier, we shall be glad to receive early instructions, as such an expedition
should be undertaken in the spring and the necessary preparations will have to be
made. If, on the other hand, you do not consider that any interference with
tribal country is at present justifiable, we fear that, owing to the wild and moun-
tainous country on our horder line marching with Afridi country, it will be
impossible by any extension of local guards or patrols adequately to protect our
territory from nightly raids by the Zakka Khel. It seems to us that the only
course we can follow in these circumstances will be to wait until the Zakka Khel
have by their hostile acts rendered military operations of the nature we have
discussed indispensable. =~ We cannot shut our eyes to the fact that we are thus
running a considerable risk of other tribes on the frontier joining the Zakka Khels,
which would no doubt entail military operations on an extensive scale in order to
maintain the position we now hold.
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Enclosure 1 in No. 11.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Secre-
tary to the Government of India, Foreign Department, dated 3rd December,
1906.

(Extract.)

I have the honour to forward copies of the marginally noted correspondence

itical Ae bepg  Pegarding the future treatment of the Zakka Khel

.et(tg- I:?qltuuﬁlllx\:ﬁeu’t\‘f\llﬁﬁ;: section of the Afridis, and to submit the following
1906. remarks for the consideration and orders of the Govern-
(2) Secretary to Chief Com-  ment of Tndia. Ever since the scttlement of 1897 the
ﬁ;?;z?ﬁ;.s ll%fl dated 24th  o0600d of this section_ hi}S begzn consi.stently unsatisfac-
(3) Political Agent Khyber's tory. The Khyber Diaries give continuous evidence of
letter dated 26th November, the misdemeanours of the Zakka IKhel, and for the last
1906, and enclosures. three years their misconduct has on more than one occa-
sion been tantamount to open hostility to Government.  In my letter, dated 28th
September, 1904, I was constrained to call attention to the attitude of open defiance
assumed by the Zakka Khel in conection with the Darshi Khel raid case. But for
special reasons it was impossible at that juncture to recommend strong measures
against them. The following year showed no improvement. Indeed the accumula-
tion of offences committed by the Zakka Khel between April, 1905, and January,
1906, was of so grave a nature that the Political Agent pressed for drastic action
against them. A list of these offences is enclosed. After a very full consideration
of the whole circumstances of the case I came to the conclusion that the time was not
suitable to press Government to adopt measures which might lead to
punitive operations on an extended scale. I accordingly asked Major Roos-Keppel
to do his utmost to effect a settlement on the usual lines, and to induce the Zakka
Khel by political methods to mend their ways. The result was the settlement last
spring, which, while reflecting great credit on the diplomacy of the Political Agent
and his Assistant, was obviously little hetter than a makeshift for the maintenance
of peace. There was one clement in it, however, which gave some hope that there
was genuine wish on the part of the Zakka Khel not to break with Government,
namely, that they definitely disclaimed all connection with the Hazarnao gang, and
repudiated any idea of sympathy or co-operation with these marauders. The sequel,
however, has been not only a continuance of raiding on the part of the Zakka Khel
themselves, but an open declaration of their intention to support the Hazarnao gang
against Government. The list of oflences cnclosed with Major Roos-Keppel's
letter dated 26th November, 1906, shows that this section have no intention
whatever of abiding by their promises made last spring, while the action of the
section in combining to kill publicly the persons believed to have helped Government
against a gang from Hazarnao, in which no Zakka Khel was included, is sufficient
evidence of the intention of the tribe to support raiders from Afghanistan by all
means in their power against Government. The actual execution of Zakka Khel
by Zakka Khel is a matter with which Government, ipso facto, is not concerned;
but where such execution is tantamount to an open declaration to Government of
the adoption of a line of action directly opposed to Government, emphasised by the
re-admission into the country of Multan and other bad characters, the matter
cannot, I think, be ignored. The fact must be faced that the Zakka Khel have
dared openly to take up an attitude of defiance to Government, and, as shown by
Major Roos-Keppel, they and all other Afridi clans are waiting to see the result.
It is impossible to ignore this factor in the case. Our information is very definite
regarding the visits of Zakka Khel elders to Kabhul. In view of the present
position as described above Major Roos-Keppel has again pressed for definite
action. I have personally discussed the whole question with Major Roos-
Keppel and with Sahibzada Abdul Qaiyum Khan, his Assistant, and
have given the question very full consideration before deciding to address
Government. But I think the time has come when Government must decide whether
things are to go on as before or whether definité action is to be taken against the
Zakka Khel. T am the more ready to bring the matter forward, as I am of opinion
that whether Government decide, as proposed, to decline to call in the Zakka Kheland
forfeit the allowances, or whether they prefer another settlement on the old lines,
raiding and misconduct will continue; and indeed that inaction on the part of
Government is more likely to encourage such offences than the forfeiture of the
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allowances. An exercise of patience is not likely to be more successful in future
than it has been in the past. Indeed, the Maliks of the tribe themselves have long
realised this; and I need only refer to the opinion given me by responsible Afridi
Maliks, and reported in my letter, dated 28th Scptember, 1904, to the cffect that
the only remedy was to be found in the occupation of the Bazar Valley. This
alone will effectually protect British subjects in the adjoining scttled districts
against the constant depredations from which they have so long suffered.
I think, therefore, that the least that should be done is to direct the Political Agent
not to call in the Zakka Khel for their allowances, and to explain to the other
sections when they attend for their allowances the reason. As already stated, I dc
not anticiﬁatc that this will eflectually bring the Zakka Khel to their senses. It is
possible that they may realise that the patience of Government is exhausted, and
under pressure from other sections may mend their ways. It is more probable that
they will continue to commit offences as before. In this case the only course will he
that recommended by the Afridi Maliks themselves, viz., the occupation of the Bazax
Valley, which will not only firally close this back-door for raiding, but will sccure,
what is infinitely more important, this flank of the Khyber. Such action would
have the full punitive and deterrent effect which the Tirah Expedition of 1897-98 so
signally failed to produce on this section. By occupation of the Bazar Valley, I
must explain, is meant first, the subjugation of the people by troops, and then the
building of posts at important points in the country to be hel! by the Khyber Rifles.
It would be unnecessary to take further steps than this heyond disallowing the
erection of fortified towers anywhere in the valley. I believe that such occupation
would be speedily followed by the Zakka Khel settling down to the peaceful cultiva-
tion of their lands. In his reply to my letter, dated 24th November, 1906, Major
Roos-Keppel suggests that, in t%e event of Government being driven to use force
against the Zakka Khel, there is the possibility of an outhreak of what we call fana-
ticism, but which the tribesmen call patriotism. In cases of this nature, where not
only our own subjects, but trans-border men as well, admit that Government is
driven to use force, owing to the misbehaviour of a tribe, there is little fear of an
outbreak of fanaticism, while with the Afridis generally the feeling of patriotism,
which, I venture to say, is an entirely different thing from fanaticism, is far more
calculated to keep other scctions from taking part with the Zakka Khel. They
have nothing to gain by so doing. And if the other sections are given clearly to
understand that the action of Government is directed azainst the Zakka Khel alone,
they will think twice before committing themselves to action which might lead to
another invasion of Tirah. The fighting strength of the Bazar Zakka Khel is only
600 men, and while doubtless in§ividual members of other sections might join
them, I do not think it prohable that they would do soin large numbers.
I have thought it right to lay the whole facts as clearly as I can hefore Govern-
ment, and to state, as far as possihle, what seems the probable results of the
course proposed; and I would ask for early orders as to the action, if any, approved
by Government. In tlie meantime I propose to direct the Political Agent,
in view of the fact that the allowances are paid early in January, not to call in the
Zakka Khel pending the decision of the Government of India on the case. I would
ask that the approval of Government to this course, if given, may be intimated to me
by telegram.

Annexure 1.

Letter from the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Seeretayy to the Chief Conmissioner, North-West
Frontier Province, dated 18th Novenber, 1906

(Extract.)

I have the honour, as the Afridi jirgas will shortly he coming to Peshawar to receive
payment of their annual allowances, to ask for an expression of the Honourable the Chief
Commissioner’s wishes regarding the manner in which the Zakka Khel section is to be trealed.
Throughout the seven yvears during which I have held charge of the Khybher Agency the
most troublesome and difficult question to be annually decided has been the treatment of
this intractable clan. Everything that it is humanly possible to do by kindness. liberality
and patience to show the Zakka Khel the error of their ways has been dome, Lut to their
minds liberality spells blackmail and patience fear or weakness. Bitterly hostile as they
are to everything and every person connected with British rule, they would prefer to remain
"in savage isolation and to have mo relations with us, but owing to the barrenness of their
country and to their poverty and cupidity they are forced to pay bi-annual visits to Peshawar
to receive their allowances and to purchase {he mnecessaries of life. Tach year there is a
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long tale of accusations against Zakka Khel for offences committed in British territory
and each year those offences which are considered proved are settled, or, to speak more
truly compromised, and the clan gets a fresh start, with a clean sheet, on its carcer of mischjef
The jirga of the tribe professes at each interview the greatest goodwill towards Goverp.
ment and a keen desire to livo on good terms with us. As case after case comes up for
discussion the elders point out that the offence has heen committed by individuals, apg
that just as the police cannot prevent the commission of such offences in Dritish territory
s0 it is unreasonable to expect that a community without head and without organization
can restrain its individual wmembers. There is something in this argument, but there would be
more but for the fact that every man, woman and child in the clan looks upon those who commit
raids, murders aund robberies in Peshawar or Kohat as heroes and champions. They are the
crusaders of the nation; they depart with the good wishes and prayers of all, and are received
en their return after a successful raid with universal rejoicings and congratulations. Should g
raider be killed during a raid, as has happened several times during the past year, he is pro-
nounced to be a martyr, and is u1ourne§eas such. On the other hand his vietima die ag
“ Kafirs,” and are condemned to eternal damnation for no crime but that of being British
subjects. This feeling not only extends to members of the clan but to outsiders, Afghans and
outlaws; in fact to any one who will openly defy and challenge the British authorities.
Year after year the evil has grown, and each year the necessity of punishing the Zakka
Khel has become more pressing. Circumstances, larger questions of policy, and the natural
dislike of Goverument to strong measures, have saved the clan from the punishment which
it so richly deserves. As long as these froutier tribes -hungry, heavily armed and hostile to us
—econtinue to exist on our immediate border we must, of course, expect offences to be committed
in British territory, and had nothing more serious occurred during the past year I would not
have troubled the Honourable the Chief Commissioner with this representation, but would have,
as usual, patched up some sort of a settlement to carry us on to next year, waiting for the
day when the Government of India will decide to end a situation which cannot be a source
of pride or satisfaction. I will therefore nol refer to the usual list of raids, murders and
robberies. It is not greater than usual, and is capable of settlement according to the
precedents of the last seven years. This year the Zakka Klel have as a whole broken all their
Ernmises to us, have committed themselves to a deliberate demonsiration against Government,
ave openly taken sides with our avowed enemies, and have formally inflicted a tribal punish-
ment upon men who have ventured to serve us. All this has been done to avenge the deaths
of three Peshawar outlaws, members of the ‘“ Hazarnao gang,” and to crush out from amongst
the Zakka Khe] any remnant not actively hostile to us.  Whenever the question has been
raised of the “ Hazarnao gang” and of the responsibility of the Afridis through whose country
its members have passed when on raiding expeditions, the Zakka Khel elders have always
protested that they were the greatest sufferers by the gang, being always unjustly punished
for the offences of men, their enemies, who livec? in Afghanistan and were able to cross the
uninhabited hills between that country and Peshawar without observation. Under great
pressure, and with the fear before their eyes of the loss of their allowances, they, in 1905,
cleared themselves of complicity with these foreign raiders by burning the houses of some
Afridis who were members of the gang, by driving themm out of the country. and by giving
a written agreement that these men would never be allowed to return. They have
all returned, have rebuilt their houses without let, hindrance, or ohjection of any kind, are
now stronger than ever, and take a leading part in the politics of the clan. The Zakka Khel
elders also promised to do all in their power to prevent {he passage through their country
of raiders from Afghanistan, to resist them by force if necessary, and to co-operate in their
capture. In July this year a Zakka Khel elder named Lal Baz gave information regarding the
movements of a detachment of the Hazarnao gang, and he and his brothers, Inzarai and
Sher Baz, and nephew, Kachkol, were induced to co-operate in the capture of the detachment.
A most successful sortie by Captain Bickford resulted in the killing of two Peshawar outlaws,
the arrest of one Peshawari outlaw, and of one Afghan subject, all members of the * IJazarnao
gang.” Although none of these men were Afridis, and though they had no connection with
the Zakka Khel, their capture caused throughout the clan the greatest sympathy with them,
and the greatest indiguation against those who had been insrumental in their downfall
Within a few days of the return to Bazar of the men who had helped us it was resolv
to take a jirga and lashkar of the whole clan to mete exemplary punishment to those traitors
to the national cause who had dared to keep their promises and to aid the British authorities.
The complete lashkar of the clan (excluding only the two Maliks and the Pakhai section
who live in the Khyber and have little concern with affairs in Bazar) proceeded to the village
of Lal Baz, the Elder who had helped us. Lal Baz was first ordered to pay a fine or nagha,
which he at once agreed to do, but this did not satisfy the avengers of the Peshawari outlaws.
Both he and his brother Inzarai were shot dead, their village sacked, and (heir relatione
and dependents driven out of the tribe to take refuge with Malik Yar Muhammad Khan,
the Malikdin Khel Chief of Chura. The Zakka Khel are now watching to see what action
we will take in the matier. 'They have deliberately broken their engagements, have Qeﬁed
Government, and have executed and banished members of their clan for the offence of assisting
the British authorities. If we pass over this matter it will be obvious to all that we do so
out of fear of the consequences, and the other Afridi clans, who are closely watching
this test case, will be encouraged to defy us. We can, of course, never hope to induce
any individual Zakka Khel elder to help us again now that all have seen the consequences
of such aclion, but we still have an important party and many loyal Maliks and Elders
amongst the other Afridis. If we do nothing in support of the men who have died and been
ruined in our cause, we shall destroy our only machinery for controlling the Afridi clans and
shall make a great step towards open war with them, as all restraint will he removed by the
loss of the influence now exerted by the loyal parly. The only way to effectually and finally
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punish the Zakka Khel is to occupy and hold Bazar with posts at China, Mangal Bagh
and Sassobi. This was recommended by all the Afridi MalIi,ks in 1904, and it remains,
and will remain, the only completely satisfactory solution of the problem., If,
however, Government are mot yet prepared {o {ake strong action, I can only recom-
mend that the allowances now due to the Zakka Khel (excluding the Pakhai) amounting to
Rs. 6,950 shall be forfeited, and that compensation be paid to the families of the {wo men
who were executed for assisting us after we have aettluy up the claims against the clan for
offences in Kohat and Peshawar. Every opportunity will be taken o carry oul the Honour-
shle the Chief Commissioner’s instruclions regarding punishment by “ baramta,” but the
Zakka Khel do not migrale to the plains in any large numbers as do the other Afridis each
winfer, and the men we want to get hold of seldom venture within the border except under
the safc conduct of a jirga.

Annexure 2.

Letter from the Secretary to the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Political
Agent, Khyber, dated 24th November, 1906.

With reference to your letter dated 18th November, 1906, mgarding the future
treatment of the Zakka Khel Afridis, I am directed to say that before deﬁmtel{ decidu;ﬁ
what, if any, action should be taken in the matter, the Chief Commissioner would be gl
of further information on the following points, viz.: —

(1) In the event of the Zakka Khel allowances being forfeited as suggested in your
letter, what attitude may this section reasonably be expected to adopt? Is the
immediate result likely to be a considerable increase in raiding and lawlessness
on the part of the Zakka Khel?

(2) 1f so, and if the misconduct of the iribe is such as to force Government to adopt
the only effectnal measure possible to check it, 7iz., the occupation of the Bazar
Valley, what do you consider would be the attitude of the other Afridi clans?
Would they openly join the Afridis in resisting Government, and thus neces-
sitate another general Afridi war? .

2. I om also to ask you to furnish a statement of the important cases now outstanding
against the Zakka Khel.

Annexure 3.

Letter from the Political Agent, Klyber, to the Secretary to the Clief Commissioner, Nurth-1est
Frontier Province, dated 26th November, 1906,

I have the honour, with reference to your letter of 24th insfant. to state in reply to your
queries : —

(@) It is difficult to prophesy regarding the attitude of the Zakka Khel under and after
serious punishment. This clan has no equal in unruliness and we have no precedent to
guide us, as they have never been really punished. You will remember that even after the
Tirah Expedition the Zakka Khel escaped, as their share of the Afridi fine was paid by
the other clans, who have not yet succecded in recovering any part of it.

Now that nearly all the Zakka Khel have committed tﬁemsel\'es to a deliberate demon-
stration against (Government (as explained in my letter of 18th instant), that some of
their most powerful elders, such as Dadai and Sherzada, who were formerly in favour of
peaceful relations with us, have openly thrown in their lot with the anti-British party in
Tirah, and that the Afridi leaders of the late " lazarnao gang” have returned to their
country, we may, I believe, expect during the coming winter raiding on a more extensive
scale than usual whether it is decided to forfeit the allowances or not. The Zakka Khel
as a iribe are, I believe, cowards at heart, and if they take the forfeiture of their allowances
to mean that the patience of (overnment is really exhausted and that their long delayed
punishment is really coming, it is possible that they may be frightened into comparative
quiescence for a time. On the other hand they may think that by repeated raids they may
frighten Government into buying them off. They now feel that they have committed them-
sell\ies almost beyend forgiveness, and are waiting in conriderable trepidation to see what we
will do.

If we send for them as usual, they will take it that their punishment is to be again
indefinitely deferred, and will be proportionately elated. ‘Their offences have been so serious
that after deducting the compensation due to suflerers by their raids and fines imposed for
their misconduct there will be no halance to pay, and this will irritate them all the more
on account of the high hopes raised by receipt of the summons to come in. They would, of
course, drag ont cvery case and force us to feed their huge jirgas for so long that they
would probably go away feeling that they had received allowances in fact. if not in name,
but they would have the grievance that all, or nearly all, their allowances had been cut,
and would proceed to ““call attention to this grievance,” as they put it, by raiding.

(b) If we call the elders of the other Afridi tribes, explain the whole case to them, and
assure them that unless they deliberately join the Zakka Xhel we have no quarrel with them.,
and have no intention of going bevond Bazar or of interfering with them in any way, it is
probable that they will acquiesce in our action, though they will not be able to prevent indi-
viduals joining the Zakka Khel in their resistance. But 1f we go in without warning they
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may believe that our advance on Bazar is but the ﬁ'rst step to the occupation of Tirah, ang
in that case they would assemble to defend the glacis of their position.

There is, of course, the possibility of an outburst of what we call fanaticism and what
the tribesmen call patriotism, and this might unite all sections in a last struggle against us
but the dominating characteristic of the Afridi, his overpowering selfishness, gives reason to
believe that he would sacrifice hizs neighbour to save himself.

2. T enclose a statement of the more important cases against the Zakka Kbel, from which
you will see that the estimate of compensation to be recovered from them is Rs. 6,058-8-0, and
of fines Rs. 4,875, a total of Rs. 10,933-8-0.

This estimate is, of course, very rough. We have not yet heard the defence in any of
the cases. Some it may not be possible to prove, and some of the claims for compensation
may be exaggerated. On the other hand more claims may be sent in before the time comes
for the distribution of the allowances. The amount for the past seven monthe due to the
Zakka Khel (excluding the Khyber Pakhai) is Rs. 6,950, so there can be nothing to be paid
to them, but by forfeiting their allowances, instead of sending for the jirga and going inte
each case separately, we shall save so much, by not having to feed them for ten days or a
fortnight, that we should still be able to pay compensation to the families of Lal Baz and
Inzarai, who were killed by {he Zakka Khel jirga, if it is considered expedient to do so.
In the list of cases I have not included the very serious raid by the 1lazarnao gang on the
village of Chogne on 21st March, 1906, in which property worth Rs. 15,722 was carried off,
although it is said that some Zakka Khel were of the party, and although, according to
Afghan and tribal custom, the Zakka Khel have now by their protection of the members
of the Hazarnao gang acknowledged their responsibility for them.

Nor have I included any fine or “ nagha” on account of the return to Tirah of Multan,
Usman, Raktao, Mirza Ali, Khealai and other Afridis of the “Hazarnao gang,” although
the Zakka Khel were forgiven heavy fines in 1904 in return for expelling these men from
their country and for swearing that they would never allow them to return.

Annexure 4.

Statement of serious offences of which Zalkka Khel Afridis are accused since the settlenent of
31st March, 1906.

Ap-
Amount of | Proxl
Nol oocmrronce Note of case. compemra- | (12 Remarke.
1 " be im-
posed.

: Rs. A D, Re.
1 | 28th March, 1906... | Alam Shah, Anai, Mubammad | 400 0 0 500 | Information as to the offenders in

Asghar, Zia-ud-din, some other thie case wus not received until

Zia-ud-din, Maultan and some after the settlement of 3lat

: outlaws of the Hazarnao gang March, 1906. The owner of the
' raided the grazing grounds of animals, Usman, of Shahab Khel,
' Masho Khel, Peshawar District, went to Dakka and paid tbe

i and carried off six bufaloes and Sarhang Res. 50 to help him, paid

. six bullocks. Rs. 10 to Sadbashi Moghal, and

! Rs. 40 to Multan at Hazarnao. He

eventually recovered three buffa-
! loes nnd six bullocks through the
] ngsistance of the above, Putting
! the three buffaloes he lost at Re.
“ 100 each, he spent direotly Rs. 400,
| besides incidental expenses. The
! offenders must be fined for viola-
| ting British territory.

2 | 2nd May, 1906 ... : Sadozai Paindai, Azmat, Muham- | 500 0 0 —_ The Hindue were eventually ran-
:  mad Asghar, Muhammad Afzal, somed by their friends for Rs.

| Gul Mir, Mir Ahmad, Zia-ud-din; 1.000 Kabuli = about Re. 600

Multan and Rakhtu, Anai; British. No violation of British

Majid and Khowas IChan, Pakhai, territory occurred, so it is mot

of Bara, and other Zakka Khel necessary to impose any fine.

Singh and Mangal Singh, of
Lahore in Orakzai country, and
held them to raneom.

A band of about 27 men, including | 1,500 0 0| 1,500 | This is a very serious case as an

|

} kidoapped two Hindus, Indar
3 | 28th May, 1906 !
1

Chaman, Khusrogi, and other armed violation of British terri-
Zakka Khel of Bazar, some tory, and as including two mur-
Peshawar outlaws, and somec ders end one attempted murder.
Aka Khel Afridis, attacked the The third person wounded even-
village of Shahab Khel in the tually died from the wounds
Peshawar District. The villagers received.

}

i, defended themselves and drove
| the party off. Two of the vil-
I lagers were killed and one
i wounded, nnd one raider, a Zakka
‘ Khel, is said to have Leen elight-

1y wounded.

Carried forward




Ap-
Date of Amount of pl:‘ox':
No 0CCUTTEnse. Note of case, compensa- ﬂn: to
tion due, b
e im-
| posed

4 | 7th June, 1906

8 | 5th July, 1906

6 | 6th July, 1906 ...

7 | 29th/30th June,1906

8 | 29th August, 1906...

82610

Brought forward ...

Usman end a band of Zakka Khel
of Bazar kidnapped a Hindu
nomed Jajmal Bingh from the
border near Jola Talab, Peshawar
District. The Hindu was passed
from hand to hand to Nasian,
where he was held to ransom,

Muhammad Asghar and other Zin-
ud-din, with Multan, Anai, and
some Hazarneo outlaws, sttacked
the village of Marai Bala, but the
villagers were on the alert, and
the raiders were driven off after
some shota had been exchanged,

The same gang as No. b raided the
village of Kajai Marni in the
Kohat District. They killed two
men and carried off two Govern-
ment rifles—one Enfield and one
Snider.

Usman, Gudai and Babai, Khusrogi
Zokka Khel, with 2 band of
Peshawar outlaws and Aka Khel,
murdered three men of Matanni,
Peshawar District,

Amir Sheh and other Zakka Khel
of Bazar and Ghandal and other
outlawd of Hazornao raided the
village of Urmur and carried off
31 donkeys and Rs. 336 in cash.

Total

Re. A. P.| Ra.

07 8 oif 800

1,300

375

1,676

6,058

600

37

500

4,875

f
|
i
|

|
|

Jaimal S8ingh waa eventually ran-
somed tor Bs. 2850 (British), and
claims Re. 157-8-0, value of &
mule and other property stolen.

No damage done, but an armed
violation of Britiah territory,

A olear case. The riflea were with
the Zia-ud-din Zakka Khel, and
have now been sent to Nazian for
sale. ‘The market value of s
Snider rifle is about Ra. 200 and
of an Enfleld is Rs. 100,

In this case there were three Zakka
Khel conceraned out of a band of
twelve. Putting compenasation
for the three men murdered at
Rs. 1,600 and fine Ra. 1,800, the
Zakka Khel wounld be liable for
one-fourth of this sum.

A violation of British territory.
Urmur donkeya are worth from
Re. 40 to Ra. 80 each. Taking
the lowest figure, the 31 would be
worth Ra, 1,240,




48

"4989 (8] ‘T 9B pepuUnOMm
uowm poxy) io0j <Lauow

Po0Iq 9pT[out J0U 830D BT,

007

681

0€z'1

009'1

0 0 T00C

0 6 913

0 0 012
d 'V Tg

'qel1], moay edeoed
ney) pejoege wewm oY,

PA124G001319M Be0S Ay,

£y1ed By
-8192 91 £q persacoax
9I9M 6OSIOYAYJ, wIap
-uago eyj psy 3uiawy
3O Pasnoos 61 [0y nesel

*'Pa1340201 L[
‘nquess olom deoys eyJ,

‘shoxaop Z pue §%oI ¢gl
30 repumid [ym SLy1009Q

‘uawr oMY Jo
Surddeupry put mjj000m19
q)A salewl oMy Jo 1394
‘06881 €9
qjom  fyzadoxd  pue
Bjoo[nq Jnoy Jo PeyuJ,
"065'T '8d q3I0m
£naadoad jo 930yy pue
TSWOM Om] JO TWOLIONPYY

e B[omed 91 Jo 9394,

*3|nw 8 103 £3uom BJunyq
j0 qunoode uwo ZF ‘SU

= sye0d gof Jo 1apunyy
‘squeurejdmos
@31y} aq2 jo Jurpunom
pue ‘epu pegyag 2uo
£106 ‘oY Yadom Lqaadoad
jo aspunid [y L31008Q

"E3810Y
e3uog Yup aAy jo 1Jeug,

+--doays 91 jo 3oL

0-G-91Z "8Y YoM
£yedoad  jo  zepumig

‘01¢ "BY 9® pan[ua
§}00[[Dq UeAeY Jo 9JoYJ,

‘reuy ‘genyy ITx pue
‘s1foremyy] ‘omtyy puv pEEUy
‘puemug J8Q ‘[uH IvZBN ‘urmsQ

1993 =q¥UZ ‘1YY "eqs I qeqs
‘mp-pu-myz ‘1eqdsy

Ioyg ‘uemgey My ‘1egdsy

peumeqnly ‘bvg IGON 0N PIOS

**[agy[ uvyg ‘we[nyy Iny
‘1Y UsY§ ‘Jeiurg Jo Iagjoiq
‘oulyg jo vAvsureq ‘reuy ‘[oxqoRy
{913oIsnY Y ‘prewquy s puv UesEH
Mo ‘pemmegnyy ‘iezely  ‘aup
-2e]] ‘puBmeg (05 ‘IvIqRy ‘utms)

urp-pu-etz ‘4seuiey
‘STMEWIUZR ] SWOe pus
! 1oy zo1a4 ‘pruyy 197§ ¢ 1IYEIR
‘[1eme] ‘me[jno‘ivjepiieuy ‘uvIfuIg

‘S1AMRUITZEH pPUT [3Q)]
Uy ewos pue ¢ erepule ‘9eey (8]
PUE [V 19Yg ! IBIOQY ¥ ‘|ORQoEY
Psifoisugy ‘vezel)y puUv  uUvWS[)

199 THY ‘PITEM
10PAY PUT QEQy QEIYSK - ltay
‘aw Ny JO uolgelex ‘(ny uesspg

“s18q JO 190 TYAeZ eYYed
021y) put 'smip-pn-glz ‘ATPa(
‘wely qIysg ‘JEpIeH ‘memgy JEX

‘1euy ‘geqspeg
mo pue ‘stlorsuyy ‘reisying
pue 18z213uy ‘rerpueqg ‘oresey I

190} viyeZ ‘Wp-pn-ug

‘TTuBIeN
§J0 SIeYJ0 PpUT WIYBF
"BppTg JO ‘npuryf
‘nley(] put prmwey
-“ap Jny ‘rewmn WY
‘mieg  ‘Orp-pn-uteyy

‘nduey jo uiq
quU(Ry pu® UTYyY YNBJ

199y qeqeyg Jo uvqy
JepitH qdnoxy; uamox)

‘s1ade[Ia
ay7 gonorgy umoan)
RCa>:|

By ‘eig jO ‘mvy
yelog jo uos ‘muy puey

st 1e70y JO FIaSulIA
‘papunos ‘IEgezO
pue pnuygsy ‘ydaig
[ogoy  ‘lezdpy  jo
‘1laey jo uos ‘se aTM
-3eyg y3noiyy umor)

© lumejelq Jo e[rzquny
‘11 Tpus(
Jo Mou ‘Sjayy IUSY
'y ydeg ‘prwmey
- qy  wegdpey
"SUNBIVG
J0 '1OUY 1y eqyy
pue ‘3ivg jo ‘syjegz
‘byey  pewwTURy
‘(ngBy] Jo powWUy I

*** 1821838V JO [0f) 2Bg

“(aTan
auEsy

-eqsed)

= (mexny) wppes
MU

199U IAPAOq RO}

=t (emy qudeds

(reaeysog ) raueiRy

(awyoy]) rerep -uidg

(g1
9eyOoY] ‘1RIT]) 10Z3)]

(1emugsag) rezepy

TeuRegg

reqoy
‘e|wg eI wpuey

“quIe], IZBM IteN
30129811

ooy ‘luezIEiysy

= 06l Pudny qic

** go6l ‘Ainr I8
©* go6l ‘aunp 9813

S061 ‘ounf 1€17/730%

** go6l ‘ounp g1
061 ‘aunp WOL/TI6

o6l ‘AU 8|

c061 ‘S8 QIOT/MI6

c061 ‘[12dV 1392/235%

oma

< gosL ‘TdV YIE
¢061 ‘1dv 416

(49

1

118

g1

‘ejavmoy [wiouep

‘Pa1340363 BY
3 11198 Lgzad
-oxd joanjEp

‘880 QY U0 SYINWoY

‘80ua[Oo JO 810BN

"pesnooy

‘syuvurvidumop

‘30WALINII0 JO V08

*201U2110930 J0 938Q

‘oN
ICFER

"CO6T 1Ay 8T oyp souss siprify oy vYYPZ oy 8upbo buspuad ssvO SUIMOYS JUAUIIDIS!

‘¢ aanxouuy



49

*09¢ "o Ue o0 Joy Leuom
PoOIq epujoul jou HMOP SIYJ,

“CoR "By
20 (0} "FY JNOQE dN[eA [€aX
21q%q02J '810UMO £q pejsm
- e8 Lyredoad Jo eurep

)
[

0

0

0 & e8| v moL
0 008 -
Jereg wo1j edeosa 0y
0 <S¢ podwusm umew oM} oyJ,
quiy, @
SOYY SHY¥Z 043 oy
By £q edwore Jreyy
- payoegesjusmeidmonayy,
‘squsuie|dwod gy
0) Pe109591 PUE PaIDA0D
— -8J UBeq 9ABY S[OWED YT,
0 0¢e -

“f10q110
juopuedeput J0 YeT3lAg
JoesepIedazsouagyoayy

| peqjImmod PIBNIIB oy
‘f103u19q yuepuedopul
ur sUM 30UAIINIV0 JO
0 009 _ awaos [vuj08 o) y3noyy,
0 00F -
_
0 0091 -
\
|
o O%L | -

‘stomed gyde
Jo zepunid Yjim L1008
“GR ‘FY qHOM 0% 88010
jo1apunid pue'sjusureid
-moo ‘ol puv mP
remuy vy joduiddeapry

wewm 031q) Jo Jmddeupry

‘s[omT
x18 Jo 1apunyd yjim L31008Q

‘afieq Luund
)14 seyuod ueaes Jo 9Jey],

‘wem 9uo JO
JepInm pus'seglx Jeplug
de1y) ‘sxoo[[nq IulW

Jo Iopumid Wpam Aqr00v(
s S[9WDd INO0J JO 93JaY],

"009'1 S 9% penieA
sfpmw ude Jo eyl

"0f "8g yseo pus
002 "fY v3Iom Ljaadoad
jo zopunid T Ly1008(]

*BuUmuvIey JO I8Y¥BJ T PUY ‘§I0YJ0
Ue} Uy ‘[agy ueys ‘yejueg
‘e1doasngy ‘lesInpy PpuU® uvWE[)
“UIp-pn-U17Z ‘UM [9YEJ PUS [€2] §
peawsgnyy awydsy 1 ‘my pies
ferJoreuyy ‘mwiqig puv pavwmeg
0P ¢ aspno uemeseg ‘|epuryp
*819730 pue
‘anyerrg 'weqy (v PUY ewe]
pue ! 1epureJ ‘€28, JO UOs ‘[nH
JB7 ! 1eUY '8pPBZIaYE JO UOH ‘YEPITS
*3regp jo ‘eut!]| ‘qUYE prmweq
-up puv yeqg Jusiny sudesmsy
819 qata "ivg Jo ‘rmgyeg 'qegs 18X
‘1°YY ¥V OF ‘qeus
qublN ‘mu[sy eyg ‘[nP uswx
! E@.?..EN..SAM ZI[9 M PUE J9qS
-8y psuwmuqnyy ‘[¥z}y pewmumey
U G RUY dequey NV sz

‘1°YY ¥4V "o ‘qeyspeg

N ‘veny loyg ! eMYSIY ‘wuyy]

119 pue [rems] * A%|9N0 [8PUTLH

‘qeqg 1ux Jo 107301q ‘YEYR lmy
' 18UV 'UBi[0J{ JO I°0YI0iq ‘Myyey

‘gieg

Jo yeygy uelljy ‘' 1ezsg JO leqeg
{grepuleg ‘quys 19QYy Ppu® Iezu]

'SuLp-pn-ul7 1651

-ey S8y ‘182)y pewmwmeyny 1eq}y
1] ‘any odegd ‘I 2eg W PIUS

‘mypey jo ‘aediiey]

on e ¢ doisuyy] ‘puswmeg

aeq swepupeg 'ys[neq ‘Iszu]

‘lovgory : Jaegy jo 'FleyNRd ‘'qeus
10y pus w9y NP '{eqg 18X

“187B[ §O
‘neq ¥ 1PLY MVY jo
uos .:—:HHN psmmuwynp

"TuYY puUe ‘[nY
JaMuY yuyg ‘Ieyg quing

"Arywegu] 9913 3o
sdodes ‘uvqy 1{up puw
OBy JRq YO ‘nuy Y Jezz]

“uwpiulg wnbuy
‘1emoqy pun jo'quyy
IBQRY Jo uos ‘yuys. peQ

w10de([14 o]

‘(demTysay) 190TYBIY
Jo uaw ¢z -on ‘ruzeg
JoLgsI(] JThoy ‘eiieq
BRI JO 1YsI ‘v
<[B=1Y JO uos ‘usyy IpoT

‘reqelug BAR(] JO
uiq (0D reiqEg ATR

*13UOISRI TWWO))
9UTISISSY TIXY Py
-o1'ueny] migey [npqy
WYY Ydnoiy) umoin

‘epnuI[Idog A0[Lq
pTo1 deqiqy oYy
1o a8plig NOSIHIVIY

"(asU0Y

‘1spusr])  regoey

"I9pI0q 18q0y
‘epusyg 18y ‘Je[nEQ

‘uonmyy Lem{oy
prnawgp Ieau BIEH

HELT
-eusag) quuy cidg

*(£1091119) quop
-uadapuy) 1aueyeIy
wiel 48T BIH

‘(aenwysog)
ueleg anwaif

-(aep1oq
uedsg
1BIvlg

98q03)
pus  speq

NELTS
“9qg) vieg 1qeqg

¢NG1 ‘10qUOAON TIFI
$0GI “I9qUIOAON 3L

8061 ‘3960190 UI8E

9061 ‘1990320 UG

‘eonl
;Bsuoa:\_;_..

€061 '19quadagy3 g

¢h61 ‘1qmNdag 997

€061 ‘lequaydeg W

9061

swsndny  991g/9I0€

0%

61

81

L1

91

48

€l



50

Enclosure 2 in No. 11.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 8th December, 19086.

(Telegraphic.) .

On night of 5th instant party of some 40 raiders appeared near Badbher eight
miles from Peshawar, and carried off four Hindus, one Muhammadan, two tonga
ponies, fourteen camels, eight bullocks, two donkeys. A patrol of two police sepoys
supposed to have come across the gang are missing. Raiders are reported to he

ang headed by Multan, Zakka Khel, and Mirza Ali, Kambar Khel. Village
chighas and Border Military Police pursued, but failed to come up with raiders
This case should be considered, in connection with proposals contained in my letter
dated 3rd December.

Enclosure 3 in No. 11.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 11th December, 1906.

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram of 8th December, raid on Badbher. The police
constables carried off by the gang are said to be alive, and at present detained
at Nakhtarnao, between Nazian and Hazarnao, but we have no certain information
as yet on this point. We have made a baramta of 21 Zakka Khels, of whom 11 are
Zia-ud-dins, with whom the raiders put up, both coming and going, and this may
assure safety of men carried off.

Enclosure 4 in No. 11.

From the Foreign Secretary to the Government of India to the Chief Commissioner,
North-West Frontier Province, dated 13th December, 19086.

(Telegraphic.)

Your letter 3rd December. In view of necessity of avoiding disturbance in
Khyber direction during Amir’s visit to India, and of baramta reported in your
telegram of 11th December, do you still propose that Zakka Khel should be called in
next month? It is essential to take no action likely to lead to open rupture till after
Amir has gone back, and if Zakka Khel must be excluded from payment of
allowances, might it not be better oh some suitable ground to defer payment of all
Afridi allowances until March ?

Enclosure 5 in No. 11.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 14th December, 19086.

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram dated 11th December. Report now confirmed
that two c%;ptured policemen are detained at Nakhtarnao, Nazian, in Afghan
territory. ang consisted of 40 persons, mostly Zakka Khel, but including some
twelve Sangu Khel of Nakhtarnao.

Enclosure 6 in No. 11.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 14th December, 1908.

(Tclegraphic.)

Your telegram dated 13th December. Payment of Afridi allowances
has already commenced; anyhow to defer payment would only lead to general mis-
apprehension. Baramta has had effect of bringing in Zia-ud-din section to beg
for release of prisoners. They admit entertaining raiders but offer no restitution.
We cannot deal with Zia-ud-din without remainder of Zakka Khel, who are un-
likely to come in as majority of them have started for Jalalabad in hopes of securing
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recognition by Amir. I adhere to the opinion that Zakka Khel should not be sum-
moned and, if possible, should be ignored until March. To this end I have given
orders to Roos-Keppel to omit all mention of them to other jirgas, and if Zakka
Khel approach him, to put them off till March. It is imperative in interests of
British subjects to show Zakka Khel that their defiance followed by raid reported
will not be overlooked.

Enclosure 7 in No, 11.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 16th December, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)

Information reccived that on 15th instant gang of raiders attacked Pabbi and
looted Police Post taking five Police rifles. At request of villagers Major Miles,
whe was in vicinity with Military Detachment, proceeded to village and was fired
on by raiders who retired. Enquiry is proceeding as to constitution of gang and
details of damage done and route taken. The gang was evidently a trans-border one.

Enclosure 8 in No. 11.
From the Foreign Secretary to the Government of India to the Chief ('ommissioner,
North-West Frontier Province, dated 20th December, 1906.
(Telegraphic.)
Your telegram dated 14th December. In circumstances reported, your
proposal not to summon Zakka Khel and, if possible, to ignore them till March
next, is approved.

Enclosure 9 in No. 11.

Letter from the C'hief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Deputy
Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated
3rd January, 1907.

In continuation of my telegram of the 16th December, 1906, regarding
the raid on Pabbi, I have the honour to forward, for the information of the %overn—
ment of India, a copy of a letter dated 24th December, 1906, from the
Political Agent, Khyber, on the subject.

Annexure.

Letter from the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Secretary to the Chief Commissioner, North- West
Frontier Province, dated 24th December, 1906.

T have the honour to report thai the result of my enquiries regarding the raid on Pabbi
on 1the night of the 15th instant tends to show that the raiding party was composed as
upder : —

1. Multan, Anai Zakka Khel Afridi,
Ralkhtu, brother of above,
. Khialu, brother of ahove,
. Mirza Ali, Kambar Khel Afridi,
Usman, Khusrogi Zakka Khel Afridi of Bazar,
Babbari, brother of Usman,
. (3udai, brother of Usman,
. Dawar Khan, Khusrogi Zakka Khel Afridi,
. Madak (Fakir), Paindai Zakka IXhel Afridi of Bazar,
. Azghari, Paindai Zakka Khel Afridi of Bazar,
. Saddozai, Zia-ud-din Zakka Khel Afridi,
12. Mian Gul, Zia-ud-din Zakka Khel Afridi.
13. Thralhim, Zia-ud-din Zakka Khel Afridi,
14. Mirullah, Nipah Afridi,
15. Muhammad Akbar, Sipah Afridi,
16. Nikab Shah, Meri Khel Aka Khel,
17. Masham Shah, Mert Khel Aka Khel,
18. Wali Jan Shah, Meri Khel Aka Khel,
19. Zarghun Shah, Madda Khel Aka Khel,
20. Mullagai Shah, Madda Khel Aka Khel,
21. Nur Shah, Bizoti, a Humsaya of Mulla Saiyvid Akbar, Aka Khel,
22. Sher Rahman, Sturi Khel Orakzai of Bara,

-
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23. Zari Shah, Sturi Khel Orakzai of Lawatta,

24, Muhammad Afeal, Sturi Khel Orakzai of Barwan.

95. Khairullah Khan, Sturi Khel Orakzai of Barwan,
with about six or seven Shinwaris of Nazian, Afghan subjects.

This party is reported to have been collected in the neighbourhood of Barkai hefore ang
after the raid snd to have been entertained by Malik Sanjab. As they hrought no cattle
or other loot which could not be hidden, the case is not clearly proved against them, but
it is generally believed that they committed the raid. None of my informers has seen the
Police rifles taken at Pahbbi, but it is probable that they would not have recognised them
had they done so. In the event of my obtaining any more definite information T will report

further.

Enclosure 10 in No. 11.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 5th January, 1907,

Large numbers of Zakka Khel went to Basawal and Dakka to pay their
respects to the Amir, but could not find an opportunity of doing so. They lined
the roads by which he was to pass, but no notice was taken of them. Some rukhsatang
was, however, paid them by His Highness’s orders, which did not exceed Rs.2 Kabulj
per man. They were much disappointed with the not-at-all warm reception they
met with. A serious quarrel has risen between Dadai and Sher Ahmad, Anai Zakka
Khel elders. Dadai seems to have incurred the displeasure of the majority of
the Anai elders for having embroiled the whole Zakka Khel clan in badi (trouble)
with the Sarkar, and there are some indications of a rupture among the Bazar
Zakka Khel elders. They are sending in messages to be sent for, but so far with
no definite proposals to settle anything. The Zakka Khel cattle that had been
made baramta of last month were sold by public auction in Shilman during the
week and fetched over Rs. 600 British. The money will be sent to district autho-
rities to pay as part of compensation in the several cases pending against the
Zakka Khel.

Enclosure 11 in No. 11.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the weel: ending 12th January, 1907.

The Zakka Khel are showing no signs of settling their cases, and are perhaps
under the belief that sooner or later Government will release their men and patch
up a settlement of the old type with them The mischief-makers among them are
not slow in holding out to them all sorts of hopes and vague promises of support,
and it is not seldom that self-deputed messengers arrive in Bazar from Ningrahar
with summons for jirgas or invitations for individual elders.

Enclosure 12 in No. 11.

Endorsement by Secretary to the Chief Commissioner, Novth-West Frontier
Province, dated the 14th January, 1907.

Copy of the following is forwarded to the Deputy Secretary to the Government

of India in the Foreign Department for the information of the Government of
India.

Annexure.

From the Deputy Commissioner, Peshawrr, to the Secretary to the Chief Comomissioner, North-West
Frontier Province, dated 1310 Janucay, 1907,

(Telegraphic.)

. Report received from Fort Mackeson, 12th insiant, states that al 7, evening, on 1lth
instant, while Hayatulla and Wahid and Sultan and Taj Muhammad, bullock drivers, of Dagi
Banda, Taru Thana, were travelling from Peshawar to Matanni, they were seized near Haidu
Talab by thirty armed Afridis who carried off then and there eight bullocks westward. When
near independent territory some went towards Badbher, while six were left to look after
the prisoners, who were released two hours later. Bullocks were carried off. This occurrence
was reported at Matanni Police Station at 3 a.m. on 12th.
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Enclosure 13 in No. 11,
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 19th January, 1907,

Multan, Mirza Ali, and other members of the Nazian gang were seen
lurking about in the neighbourhood of Barkai during the week. They are reported
to have raided some bullocks on the Matanni road on the 11th instant, and having
deposited the same in some caves near Barki, they returned and raided 43 camels
from the Serai at Matanni on the 14th instant. They were assisted by some Zakka
Khel and Aka Khel Afridis. In all their recent operations they have heen freely
passing through the Aka Khel, Barki, Sturi Khel, and Bazar Zakka Khel limits,
and unless territorial responsibility is enforced against these clans, especially at
this season of the year, when all their Kaddas are on the spot, there is no likelihood
of their lifting a finger to stop the free usc of their countries by the raiders day
and night.

Enclosure 14 in No. 11.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the
Deputy Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department,
dated 2nd January, 1907,

With reference to my endorsement, dated the 14th January, 1907, I have the
honour to submit, for the information of the Government of India, the accom-
panying copy of a letter, dated the 17th January, 1907, from the Deputy Commis-
sioner, Peshawar, reporting the commission of a raid upon the Matanni Serai
on the night of the 14th instant.

Annexure.

Lelter from the Deputy Commissioner, Pesha:war District, lo the Secretary to the Chief Commissioner,
North-West Frontier Province, dated 17th January, 1907,

I have the honour to report, for ithe information of the Chief Commissioner, the com-
mission of a raid upon the Matanni Serai on the night of the 14th instant. As far as has
been escertained, it appears probable that this raid was the work of the same gang as that
which carried off the four men and eight bullocks from the Kohal road on the evening of the
11th instant, as reported in this office telegram, dated 13th January, 1907, and as that
which raided Pabbi and Badbher in December last. The raiders carried off 43 camels
from the Serai; they were seen by two Border Military Police sowars, who accosted them;
the raiders in reply fired upon the sowars and shot one of the horses in the neck: the sowars
at once gave warning at the Police Station and the village. A chighe turned out, but failed
to come up with the raiders.

Enclosure 15 in No. 11.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Deputy

Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated
2nd February, 1907.

In continuation of my letter, dated the 22nd January. 1907, I have

(1) Dated the 26tk January, the honour to forward, for the information of the

1907. Government of India, a copy of the letters noted in the

(2) Dated the 29th January, margin, from the Political Agent. Khyber, regarding the
1907, and enclosure. raids on Matanni on the 11th and 14th January, 1907.

Anpexure 1.

Letter from the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Secretary tv the Chief Commissioner, North-West
Frontier Province, dated 26th January, 1907,

I have the honour to report that our enquiries regarding the raids on Matanni on the
11th and 14th instant, show that these raids were committed by a mixed gang of Afridis and
outlaws, Sangu Khel Shinwaris (Afghan subjects), Aka Khel, and Sturi Khel, the raids
being led and organized by Zakka Khel.

About the 8th instant a party left Nakhtarnao (Nazian) in Afghanistan for Bazar; it
consisted of the following men:—-

(1) Multan, Anai Zakka Khel Afridi.
(2) Rakhtu, brother of Multan, Anai Zakka Khel Afridi.
(3) Khialu, " "

32510
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5) Zamir, nepbew of Multan, Anai Zokka Khel Afridi.
6) Mirza Ali, Kambar Khel Afridi. .

(7) A brother of Mirza Ali, Kambar Khel Afridi.

(8) Fakir Shah, Eambar Khel Afridi.

(9) Malang, Kambar Khel Afridi.

(10) Ismail Khan, Mishti Orakzai.

ST gamsﬂd o Khel Shimvaris of Nasi

to 17) Six Sangu el Shinwaris of Nazian. . . . ]

(12 They )camo to %azﬁr vid the Tabal Pass and spent the night with Dadai, Anai Zakks
Kbhel, at 11alwai, where they were joined by—

18) Sahibdad, Anai Zakka Khe! Afridi.

#19) Alam Shah, ,, ., »o .

(20) Babri, brother of Usman, Khusrogi Zakka Khel Afridi.

(21) Niaza1, Khusrogi Zakka Khel Afridi. . i

Thence they went to Barkai in the Lt_)wer Bara, where tl_aey were joined by—

(22) Muhammad Asghar, Zia-ud-din Zakka Khel Afridi.

(23) Muhammad Afzal, oo

(24) Nur Akbar, Zia-ud-din Zakka Khel Afridi.

(25) Mehr-dak, ' " .

(26) Thrahim ' " »

(27) Baz Muhammad, Mada Khel Aka Khel, Lower Bara Valley.
28) Khagai, Mada Khel Aka Khel, Lower Bara Valley.

29) Mchrab Shah, Mada Khel Aka Khel, Lower Bara Valley.
§30) Zari Shah, Sturi Khel Orakzai, Lower Bara Valley.

(31) Muhammad Afzal, Sturi Khel Orakzai, Lower Bara Valley.

The party then went to the Aka Khel country limits opposite Mamani.

On the 11th instant, they went in the direetion of Matanni and, having come across some
cartmen on the Matanni road, carried off 8 bullocks and some C{Jroperty. They brought the
looted bullocks and property to Benai Garhi and having deposited the sanie with Juma Khan,
Sturi Khel, again proceeded towards Matanni on the 14th instant. On their way to Matanni
they came across two Border Military Police sowars whom they fired at. They then entered
the Matanni Serai and carried off 31 camels, which they took to Nazian together with the
bullocks and other property deposited by them at Benai Garhi on the 11th. Both on their
way to and from Matanni they were entertained by Aka Khels, Barki Sturi Khels, Zia-ud-din
Zakka Khel of Shin Kamar. and by the Zakka Khels of Bazar, and as usual they followed
the route passing through Aka Khel Maira, Mamani, Shin Kamar, Wala Kandao, Bazar and
Tabai Kandao, a route absolutely safe from our interference.

§4\ Taza Khan cousin of Multan,” Anai-Zakka Khel -Afridi.

Annexure 2.

Letter from the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Secretary to the Chief Commissioner, North-West
Frontier Province, daled 29th Januvary, 1907,

I have the honour to forward copy of a statement of a man who has just returned from
Nakhtarnao after ransoming his bullocks which were carried off from Matanni on the 11lth
instant. This statement supplies clear proof, if such be needed, that these recent raids have
been the work of Zakka Khel of Bazar and that all the prisoners and loot of these raids are
regularly deposited at Nakhtarnao in Afghan territory and there disposed of.

Annexure 3.

Statement of Niamatulla, son of Aminatulla, of village Dagai-Banda, Nowshera tahsil,
dated 29th January, 1907.

About 20 days ago eight head of cattle belonging to mie and to three others were taken
by Zakka Khel raiders from Matanni, where we were working with carts for hire.

I and Mosam and Sultan of my village went to ransom them

We first went to the house of Muhammad Rafik, Zakka Khel, in Walai village in the
Bazar Valley. Ile told us that the cattle had been taken from DBazar to Nakhtarnao in
Afghanisian.

He went with us to Nakhtarnao, where we were met by Multan, Zakka Xhel, and after
some negotiations we ransomed our cattle for Rs. 520.

We saw in Nakhtarnao 31 camels taken from Matanni the day after our cattle were taken
%n(‘lib\l\l'e also saw two llindus and two policemen who had been previously carried off from

adbher.

The Hindus gave us messages for their relations to the effect that the Zakka Khel demanded
one thousand rupees for their ransom and begged that their relations would send the money
soon.

The policeman said that they had no relations who could pay ransom for them and asked
whether Government were not doing anything to obtain their release.

I saw in Nakhtarnao the six rifles’ which were taken from Pabbi and the Zakka Khel
asked how many police were in Pabbi now.

Finger-print of Niamatulla.
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Enclosure 16 in No. 11.
Extraot from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 2nd February, 1907,

The Zakka Khel of Bazar have sent various messages to the Political Agent
to the effect that they are willing to send in a jirga to discuss cases and to take
.oaths of innocence. = They have been informed that they will be sent for when
wanted, and that in the meantime it will be secn whether they take an{l action to
stop the constant raids into British territory committed by members of their tribes,
as the tale of these outrages is growing so rapidly that it is difficult to see what
satisfactory settlement they can offer. The Zakka Khel consider themselves in a
state of war with Government, and are apprehensive of attack by us. They have
permanent pickets on all the roads and passes leading from the Khyber to Bazar
and these pickets are detailed on a regular roster. Their raiding parties are now

ractically permanently out and in the neighbourhood of Kajurai, Gandao,
ﬁ’lamani, and Barkai, on the look-out for cattle grazing near the horder, and it is
understood that they are only waiting for dark nights and accurate information to
commit more large raids. Reference diary for the week ending 19th January, 1907:
Niamatulla, the owner of the bullocks carried off from Matanni on the 11th January,
1907, by Zakka Khel raiders, went to Nakhtarnao in Nazian to recover the bullocks
and returned on the 29th ultimo. He states that he had ransomed his cattle on
payment of Rs. 65 per head as bhunga. Yar Khan and Tor Khan, the owners of the
raided camels, who had also been to Nakhtarnao to recover the camels, returned
on the 31st ultimo, and stated that they had ransomed their camels on payment of
Rs. 156 per camel as bhunge through Nur Ghulam, Sipah, who escorted them
through the Afridi country. They stated that they could not get back their remain-
ing two camels as the raiders said they were lost on the way on the night of occur-
rence. The two policemen and the two Hindus kidnapped from Badbher were also
reported to be with Multan and others at Nakhtarnao, and Niamatulla was
shown the police rifles carried off from the Pakbi post on the 15th December, 1906.
Multan and party are reported to have carried off 53 camels Lelonging to
Mian Biaz, Kaka Khel, and Lal Chand, Hindu (Peshawari), from near Barkai
on the 2nd instant, and to be still lurking about in the neighbourhood, having
despatched the camels to Nakhtarnao in Nazian in charge of two men.

Enclosure 17 in No. 11.

Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 9th February, 1907.

The Pakhai Zakka Khel attended on the Political Agent on the 4th instant,
and petitioned that they had no connection with the Bazar Zakka Khel, and hoped
they might be dealt with and paid separately. They were told that until they
had made an agreement to hold themselves responsible for the conduct of all the
Pakhai section, wherever they might be, they could not be separated. On
the 9th a full Pakhai jirge, including the Pakhais of Burg, Karamna,
Ilacha, &c., again attended on the Political Agent and presented an agrecment duly
signed by them all that the jirga would be answerable 1n future for the conduct of
any Pakhai wherever he might be, and that any member of the section would be
liable to arrest, &c., for the misdeed of other.  On the 4th instant the telegraph wire
in the Khyler was cut between Jamrud and Ali Masjid and several yards of wire
taken away. The offenders are said to te Zakka Khel.

Enclosure 18 in No. 11.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Under-
Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated 11th
February, 1907.

' (Extract.)

 ~ With reference to previous correspondence I have the honour to report that from

Information received it appears that the two policemen and the two Hindus who were

carried off are still at Nakhtarnao, where theyare said to live in a mosque and enjoya

certain amount of freedom except that they arc placed in the stocks at night.

They are reported to have sent letters to their friends, through the men who went

to Nakhtarnao to ransom the live-stock carried off in this and other raids. The
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raiders are willing to release the two Hindus for Rs. 1,060 (Kabuli),
It has also been reported that they are willing to release the twg
policemen for Rs. 100 each, and this sum the members of the District
Police are said to have subscribed among themselves to obtain their brother
constables’ release. In justice to the two constables and in view of the widespread
feeling amongst the members of the Police Force and on the Peshawar border gener-
ally, it is a question whether advantage should not be taken of any opening for ran-
soming the men who are constantly asking if Government will do nothing for them,

Enclosure 19 in No. 11.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Secre-
tary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated 13th
February, 1907, )

In continuation of my letter, dated the 3rd December, 1906, I have the
honour to forward, for the information of the Government of India, 3
copy of a letter, dated the 7th February, 1907, with its enclosure, from
the Political Agent, Khyber, on the subject of the future treatment of the
Zakka Khel section of Afridis, and to say that I have nothing to add to the view
of the situation which I have already fully set forth in my letter dated the
3rd December, 1906, and which is now before the Government of India, except
that I think that it would he a grave mistake to attempt to enforce responsibility
for the Zakka Khel against the other Afridi clans, which would involve the risk
of their all assuming a similar attitude. At the same time I agree with the
Political Agent as to the desirability of the issue of early orders on the subject.
The steady misconduct of this troublesome scction is illustrated by the fact that
during the last seven years no less than 32 British subjects have been murdered,
29 wounded, 37 kidnapped and help up to ransom by members of this tribe, either
alone or in conjunction with the Hazarnao gang, while the value of property of
British subjects carried off by them is estimated at over one lakh of rupees. In
redye(sls for all this only Rs. 14,000 have been realised from the tribe during this
period.

Annexure 1.

Lelter from the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Secretary to the Chief Commissionerr, Noyth-West
Frontieir Province, dated Tth February, 1907,

I have the honour to report, in continuation of my letters of 18th and 26th November,
1906, that the sitnation in regard to the Zakka Khel Afridis bas not in any way improved—
in fact that it is now worse than it was three months ago.

In my last letter I estimated the amount to be recovered from the Zakka Khel to be—

Rs. 3. p.
Un account of compensation ... 6058 S8 0
On account of fines 4875 0 0
1 now enclose a list of further cases, and in this list the amount to be recovered is --
S. a. p
On account of compensation ... o 1371 400
(n account of fines . . 8900 0 0

or a grand total of Rs. 33,546-12-0, of which Rs. 19,771-12-0 is on account of compensation
and Hs. 13,775 on account of fines.

The annual allowance of the Zakka Khel Afridis (after deducting the share of the Pakhai
section, with whom we have no quarrel) amounts 1o Rs. 10,200 per anvum; so, even if we have
po more raids in February and March, the clan is already liable for nearly {wo years' allow-
ances for compensation alone, and for over three years’ allowances if we exact the very
moderate fines estimated in the various cases.

It is ohvious that nothing ean be paid to the Zakka Khel at the spring distribution, and
if Government decline {o take in hand the punishment of this incorrigible clan, the only
logical course will be to recover the halance from the other Afridis, as it would be absurd
to allow the Zakka Kbel to coutinue {o mortgage their allowances for vears to come. The
effect of punishing the other Afridis fov the offences of the Zakka Khel would he to range
them upon the side of the latter, as they would argue that, if they are to receive the same
punishment whether {hey misbehave or not, they may as well join in the very lucrative
pursuit of raiding the defenceless villages and roads of the Peshawar and Kohat Borders.
The Afridi clans have behaved remarkably well under great temptation; only one man (a
Kambar Khel named Mirza Ali) bas, as far as is known, joined Multan’s gang of Zakka Khel
raiders and for his complicity the Kambar Khel paid a fine of one month's allowances
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Rs. 600) without hesitation. Men of other tribes--Aka Khel, t)rakzai Sturi Khel, &c.—are
joining the raiders and the iemptation to the Afridis of all sections to do so is becoming
overpowering as they see that, week after week, villages, police posts, caravanserais, and
main routes, can he attacked with impunity, that catile, camels, horses, women, and men,
even Government servants, can he carried off and sold or held to ransom, while lhe authori-
ties appear to regard the matter with indifference. The evil has, as I have said, already
spread to the Aka Khel, Sturi Khel and others, and I venture to prophesy that if we persist
in the present policy of drift we shall have shortly to deal with the w_hole of the Afridis
and with a large proportion of the Orakzai instead of, as at present, with the Zakka Khel
section alone,

Even the Zakka Khel are astonished, in spite of {heir long experience of the forbearance
of Government, at our inaction and more and more of them are joining Multan and the
“ war party,” while the other clens are watching closely the course of events and are learning
from it an undesirable lesson.

Tt is most desirable that I should be informed as early as possible of the wishes of Govern-
ment, as, if it is decided that the Zakka Khel are not to be puniched and that a compromise
of some sort is to be made with them, the sooner that is done the hetter. We cannot now
compromire with dignity or with any hope of real improvement, hut if we leave the matter
alone much longer it will not he possible to arrive at any compromise at all.

Annexure 2.

Cases which occurred prior to, but were reported by Deputy Commissioner, Kohat, after, desprtch of
this office letter of 26th November, 1906, to Secretary, North-West Frontier Province

* Amount of | Approximate
No. ! Note of case, compensation| fine to be Remarks,
| due, imposed.

Re. a. p. Re. a. p.

1 . On 5th June, 1906, some villagers of Alizai, 60 4 0 Nil A trifling case. Comyplainants can claim
l Kohat Distriot, were robbed of oash and to recover their property by Baramta
| goods, value Re. 60-4-0, in Sipaia Country of Zia-ud-din, Zaokka Khel, in British
i on the Kohat border, by Zia-ud-din, Zakka territory, but no fine need be imposed

Khel. a8 the offence was committed across
the border.

2 | On 16th June, 1906, o band of 11 Zakka Khel Nil 500 0 0 | No compensation due, but an armed

carried off ten bullocks from the village of violation of British territory.

Marai-Bala in the Kohat District. On their
way back the raiders were attacked by a
party of the villagers who recovered all the
stolen animals,

3 | On the 5th October, 1906, a band of seven 300 0 O Nil The prisoners were oarried of from
Zakks Khel carried off one man and three Independent Territory, so no fine is
women of Sher Koh, Kohat District, and necessary ; but the amount paid as
recovered for them a ransom of Re. 1,000, . ransom is recos erable,

Kabuli.

4 | On the 5th Novemter, a band of eight Zakka 298 0 0 500 0 0 | Compensation and fine for armed viola.

Khels carried off from Marai village, Kohat tion of British territory.

District, seven men and eight bullooks. The
men were eventually released without ran-
som and claim the value of the bullocks and
other property stolen from them,

6 | On the 24th November, a band of about 21 men 500 0 o 1,000 0 0 [ This is o more important case than the

consisting of Zakka Khel, Sturi Khel, and previoues ones as the band was an
Afghan Shinwaris, the whole under the organized 1aiding party coming from
leadership of Multan, Zakka Khel, carried Bazar and Nazian, and not merely a
off 100 goats from the village of Jangal party of armed prowlers as in the
Khel, Kohat District. uhove-mentioned four cases—a bold

violation of British territory.

Offences commiitied since despaich of this office letter of 26th November, 1906, to Secretary, North-
West Frontier Province.

! On the 5th December, 1906, Multan,Zakka Khel, | 3,J00 0 0% 2,000 0 v
| with a gang of aboat 40 men—about half of H

—

The Muhammaden and two of the
Hindus escaped en routs or were re-
leased, eight camels were ransomed by
their owners on the 19th January for

whom were Zakka Khel—attacked the cara-
vanserai of Badbher on the main road
hetween Peshawar and Kohat, and carried Rs. 1,210, Kabuli. The two remaining
off four Hindu and one Muhammadon vil- i Hindus (for whoin a ransom of Re. 500
lngers nnd {wo sepoys of the District Police, : each is nsked), the two Police sepoys,
also 14 camels, two tongn horses, eight and the remainder of the looted pro-
bullocks, and two dookeys. ! ! perty are still in the hands of Multan,
« Znkha Khel, at Nakhtarnao, Nazian,
: Afgbanistan,
i A very grave and bold violation of
! British territory, including the abduec-
tion of two Governmcent servants in
: i _ the execution of their duty.
| i * Includes Rs. 1,000 ransom for the twa
! Hindus. This is being collected by
i ! their relations,
|

|
|
'

|
|

Carried forward o 4433 4 0 4000 0 O
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Note of case

Remarks,

Brought forward

On the 16th Deceraver, 1806, the same band as
in casre No. 1 attacked and captured the
Police Post ot Pabbi, on the Grand Trunk
RBoad, 23 miles from the border, carried off
all the arms (six rifies) of the post, and pro-
cecded to loot the village. They were dis-
tuorbed by n party of 5ird Sikhs, ro gnt Bo
plunder f1rom the village. .

On the 12th January, 1907, Multan, Zakka
Khel, with a party of about 30 raiders, nf
whom about half were Zakka Khel, attacked
a caravan of traders on the Peshawar-Kohat
road near Matanni, captured and carried off
the traders, whom they released on arrival
at the border, nnd carried off eight bullocks
valued at Rs, 300.

On the 14th January, 1907, the band meéntioned |
above (case ) after depositing their loot at
Barkai in Independent territory again en-
tered Dritish territory and attacked the
Caravanserai of Matanni on the Peshawar-
Kohat rond. They fired upon a DBorder
Police Patrol, shooting one horse, and carried
off 31 camels and miscelloneous property
“valued at Rs. 550, oo T

On their way back they cut the telephone wire
near Jola Talao, Border Police Post.

On the 2nd February, Multan Zakka Khel,
again brought his gang as above to Barkai,
doubtless to raid into British territory. He
happened, however, to find 53 camels belong-
ing to Lal Chand, Hindu, of Peshawar City,
and Blaz Mian. Kaka Khel, of Nowsbera,
grazing across the border, and carried them
off to Nakhtarnao,

On 4th February a party of Zakka Khel out
the telephone wire three miles above Jamrud,
and carried off some of the wire.

ToTAL

Amonnt of | Approximate
compensation| fine to be
due, imposed.-
Ra, & p.: Rs a pf.
4463 4 0 4000 0 ©
600 0 0 2000 0 O
260 0 0| 500 0 O
"3,100°°0 0722000070
5300 0 0 Nil
— 200 0 O
13,713 4 0 8900 0 O

As grave o case 8¢ (AL Lt conoeived, *
But for the accident of the presencas gf
regular troops at Pabhi the ourishing
bazar of Pabbi would have been

" sacked,

The eight bullocks were eventually
ransomed by the owners from Multan,
Zakka Khel, at Nakhtarnao, Nazian,
Afghanistan, for Rs, 260. These mon
saw and conversed with the two
Hindus and two Policemen mentioned
in case, sud were shown the rifles
mentioned in case 2.

Twenty-nine camels were ransomed by
the owners for Rs. 4,500 Kabuli, and
one stray camel hae been brought in
by a Zia-ud-din.

This is a grave caee, including as it does
armed violation of British territory,
dakaiti, outting the telephone wire
and Aring upon the Police.

The case occurred across the border, so
no fine is imposed, but the losers have

- 8 olaim to compeneation either from
allowances or by baramta.

Enclosure 20 in No. 11.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign

Secretary to the Government of India, dated 14th February, 1907,

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my letter dated 11th February. Two policemen have been

Enclosure 21 in No. 11.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the
Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated

15tk February, 1907.

ransomed by a Kamarai Afridi Malik and brought in to Political Agent, Khyber.
Report follows.

In continuation of my telegram dated 14th February, 1907, I have
the honour to forward, for the information of the Government of India, copy of a
letter dated 12th February, 1907, from the Political Agent, Khyber, reporting
the particulars of the release of the two Policemen who were carried off by raiders
from Badoher on the 5th December, 1906.
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Anpexure.

Letter from the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Secretary to the Chief Commissioner, North-West
Frontier Province, dated 12th February, 1907,

(Extraet.)

I have the honour to report that the two Police Sepoys captured by :Zakka Khel on the
6th December, 1908, were to-day brought in to me by Malik Hafiz Samandar Khan, Kamarai,
who obtained their release by a payment of Rs. 200 Kabuli to Multan, Zakka Khel, at Nakh-
tarnao, Nazian, in Afghanistan. The two Hindus who were ahducted from Badbher at the
pame time ae the Sepoys are still awaiting release at Nakhtarnao.

Enclosure 22 in No. 11.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Deputy
Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated
15tk February, 1907.

In continuation of my letter dated 2nd February, 1907, I have the
honour to forward, for the information of the Government of India, the accompany-
ing copy of a letter dated 5th February, 1907, from the Deputy Commis-
sioner, Peshawar, regarding the raid committed on the Peshawar-Kohat tonga road
near Matanni on the 11th January, 1907.

Annexure.

Letter from the Deputy Commissioner, Peshawar, to the Secretary to the Chief Commissioner, North-
West Frontier Province, dated dth Fehruary, 1907,

With reference to my telegram, dated 13th January, 1907, reporting that four men
and eight bullocks were carried off by armed Afridis at about 7 p.m. on the 11th January,
1907, from a point on the Peshawar-Kohat tonga road. close to and north of Matanni, I have
the honour to state that further enquiry shows that the raid was committed by a gang of
about 30 Zakka Khel and Sangu Khel Shinwaris. assisted by one or two outlaws and, perhaps,
some Aka Khels, and that the raiders returned through a corner of the Sultan Khel, Mada
Khel, and Miri Khel limits of the Aka Khel, and thence to Nakhtarnao, v/d Shin Kamar and
the Bazar Valley.

2. The four bullock drivers were released in British territory near the frontier. The
bullocks were taken to Nakhtarnao. Two of the owners proceeded to Bazar Valley and per-
suaded Alla Dost, Bash Khel Zakka Khel of Walai, to accompany them to Nakhtarnao, where
they arranged to ransom the eight bullocks for Rs. 520, Kabuli. Alla Dost stood surety for
the payment of this sum. The bullocks were then sent down to the Bazar Valley and kept
there while the money was being fetched from Peshawar. The money was paid over to Alfa.
Dost and his cousin, Muhammad Rafik, at Walai, and the bullocks reached Peshawar on the
30th January, 1907.

No. 12.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 24th March, 1907.
(Telegraphic.)

~ See my despatch of 7th instant regarding Zakka Khel. As less hostile attitude
on the part of some of Zakka Khel elders seemed to be indicated by entries in Khyber
diaries, we requested Deane on the 17th instant to give his views as to present
attitude of the section as a whole, and as to prospects of amicable settlement being
<ffected. Telegram from Deane, dated 18th instant, states that an attempt to induce
hostile -Earty to settle with Government has been made by those among the Zakka
Khel who have gained nothing by raids, but anticipate that if section is punished
they may incur loss. Defiant attitude is, however, maintained by hostile faction.
Police tower was raided on night of 15th by a gang of 15, mostly Zakka Khel; three
rifles, ammunition, and some property were carried off, and a constable was severely
injured. Further raid is reported by Roos-Keppel to be in contemplation. Chief
Commissioner says he is compelled by situation to adhere to recommendation made
in his letter of 3rd December last, as desire of section is to escape punishment, with-
out giving up offenders or making adequate reparation for offences committed. It
1s satisfactory to learn that the Amir pointedly ignored those Zakka Khel who
went to Basawal to meet him on his return from India.
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No. 18.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 31st March, 1907.

Telegraphic. )

(].:’lea.sgt;ra Eee r?w telegram of 24th March. Zakka Khel. Two villagers and
fourteen head of cattle were carried off from Khaizara, near Marai in Kohat, by
ten well-armed raiders on 20th March. Raiders stated, on reliable authority, to
be members of Zakka Khel tribe.  The villagers were released in independent
territory nine miles heyond the border.

No. 14.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 9th April, 1907.

(Telegravhic.) ] )

Zakka Khels. My telegram of 31st ultimo. Release reported of one of Hindus
kidnapped on 5th December from Badbher. Zakka IKhels, in despair of getting
ransom, have now released him themselves. ‘Other Hindu, who is old and ill, is still
in Nazian.

No. 15,

From Secretary of State to Viceroy, dated 10tk April, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Zakka Khels. Your despatch of the 7th ultimo. I should be glad to know
the strength and constitution of the force you would employ in the event of opera-
tions, probable duration of the latter, and latest date to which it is possible to defer
starting. Having regard to present attitude of Amir and the pressure of other
sections of tribes, I am not satisfied of expediency, under present circumstances, of
immediate resort to punitive measures.

No. 16.

LFrom 1iceroy to Secretary of State, dated 22nd April, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Zakka Khel. Your telegram dated the 10th instant. Two brigades of
infantry with usual complement of mountain artillery, sappers and miners, &c.,
would constitute force to be employed in the event of sanction being given to opera-
tions against the tribe. A reserve of one brigade of infantry would also be held in
readiness. The 1st May is latest date to which commencement of operations can be
deferred. Two weeks' operations would probably suffice for permanent establish-
ment of our troops in the Bazar Valley, unless other sections of Afridis should join
against us. Lord Kitchener considers that postponement of operations till October
next would be preferable, and we accept his advice. We would propose in Septem-
ber next to re-submit case for your consideration.

No. 17.

From Secretary of State to Viceroy, dated 1st May, 1907.
(Telegraphic.)
Zakka Khel. Your telegram dated the 22nd ultimo. Proposal to defer
operations and re-submit case for consideration in September is entirely approved.




61

No. 18.

Letter from Government of India, Foreign Department, to the Right Honourable
Jokn Morley, 0.M., His Majesty's Secretary of State for India, dated
30th May, 1907. Received 17th June, 1907.

(Extract.)

In continuation of our despatch dated the 7th March, 1907, we have the honour
to forward, for the information of His Majesty’s Government, a copy of further
correspondence on the subject of the behaviour of the Zakka Khel Afridis. In
accordance with the decision conveyed in your telegram, dated the 1st May, 1907,
consideration of the question of punishing the Zakka Khel will be deferred till next
September.

Enclosure 1 in No. 18.

Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending the
16tk February, 1907.

The policemen kidnapped in Badbher raid were brought in by Malik Hafiz
Samundar Khan, Kamarai, from Nakhtarnao in Nazian and sent to the Superin-
tendent, Police, Peshawar, on the 12th instant. They stated that the Hindus kid-
napped along with them are still at Nakhtarnao. Certain Zakka Khel elders,
headed by Kazi Sheikh Karim of Bara, visited Malik Yar Muhammad Khan, Malik-
din Khel, at Chora, on the 12th instant, and requested him to intercede on their
behalf and ask Government to forgive their past offences in return for promises that
they would behave well in future, but the Malik replied that he would not approach
the authorities with any request on their behalf, since they had so often broken
promises and violated securities, and that, unless they thoroughly punished their
bad characters for past offences, there was no hope of Government making any
settlement with them. The elders returned disappointed and went to Mulla Saiyid
Akbar, Aka Khel, in Bara.

Enclosure 2 in No. 18.

Eaztract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending the
23rd February, 1907.

The Zakka Khels are now holding daily jirgas and consultations in Bazar
and this occupation has caused a temporary cessation of raiding into British terri-
tory. They look upon an expedition to Bazar as inevitable and the occupation of the
valley as probable. The tribesmen appear to be living in a state of some discomfort,
with all portable property packed and all women, children, and cattle prepared
for instant flight to Tirah or to Afghanistan. Each visit of the Political Agent
to Landi Kotal causes a stampede from the nearer villages of Bazar and the
inhabitants of these villages are feeling some of the inconveniences which they have
caused to the villages of the Peshawar Border during the last eight years.
Messengers from Bazar visit the Political Agent from time to time to ask
when the tribe will be summoned to “settle ” cases and to receive allowances. They
are informed that the matter has been referred to Government and that any orders
on the subject which may be received will be communicated to them.

Enclosure 3 in No. 18.
Exztract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending the 2nd March, 1907.

On the 27th February a deputation of eight Zakka Khel elders of Bazar
visited the Political Agent to sound him as to the intentions of Government regard-
ing the tribe. There were no men of note among the party. They stated that the
Zakka Khel were willing to make peace with Government on the usual terms, i.e.,
the deduction of a reasonable fine from their allowances and the return of a few
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articles of stolen property. They professed inability to accept responsibility for
Multan or his gang, but said that they were prepared to take oaths as to the
innocence of other members of the tribe. They stated that they could not punish
by tribal action any of the leaders in the numerous raids committed last year. They
were informed that the question of their treatment had been refprred to the Govern-
ment of India, and that as soon as any orders werc received they would be
communicated to them.

Enclosure 4 in No. 18.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 9th March, 1907,

The Bazar Zakka Khel sent a deputation to the‘Fnk'ir in Tirgih to ask him to gain
the support of the Afridi and Orakzai tribes in their dl.spute with Government, but
they received a very discouraging reply from the Fakir who stated that, while he
was ready to join and lead them himself, he could not guarantee the assistance of
the tribesmen, who were angry with the Zakka Khel for wantonly forcing on a
quarrel in which all stood to lose. Some of the more far-sighted of the
Zakka Khel elders arc urging their fellow tribesmen to send in to the Political
agent a jirga with a few rifles and some stolen property, as they argue that if
they can stave off punishment until the hot weather something will probably occur
to distract the attention of Government from them and they will escape with
the loss of their last year's allowances, which they already regard as forfeited.
A few days ago a few Aka Khel bad characters went to Bazar and told
Usman and other Zakka Khel that they were prepared to assist the Zakka Khel
in case Government took any active measures against them and that the Bazar
people might depend on their help.

Enclosure 5 in No. 18.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 16th March, 1907.

For the last month discussions have been going on among the Zakka Khel
as to the best means of evading the punishment which they know that they have
carned. Each elder is anxious to sacrifice his ncighbour lest he should suffer himself
and some of those who have received no share of the booty gained in the raids of
the past six or eight months have suggested that some of the leading raiders should
be arrested by the tribal jirga and handed over for punishment to Government and
that some of their property should also be given in. Unfortunately, they appear to
have reckoned without their hosts. The raiders, and their friends and supporters,
who were taken by surprise by this proposal, agreed, in order to gain time, to hold
jirgas with their fellow tribesmen to discuss the question emdg sent re-assuring
messages to the effect that they were prepared not only to make full restitution
but to sacrifice their liberty, and if necessary their lives, to the salvation of the clan.
After interminable discussions with their fellow tribesmen, during which they
had been privately sounding every man of note to know how far they could depend
upen them, the leaders of the raiding party came to the conclusion that they were
strong enqugh to defy the tribe. They announced to the jirga that they would do
nothins to carry out their promises and that they meant to keep what they had
got and to gain more. They then held forth to the cfiect that the best course was to
continue to raid, and Dadai, the most influential man in the tribe, sént off messengers
to the Zia-ud-din urging them to commit a raid and promising to send men to join
them. If the tribe really wished to put a stop to raiding and to punish the raiders
they could of course do so by taking a lashkar against them, as they did in the
case of Lal Baz and Inzarai last summer, but their utmost desire was to patch up
matters by a nominal restitution and now even this seems unlikely at present.
On the night of the 15th instant, a raiding party of about 16 men attacked
the Police post of Jangli Burj on the Kohat road, severely wounded one policeman
and_\ca,rried off the rifles, ammunition and clothing of the guard. According to
our information the gang was composed of about ten Zakka Khel and six Aka Khel,
the whole under the leadership of the notorious Muhammad Asghar, Zia-ud-din
Zakka Khel. It is reported from Bazar that the Zakka Khel intend to carry off, if
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possible, some man of importance, Khan, Malik, or Native Police Officer, from
the Peshawar horder and to offer to exchange him for the prisoners taken in the
baramta of 9th December, 1906.

Enclosure 6 in No. 18.

From the Foreign Secretary to the Government of India to the Chief Commissioner,
North-West Frountier Province, dated 17th March, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Your letter, dated 15th February. With reference to Khyber Diaries
weeks ending 2nd and 9th March, which appear to indicate less hostile attitude on
part of some of the Zakka Khel elders, Government of India would be glad of your
opinion as to present attitude of section as a whole and of the prospeets of cffecting
satisfactory amicable settlement with them: Do you see anything in present situa-
tion which would lead you to desire to alter recommendation subiritted in your lctter
of 3rd December last ?

Enclosure 7 in No. 18.

From the Chief Commissiones, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 18th March, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Your telegram, dated 17th March. Those amongst the Zakka Khel who
have gained nothing by raids but anticipate loss if section is punished have
tried to induce hostile party to settle with Government. Their endeavours have
ended in defiance on part of hostile party, who on night of 15th raided Jangli Burj
police tower, one constable being hadly hurt, and three rifles and ammunition an
property carried away. Report just received from Khyber that this was work of
gang of 16, mostly Zakka Khel. Roos-Keppel reports further raid intended. Present
attitude of section as a wholc is that they wish to escape.punishment without making
any adequate reparation for offences committed or give up any offenders. There-
fore difficult to see what settlement is possible, and I regret that the situation
compels me to adhere to recommendations submitted in my letter of the 3rd December
last. Zakka Khel, who went to Basawal, lined road as Amir passed; he averted
his head and ignored them.

Enclosure 8 in No. 18.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 23rd March, 1907.

. On the 20th instant some six or seven Zakka Khel came to Lala China
hringing with them one of the Hindus carried off from Badbher on the 6th December,
1906.  They consulted one of the Kuki Khel headmen as to the possibility of
exchanging the Hindu for one or more of the Zakka Khel prisoners taken in the
baramta of the 9th December, 1906. The Kuki Khel, however, refused to make
any such request for them, as he knew that it would be refused. The Zakka
Kbel then .went to Kajurai, taking the Hindu with them. They asked the
¢lders of the Malikdin, Kambar and Kamarai Afridis to make a truce among
themselves in order to hold jirgas with the Zakka Khel who were anxious
to obtain their support and assistance. This the elders refused, after some delibera-
tion, to do. The Zakka Khel were taking the Hindu to Bara, but the other Afridi
elders objected, saying that the man was now in their limits and that they werc
not going to share in the blame attaching to the Zakka Khel. After some argu-
ment the latter, who were tired of keeping and feeding the Hindu for so many
months and were despairing of getting any ransom for him, let him go, and he
was brought in to the Political Agent by Subadar Anar Gul, a Kamarai Afridi,
;ate of the‘Khyber Rifles. The other Hindu, Ganga Ram, of Badbher, is still
Imprisoned in Nakhtarnao, Nazian. He is a very old man and ill, and will probably
d}(‘ QOn t,l’xc 18th instant, information was received that a strong raiding party
9,;Zuk‘kn,}\he1 had gone in the direction of Kohat and Hangu. and a warning wis
wired to the Deputy Commissioner. Kohat. The raiders carried off a herd of cattle
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and two men from the neighbourhood of Hangu on the 20th. They were pursued
by Border Police and villagers and released the men, but got away with the cattle.
The well-known raider Multan, Anai Zakka I_\he],' has lef,t Bazar for Tirah
but it may be presumed that he intends to commit mischief. I‘}yle report that the
attack on the Jangli Burj Dolice Post was made by Zakka Khel is now fully

confirmed.

Enclosure 9 in No. 18

From the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Foreign Secretary to the Government of
India, dated 24th March, 1907.
(Telegraphic.) ) )
Reliable information received that raid on Marai near Hangu on 20th was
committed by Zakka Khel. Report that raid of 15th on Jungli Burj was committed
by Zakka Khel now fully confirmed.

Enclosure 10 in No. 18.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 28th March, 1907.

(Telegraphic.) .

Deputy Commissioner, Kohat, reports that about 6 p.m. on 20th instant, two
villagers of Khaizara, a hamlet of Marai, while returning with their 14 cattle from
grazing, were set upon close to Lorder, but within British territory, by ten armed
men who kidnapped the villagers and drove off cattle to Torapkha pass to the west of
Zera pass, where they were joined by further party of ten armed men. Whole gang
then apparently travelled in northerly direction through Tirah Sturi Khel limits
as far as Kukukadda hill, some cight or nine miles across border, where the two
villagers were released. Our two villagers say they recognized one of the offenders,
namely Phalwan Zia-ud-din. They also say that one of raiders was addressed as
Mir Azam, and that from talk and appearance whole gang appeared to be Afridis.
Gang were well armed with rifles, including two Lee-Metford rifles. Border Mili-
tary Police failed to come up with raiders. This is the raid alluded to by Political
Agent, Khyber, in his telegram addressed to you on 24th instant.

Enclosure 11 in No. 18.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 30th March, 1907.

A deputation of 150 Zakka XKhel elders went to the Kajurai Plain on the
28th instant and asked the Malikdin Khel to intercede on their behalf with Govern-
ment, hut the latter replied that they had done so so often and that the Zakka Khel
had npever kept their promises of good behaviour and that now the Zakka Khel
must prove that they were in earnest by punishing their bad characters, recovering
the stolen property and surrendering Multan, Usman, Dadai, and three or four
other leading bad characters to Government for trial hefore they could again inter-
cede with Government on their behalf. They further said that they had them-
selves petitioned the Political Agent not to hold them responsible for the misdeeds
of the Zakka Khel and would not now mix themselves up in Zakka Khel affairs.

The elders are still in Kajurai, trying to secure the sympathies and co-operation
of the Afridis, but with little success.

Enclosure 12 in No. 18,
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the weel: ending 6th 4 pril, 1907.

Reference last diary.  The Zakka Khel clders who had been to Kajurai
to eﬂept a reconciliation between the Malikdin Kliel and Kambar Khel, failed
1n their cpdcuvours and returned to Bazar on the 4th instant. They threatencd
to take sides with the Malikdin Khel in fighting and to stop the Kambar
Khel Kaddas from passing through their limits, hut neither of these threats could
frighten the Kambar Khel. The two clans have fortified themselves in sangars
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at different places in Kajurai and fighting is going on between them. The
Kambars are assisted bg the Sipahs and the Malikdins by the Kamarai, but the
former have the sympathy of the majority of the Khyber Afridis and are numeri-
cally stronger than the latter. On the 5th a fight took place between them in
which two men were killed and several woundefi:: The result would have been
disastrous had not the Kuki Khel of Jam and Kadam intervened and put a truce
between them for a few days. The period of truce is about to expire and both
parties are making preparations to rcsume hostilities. The Malikdin Khel have
applied to the Aka Khel and Zakka Khel for assistance and the Kambar Khel
are begging their Gara brethren, the Kukis, to save their honour. Some Zakka
Khel ei ers have remained in Kajurai to make a second attempt to mend matters,
but with no great hope of success. The Zakka Khel seem to think that, if peace is
made between these two leading clans, there will be more chance for them to move
the Afridis to take sides with them against Government, but the Afridis do not
at present appear to be inclined to do anything of the sort, as they themselves
are tired of the Zakka Khel, who are showing no signs of improving their hehaviour,
and who have taken no steps to punish their bad characters. They are simply hoping
to see fortune turn in their favour hy a change in the tide of Afridi politics. Their
raiding parties came twice to the neighbourhood of Barkai during the last few days,
but the tribal feuds going on in the Kajurai absorbed their attention so much that
they did not raid.

Enclosure 13 in No. 18.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 13th April, 1907,

A few days ago a party of about 60 Zakka Khel headed by :—

(1) Usman, Khusrogi,

(2) Niazai ”

(3) Dadai, Anai,

(4) Gulistan ,,

(5) Rahdar ,,
went to Jalalabad to pay their respects to the Amir before his departure for Kabul,
but they were not granted an interview by His Majesty and returned to their homes
during the week,

Enclosure 14 in No. 18.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 20th April, 1807.

The Kuki Khel jirga was received on the 16th instant and allowances for
the past half year were paid. They have behaved well and there were only a few
trifling cases to settle. They are at present much incensed with the Zakka Khel
and pressed to know whether the latter were to be punished, offering to assist in
every way. They were informed that, unless the Zakka Khel made reparation
and reformed, they would eventually have to be punished, but that Government
was at present occupied with more important matters and no orders regarding
the Zakka Khel had yet been received. The Malikdin jirga was receive
on the 19th instant, a truce for four days having been put for the purpose.
They had committed no offences of any sort and their allowances were paid in full.
It was known that they had promised the Zakka Khel that they would ascertain
the intentions of Government towards them, but the only reference made to Zakka
Khel was a request that two political prisoners in the Peshawar jail might be
released.  This request, bowever, led to some discussion during the course of which
the Malikdin Khel were told that, it they really wished to help the Zakkas to
a seftlement with Govermment, they should stand security for their future good
behaviour. This suggestion produced a storm of protest, all the Malikdin elders
saying that the quarrel of the Zakka Khel with Government was no concern of
theirs, that they would not he mixed wp in it at all, that they would mot help the
Zakka Khel cither by standing sccurity for them or in any other way, and that
they would never pay any fine tor them as they had not recovered a penny of the
amount which they paid on behalt of the Zakka Khel fine in 1898 No
messages of any sort have lately been received from the Zakka Khel, and
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‘docording to report they are waiting for the conclusion of the payment of
zﬁcooégilnc%s to th'go other c)I’ans to see whether their allowances are to be paid or
not.. The leaders of the tribe, Dadai, Usman, 'S!]Clkh Ahmad Nur, an_d OFhGTS,_.are
in Kajurai enjoying the opportunity of exercising their talents for intrigue in a
pmﬁta'E]é manner by acting as intermediaries and arbitrators in the feud, and
Multan has gone to Maidan with the whole of his family and possessions.

_ Enclosure 15 in No. 18.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 27th April, 1907,
1 .

m_’f,he Ka‘ﬁlba.r Khel, Sipah and Kamarai jirgas came in for their allowances
fi.,ng(., , week and were interviewed by the Political Agent .on t.h_e 23rd and
1, anstant.  All cases pending against them were settled and their allowances
for, t.'h'e', past five months were paid. They were paid Rs. 1,300 as compensation
for, land takeu up for the doubling of the Khyber road. None of these clans made
apy petition on behalf of the Zakka Khel. The Zakka Kl_lel held a jirga in Bazar
on the 27th April, 1907, and decided to turn out from their “garhis” at China the
.families and children of the near relations of I.al Baz and Inzarai who were killed
by the Zakka Khel for giving assistance and information to the Political Agent
last year. The jirga destroyed their crops and are threatening to burn their
villages, for no other fault except that they happen to be the near relations of the
unfortunate men killed.

No. 19.
From Viceroy to the Secretary of State, dated 31st October, 1907.

(Telegraphic.) .
On 28th October last, at 6.30 p.m., band of Afridis, estimated number
12 to 30, appeared at Pabbi, on railway between Naushera and Peshawar, and seized
tlque ,I:fi dus and proceeded with them towards Peshawar, capturing on the way
“two Hin‘czl‘u patwaris.  Village pursuit party turned out and followed; near railway
station, raiders came upon detachment of 45th Sikhs camped there. The Havildar
in command enquired what was happening. Raiders replied with a volley, wound-
ing severely one sepoy and a Zamindar. Sikhs fired in reply, causing raiders to
abandon Hindus and retreat by Cherat Road. On receipt of news at Peshawar,
pelice and sepoys were sent out in several directions to intercept party, raiders
roceedings to Nasargarhi, where they robbed 10 cartmen, thence to Turnab, where
indu Revenue Extra Assistant Commissioner was in camp; they wounded latter
-with knife, and would have carried him off, but he could not ride or walk. They
looted his-tents and carried off his three horses towards Hazar Khani; they were
challenged about 3 a.m..by a force of police on Kohat road about 2 miles from
Peshawar. .They replied with a volley, wounding two constables, and a running
fight ensued in which one raider was apparently wounded, and horses and heavy
loot had to be abaidoned near Siahband. Raiders escaped in darkness. Chief
Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, telegraphs that he has no definite
information as to the identity cf raiders, hut in view of Khyber reports they were
probably Zakka Khels.

No. 20.

. From Viceroy to Secrctary of State, dated 25th November, 1907,

(‘Telegraphic.)
: « Please sec my, telegram of 31st ultimo. Situation as regards Zakka Khel
is reported by Chief Commissioner as very unsatisfactory. Adequate protection of
our frontier against raids by this section of the Afridis has been found to be
tmpossible. as was anticipated in our despateh of 7th March last.  Besides the raid
an Pabbi. which was reporled m my telegram of 31st Qetober, other serious raids,
detailed below, have been committed by Afridis Lelonsing mainly to the Zakka
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Khel section, instigated apparently by Dadai and Multan. The following are
raids referred to:— o R
"~ (1.) An attack was made on the village of Samarai in the Kohat District on
the 5th October. Two Hindus were ahducted and one villager killed.
(2.) The village of Lachi in the Kohat District was attacked by a gang of
30 men on the night of the 13th November. The post office was looted,
one villager was killed, and three were wounded. A party of Border
Military Police were intercepted by the raiders, who killed two of the
police and wounded two otﬁers, one of whom has since died. The
raiders carried off loot, including jewels, and much greater damage
would have been done had it not heen for the conduct of the villagers.
Although the frontier was guarded, the raiders made good their
escape with the loss of two men, one of whom was killed by the Lachi
Border Military Police and the other by a picket of the 56th Rifles
near Hangu. :
(3.) On the 7th %\Iovember a similar raid, which involved the abduction of
three Hindus and considerable loss of property, was committed at
Banda Daud Shah in the Kohat district. The perpetrators of this
raid have not, however, been yet fully traced. The places where the
foregoing outrages were committed are all far from the frontier.
(4.) On the night of 22nd November, some shots were fired at Bara Fort by
a similar band. The garrison of Border Military Police, which turned
out, fell into an ambuscade 200 yards from the fort. At the first
discharge four of the police were wounded. One of the raiders was
wounded.

A new feature in these raids is the practice of abducting Hindus. The attack
on Bara Fort is regarded by the Chief Commissioner as a very deliberate act of
bostility against Government. Immunity of the Zakka Khels from punishment may,
in his opinion, lead to other sections and tribes joining them, unless we take prompt
action; and for this purpose he can only recommend the measures already proposed
for the occupation of the Bazar Valley. I am afraid that it will soon become
necessary to punish the Zakka Khels, and I cannot at present devise alternative
measures to those which have already becn submitted to you, as the policy of
inactivity and reliance on pressure from other tribal sections has not, as I antici-
pated, been attended by success. I will address you again as to the actual measures
which we consider necessary. In thc meantime, I have forwarded to you copies of
the letters and telegraphic reports which have been received from the Chief
Commissioner. '

No. 21.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 30th November, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

The following is in continuation of my telegram of 25th November as to Zakka,
Khel raids. Chief Commissioner reports two further raids,—(1) in Peshawar on
cattle at Matanni, when post of Border Police was fired on, and (2) a raid in Kohat
near Marai. Damage caused was not serious. In the Marai case the raiders were
followed up by parties of regular troops, Border Police, and villagers, and two of
the raiders were killed, both of whom are believed to be Zakka Khels. Bodies have
been sent to Kohat for identification. The behaviour of the villagers was very good,
and the chigha of one section of Bar Muhammad Khel Orakzai, across the border,
co-operated by holding one of the lines of retreat. It is said that a larger body of
raiders under Multan is in waiting in the Aka Khel country. The Chief Commis-
Sioner once more respectfully urges that we should not defer action against this
tribe, as he anticipates that lawlessness will spread. He pronounces the position
of the villagers, police, and Border Military Police to be intolerable. The Zakka
Khel tribesmen have declared a feud acainst the Border Military Police. There
has been a show of opposition by Khuda Khel and Khwaizai Mohmand Afghan
subjects to the examination of the railway alignment at Smatzai and Shinpokh by
Mr. Johns, of the Public Works Department, with an escort of 100 Khyber Rifles.



68

Chief Commissioner attributes this also to t}_m continued impunity of Zakka Khe),
whereby lawlessness along the frontier is being encouraged. No damage has beep
done in this case, and adequate measures for the protection of the party and of the
British villages concerned have been taken by the Political Agent, Khyber.

No. 22.

From Secretary of State to Viceroy, dated 3rd December, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)
With reference to your telegram of 30th, please let me have information on

following points :—(1) Is it certain that raiders into Kohat were Zakkas; (2) were
the two men killed found to be Zakka Khels or were they not?

No. 238.

From Secretary of State to Viceroy, dated 4th December, 1907,
(Telegraphic.)

Your telegrams of the 25th and 30th ultimo as to the Zakka Khel. Please keep
me fully informed as to course of events.

No. 24.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 5th December, 1907.
(Telegraphic.)
Your telegram on the subject of Zakka Khel, dated 3rd instant. There seems
to be no doubt that raids reported were all the work of gangs mainly composed of
Zakka Khel. The Political Agent, Khyber, reports that the two raiders who were

killed in the Marai affair were Rokhan Khusrogi and Yardin Zia-ud-din, both Zakka
Kbel. The former, usually called Rokhan Karigar, was a very notorious raider.

No. 25.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 11th December, 1907.
(Telegraphic.)

Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, reports that on
5th December a gang of 16 persons, of whom most have been recognised as Zakka
Khels, made a raid on the village of Masho Khel near Bara. A bania was killed,
and his shop looted. Some Zakka Khels, on the same day, captured 12 mules
working on the Khyher road near Fort Maude, and carried them off to Bazar.
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No. 26.

Papers transmitted by the Government of India by the mail of bth
and 12th December, 1907. Received 21st and 28th December,
1907.

Enclosure 1 in No. 26.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 27th November, 1907,

(Telegraphic.) '

Captain Brown, who is with Mr. Johns at Bar Ugda, wires to-day to Political,
Khyber :—Begins. Two hundred Mohmands appear holding hills oppositc Kuz
Ugda rendering passage down river impossible. They refuse to send jirga or treat
in any way. Mohmands are firing on Smatzai and Shinpokh. Have sent for
Hasmzai Jirga. Camp stops at Bar Ugda till situation clears or other orders are
received. Mohmands reported holding position opposite Narai.  Ends. If
Mohmands maintain attitude of opposition Johns will be unable to examine this
portion of river route. He will meanwhile examine Harington's line.  Our
arrangements are confined to ensuring safety of Shilman.

Enclosure 2 in No. 26.

From the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Foreign Secretary to the Government of
India, dated 27th November, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Captain Brown reports, dated Camp Bar Ugda this morning, that Smatzai and
Shinpokh have been under constant fire from across the river for the last three days.
He started for Kuz Ugda yesterday and, on getting near the river, came under a
very heavy fire from the hills on the left bank. ©Captain Brown saw one party of
about 120 men, and according to lecal information the Mohmands numbered three
to four hundred Khwaizai and Khuda Khel. Captain Brown did not reply to their
fire, as he hoped to arrange matters peaceably. He sent a Shilmani Mulla across
to speak to the enemy, who stated they would not treat until their full jirga had
assembled in two days’ time. The Mulla behaved with great gallantry, swimming
the river under a heavy fire.

Enclosure 3 in No. 26.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 29th November, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram of 27th November. Roos-Keppel wires2Sthinstant:—
Begins. Camp Loi Shilman, 28th November. Mr. Johns states that if he
can see river at Shinilo Gudr he will not require to go down from Kuz
Ugda. I will arrange for him to go to Shinilo to-morrow, and it is improbable
that he will be interfered with. This will complete his work, as he has seen line
from Smatzai to Kuz Ugda and from mile 300 to Warsak, besides completing his
inspection of ‘Harington's line. Strong force of Khuda Khel and Khwaizai
Mohmands holding left bank of river from Palosi down. They are determined
not to allow railway survey, but are not otherwise aggressive. It is reported that
firing on Smatzai and Shinpokh has ceased. I have three hundred men here to-day
and am expecting two hundred more to-morrow, but I shall now order these to stand
fast at Landi Kotal, as T do not think they will be required here. The Khwaizai
sent a message to Captain Brown last night that they would treat with him if he
would send a jirga across the river to them, and he replied that they had fired upon
us without provocation and that if they had any explanation to give or representa-
tion to make they could come to Shilman. It does not appear necessary now to
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with them in any way, so as soon as Mr. Johns’ work is completed I shall make
::;ec?lt arrangements as};nayybe required for the safety of Shilman and thep withdraw
the force here as quickly as possible, when the Mohmand gathering will probably
fade away. Ends. I have wired directing Mr. Johns to return to Pf;shawar after
seeing Shinilo, and Roos-Keppel to withdraw Khyber Rifles from Shllmgn as soon
as practicable. I have heard direct from Mr. Johns that he has collected all datga
necessary for his report.

Enclosure 4 in No. 26.

From the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Foreign Secretary to the Government of
India, dated 30th November, 1907
(Telegraphic.) o .
Mr. Johns has left Shilman, and all the Khyber Rifles are returning to Landi
Kotal to-day.

Enclosure 5 in No. 26.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign
Secretary to the Government of India, dated 2nd December, 1907,

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram of 20th November. Mr. Johns has returned to
Peshawar and proceeds to Lucknow, whence he will send his report. Roos-Keppel
with all Khyber Rifles returned to Landi Kotal on 30th November, there being no
apparent necessity for his remaining longer.

Enclosure 6 in No. 26.

From the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Foreign Secretary to the Government of
India, dated 4th December, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Messenger from Jamal of Smatzai arrived here yesterday evening, and stated
that yesterday morning a large body of men, estimated at five hundred, appeared
opposite Smatzai and without warning opened firc on the people. Two cows were
killed and the people took refuge in the village. It is stated that the force attack-
ing Smatzai consists of Shinwaris of Ningrahar, Lalpura and Khuda Khel
Mohmands and a few Khwaizai. The Mohmand Lashkar who were holding the
left bank of the river from Palosi down, dispersed on the 1st instant.

Enclosure 7 in No. 26.

From the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Foreign Secretary to the Government of
India, dated 4th December, 1907.
(Telegraphic.)
__ Messenger from Smatzai reports that firing on Smatzai was kept up from dawn
till dark yesterday. No firing last night and no sign of enemy up to 8 o’clock this
morning, though it is believed that they have not left.

Enclosure 8 in No. 26.

From the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Foreign Secretary to the Government of
India, dated 5th December, 1907. .
{Telegraphic.)
Number of Lashkar opposite Smatzai appears to have been much exaggerated,
and Lashkar is believed to consist mainly of Mohmands. Messenger from Smatzai
reports a little firing this morning.
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Enclosure 9 in No. 28,

From the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Foreiyn Secretary to the Government of India,
dated 66 December, 1907,
(Tele%raghic.) .
Jamal of Smatzai has arrived and reports that Lashkar opposite Smatzai has
broken up and gone to Lalpura. They called out to Shilmanis that they had fired
on Smatzai by mistake, having been informed that it was occupied by troops. They
may return, but this seems improbable.

No. 27.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 4th January, 1808,

(Telegraphic.)
Following dated 4th January from Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier
Province : — .
“Transport post at Jalozai in Peshawar district was attacked last night
by large raiding gang, and one dufladar and one driver were wounded
and 41 Government mules carried off.”
Jalozai is half-way between Pabbi and Cherat.

No. 28.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 8th January, 1908.
(Telegraphic.)
My telegram of 4th January. Raid on transport post, Jalozai. Raiders com-

prised 15 Zakka Khel and a few others. The wounded Duffadar and driver have
since died.

No. 29.

Letter from the Government of India, Foreign Department, to the Right Honourable
John Morley, O.M., His Majesty’'s Secretary of State for India, dated
9th January, 1908. Received 25th January, 1908.

(Extract.)

In continuation of our despatch, dated the 30th May, 1907, we have the honour
to forward further correspondence on the subject of the Zakka Khel Afridis. In
our despatch of the 7th March, 1907, we gave an account of the situation as it
then presented itself, pointing out that the conduct of the tribe had for a long
time previously been most contumacious, that they had adopted an openly hostile
attitude towards Government, and that their immunity from punishment was
reported to be having the worst effect on the frontier tribes. We described the
disadvantages of merely sending a punitive expedition into the Bazar Valley
and thereafter retiring, and the advantages which we foresaw would result from
our remaining and administering the valley, and we said that, if you were unable
to agree with us that an expedition against the Zakka Khel section was advisable,
and if you did not consider that any interference with tribal territory was at the
time justifiable, we werc afraid that it would he impossible adequately to protect
our territory from raids by the Zakka Khel, and that it seemed to us that the only
course that we could follow was to wait until the Zakka Khel should by their hostile
acts render military operations indispensable. On his return from India to
Afghanistan the Amir openly discouraged the advances made to him by the Afridis,
and during March, 1907, there were indications of slight improvement in the
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attitude of some of the Zaklka Khel elders, and we asked the Chief Commissioner of
the North-West Frontier Province his opinion as to the prospects of effecting g
satisfactory amicable settlement. He replied on the 18th March that those amgn
the tribesmen who had gained nothing by raids, but anticipated loss if thg
section were punished, had tried to induce the hostile party to scttle witﬁ
Government, but their endeavours had ended in defiance on the part of the
hostile party, and the object of the section as a whole was to escape punishe
ment without making any adequate reparation for past offences or crivin_
up any offenders. He was therefore compelled to adhere to his recomrﬁendf
tion for the occupation of the Bazar Valley, entailing the subjugation of the peopl
by troops, and the building of posts at important points in the country to bg hgl:i3
by Khyber Rifles. We informed you of Sir Harold Deane’s views in His Excellen
the Viceroy's telegram of the 24th March. Before the end of the month two niocy
raids had been added to the list of Zakka Khel offences: in the first, on the niorlrfn3
of the 15th, a gang of 15 men raided the Jangli Burj police tower sev’erely in'ur?nlb
a constable and carrying off three rifles and other property: in the second E])n ‘rhg
20th, two villagers and some cattle were carried off from near Marai in the Koh‘a(t3
district. The villagers were subsequently released. On the 10th April, you tele
grapiied to us asking, in the event of operations being sanctioned what were thz;
constitution and strength of the force to be employed, the latest date to which start
ing could be postponed, and the probable duration of operations. You added fhai
in the existing circumstances you were not persuaded that it was expedient imme
diately to resort to punitive measures. We replied to you by teiegra.ph on the-
22nd April, furnishing the information called for, and stating that, in the o inion
of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chicf, it would he pfcferal’)le to ()Is)t on
operations until the month of October. We stated that we proposed to rlg-sugmii
the case for your consideration in September. During the summer raids by th
Zakka Khel temporarily ceased. The allowances due to them in June amm)lrnteg
to Rs. 11,900; the fines outstanding aggregated Rs. 13,775, and the claims agai
the section totalled Rs. 19,771-2-0, thoug‘li the latter ’\ver,e probésbl exascrztetl"a}tnfit
On finding that there was no intention to call their jirga i)lll ‘alognbcr a"C'th.
the other Afridi sections to receive their allowances, a Z ;kka Khel '\'Hcr
came in uninvited to Landi Kotal on the 2nd June, and announced that the Jllfbs
come to make peace with Government, to hear the charges against the sectioiz ad
::')els':tt;f)stgil caasczls. O;:ibeixtlgbinformed of the claims againstt:) them, they said tzlllltley
Te a nd could not be entertained. They we ed '
stolen property which accused men might acknowle)écrg (‘cf)ebé)liflp‘flll:g t(())ss,I"eesS;['Orrel3 ané‘i
to return three of the rifles taken from the Pahbbi Taolice station ’Il)‘he lqd,t(}lnt
the system of deducting fines from the allowances must be stopped ;ytlslal‘c the'l
oath must be accepted in all cases; that they would accept no‘r%}s) on 'ib%’t felr
raiders passing through their country to Afghanistan; tlll)at in nopcirscurln;t};n ‘c;r
would they surrender offenders for pun'ishment? and that all restrictions on me bz :
(t)}flet.}lft:l;(lilkl;e gouigdto_Kabul must be removed. Their attitude, in sllort,bshowe(inth;i
ma'gters ha]‘(r)i;ea' esire to come to a settlempnt, and they returned to Bazar without
I : g in any way advanced. During July and August many Zakka Khel
including all the most notorious raiders, vits’itcd Kabul DW'ithi y f ;tl :c Sf
Klsll(l)‘naettl}lll‘;n rrfrom.Kabutl, offences began to be reported with 11nce1;s?nge;ig11?z}1;it(;
g the more 1mportant may be ci C ing :— 5 . g
of some 30 Zakka Khel under yDad;ilt;‘gi(;é]cT flztlal(;vivlllgg(; oi‘p g o Qc:mbolr aKg%;ng
distriet, killing one Muhammadan and carrying off t i ui:lr.nﬂrﬂl  ert to the
value of Rs. 600, On 98th onack rrying off two Hindus and property to the
Pabbi in the Boshom oot ctober a gang of 30 Afridis, manly Zakka Khel, attacked
hawar district and seized five Hindus. They fired on arty of
;ii)(;}gls{cs(xit ‘:L}:]edstat.10n(,1 %eri(})lusl]_\s wounding a sepoy and a zamindar. At I‘grrrl)’llr) %,hgy
acked and wounded the District Re > Officer i ' e d ofF
Chuprassi and horses. En route thelx?ol":fl?kl)l(fd (t)glcecrar'lt?ngﬁmpNigg §a£1};1e(i’ Oﬁt]]lls
i}r:goulntgred a party of police and fired on them, woundiné two éons’?;bil(::arH;{;z
On/yléztih E\ﬁ)oggﬁllég?nt{nost.lof their heavy booty and retreated into tribal ’[be.rritory.
52 men, main] 7akk]'f I‘{,Lllhllgc Vof Lachi in the Kohat district was attacked by
and threo wour}lldgd s ;eal{de I:he Post Office was looted and one villager killed
on them, killing o ard “'oundgiwm‘ftv a It)}?rty of Border Military Police and fired
and other property. On 20th Ngvéxl%e(; : r:im-'ll‘hey carried off four rifles, jewels,
village near the Bova Fort. Tho coon ilar gang under Dadai fired on a
. garrison of Border Military Police turned out and
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were at once attacked, two men being killed and two wounded at the first discharge.
On 24th November a large gang of Zakka Khel attacked the Marai village in Kohat,
but were driven off by the troops and villagers with a loss of two men killed
and three wounded, all Zakka Khel. ‘Onc of the men killed was Rokhan Karigar,
Khusrogi, a well-known raider of the Dadai faction. On 25th Novemher Multan
with some 35 Zakka Khel carried off 400 goats from Matanni and attacked a police

ost, where they were repulsed. On 5th December the village of Masho Khel in
the Peshawar district was attacked and a hania’s shop locted and the owncr killed
by a gang of 16 persons, mainly Zakka Khel, and on the same day 12 mules working
on the Khyber Road near Jamrud were carried off to Bazar by the Zakka Khel.
It must not be supposed that these raids are mere border affairs such as might
reasonably, in the circumstances of the frontier, be passed over without very serious
notice or dealt with by local reprisals.  Many of them, and those the most important,
are organised raids by large and well-armed hodies of men on peaceful villages far
in the interior of our administered districts or direct attacks upon Government posts
and property, a fact which, in our opinion, nccessitates much more stringent action
on our patt. Meanwhile the attitude of the Zakka Khel remains dehant. The
position, in short, scems to us to have arrived, when the conduct of this truculent
section leaves no alternative but to adopt punitive measures. On the 17th December,
we enquired from Sir Harold Deane what, in his opinion, would be the effect
on the Afridis and border tribes in Afghanistan, if we now took action again
the Zakka Khel and occupied the Bazar Valley. He replied on the same
day as follows:—“Judging from the present attitude of the Afridis there
is no disposition on the part of other section to identify themselves with
the Zakka Khel, and there is no reason to anticipate that they would join
in opposing our advance into Bazar. Until the punishment of the Zakka
Khel has been carried out, it is impossible to predict the future attitude of other
Afridis, to whom the occupation of Bazar will doubtless he distasteful, but who, at
the same time, have no desire to give Government cause for again entering Tirah.
The only Afghan border tribe of any importance, viz., the Sangu Khel Shinwaris,
have no interest in Bazar or Tirah, and I see no reason to anticipate trouble from
them.” Telegraphing again, three days later, Sir Harold Deane suggested that he
should be permitted to summon the Afridi jirga, and clearly tell the clans that, unless
they put an end to the present state of aflairs created by the Zakka Khel, Govern-
ment had decided to punish that section at once. If, he said, the Afridis express
inahility or unwillingness to coerce the Zakka Khel, and to take responsibility for
their future behaviour, it would be tantamount to a public expression of our right
to adopt coercive measures ourselves, and would deprive them of any excuse for
joining the Zaklka Khel. It may be that action in this direction may obviate the
necessity for punitive measures, and though we confess that we do not anticipate this
with confidence, we agree that every possible alternative should be exbausted before
having recourse to such measures ourselves. We accordingly ask your sanction to
authorise Sir Harold Deane to call in a jirga of the Afridi clans, and to announce
to them that, if the tribe as a whole refuse actively to insist on the Zakka Khel
affording reparation for the past and behaving in a proper and orderly manner, or if,
‘after undertaking to do this, they fail to carry out their engagements, the Govern-
ment of India will be compelled to take whatever steps they may consider advisable
to punish the Zakka Khel scction at such time as may be considered best.
We should explain that we do not contemplate the despatch of a punitive
expedition on the old lines, which included the burning of villages, blowing up
houses, cutting down and ringing fruit trees and other acts of destruction. The
action that we would propose to take would probably include the following
measures :—The recovery of a fine and the disarmament of the section. The capture
and trial of the ringleaders and those implicated in the recent raids. The construc-
tion of a road which would in the future contain this section and prevent their
escape into the inaccessible regions to which they now resort. The road would be
maintained on lines similar to those prevailing with regard to the Khyber, so far as
they are applicable. The actual offenders in the recent raids and their supporters,
if captured, would be dealt with by suitable tribunals locally assembled. It would
be undesirable for Sir H. Deane to announce definitely that it is intended to send
a force into the Zakka Khel country. If the other sections refuse or fail to keep
them in order, he would report the fact, and the military authorities would then
be requested to put into action the scheme which they have prepared. We ask,
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however, that, in the event of the failure of thp reference to the Afridi jirga, we
may be allowed discretion to order the advance into the Bazar Valley whenever this
may seem desirable. It is most desirable that the movement should be made suddenly
and without previous notice or discussion which may lead to premature disclosure
of our plans, and possibly involve other sections in opposition to the _advance_
We think it desirable, as was done in the case of t]_Je Mohmands in 1897,
to inform the Amir of our intentions before we take coercive measures against the
Zakka Khel. As the most favourable season for military operations is drawing near,
we should be glad to receive an answer to this despatch by telegraph.

Enclosure 1 in No. 29.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending the 4th May, 1907,

The Zakka Khel are reported to have held a meeting at China on the
28th April to discuss their future course of action. They decided to do nothing
definite until the completion of the harvesting of their crops, which will take place
in the latter half of May. One of the regular messengers of the Political Agent
brought in a letter without signature or seals, purporting to be frqm the Zakka Khel
Jirga, in which they referred vaguely to services they had previously rendered to
Government, and stated that they had recovered some stolen property from thieves.
The bearer of the letter brought a verbal message to the effect that the Zakka Khel
Jirga was willing to come In to visit the Political Agent and make peace with
Government if formally summoned and guaranteed honourable and liberal treatment.
The messenger was told to reply that the Political Agent did not purpose to summon
the jirga, but that he intended to go to Landi Kotal within a week, and that the
Zakka Khel might visit him there 1f they had any serious proposals to advance for
the settlement of the numerous cases against them. A later messenger reports
that the receipt of this reply has again unsettled the tribe, as the majority consider
that by holding out and refusing to make any settlement, Government will be forced
to condone their past offences and to pay their allowances.

Enclosure 2 in No. 29.
Eztract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending the 11th May, 1907.

Reference diary for the week ending 2nd February, 1907. Of the camels
raided by the Zakka Khel, 19 were ransomed by the owners through Khan Bahadur
Malik Yar Muhammad Khan, Malikdin Khel of Chora, during the week.

Enclosure 3 in No. 29.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the weelk ending the 18¢h May, 1907.

The Bazar Zakka Khel arc threatening the relations of Lal Baz and Inzarai,
who were killed last year for giving assistance to the authorities in capturing out-
laws at Tandai, that, unless they can induce the Khyber authorities to pardon the
Zakka Khel for their misbehaviour, they will burn their villages and turn them
all out of the country. Usman went so far as to occupy one of their garkis, but the
Jirga subsequently decided that they would wait for a month more and take up
the case again if not sent for by the Political Agent. The Zakka Khel exacted
a large number of sheep from the Afridis passing through their limits on
their way back to Tirah with their kaddas, as transit duty. Now that the
Afridis have returncd to their homes in Tirah, they have re-opened  their
private feuds and are prosecuting them vigorously. No less than five men, includ-
ing one Payao, a leading Anai Zakka Khel elder, were killed during the week.
On the 18th instant, Muhammad Asghar, the notorious Zia-ud-din raider.
who had heen for many vears the leader of raids into the Kohat District, was killed
at Shin Kamar by a Zia-ud-din in the course of a jirga. It is stated that the elders
wanted him to come down and settle his cases with the Political Agent, but as he
persistently refused”to do so, and they could not bring him in by force, they shot
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him dead. Some say that he was killed in a private feud and the real reason for
his murder is being enquired into. Dad Shah, one of the Zakka Khel prisoners
taken in the baramta of Deccmber last, was waylaid by bis enemices in Bazar and
killed on his way to his home on release.

Enclosure 4 in No. 29.
Extract from the Khyber DPolitical Diary jor the week ending the st June, 1907.

The Zakka Khel Afridis have becen holding jirgas in Bazar almost every
day for the last week or two to decide what they should say to the Political Agent,
at Landi Kotal, where they propose to visit him. Much tall talk was indulged in
and many defiant resolutions passed. The tribesmen seem to have quite recovered
from the fear of purnishment which they felt in the spring. Their jirga arrived in the
Khyber villages on the 1st June en route to Landi Kotal. The murder of Muhammad
Asghar, the Zia-ud-din raider, has caused a great stir in Tirah. Muhammad Asghar
was a man of note in the tribe and was a bold and daring lcader of raids. He had
amassed much property by raiding, and was generally respected and liked. The way
of his murder was that three men with whom he had a hereditary feud bad given
security that they would suspend the feud for a certain time. Feeling secure in
this, Muhammad Asghar relaxed his caution and came to a tribal assembly at Shin
Kamar without followers. His three enemies had hired a fourth man who openly
shot him in the assembly. As the people did not know how many of those present
were interested in the murder, no one moved or protested until the meeting broke
up in the usual way, when Muhammad Asghar's relations went hot foot to Tirah
and seized two villages helonging to Yar Ghulam, uncle ¢f Ghulam Muhaiy-ud-din,
the assassin. Yar Ghulam’s family took refuge with Sahib Alam, a friend and
neighbour. The Mullas then took a hand, and preaching that Ghulam Mohaiy-ud-
din had been hired by the Feringhi to murder Muhammad Asghar, drove out all his
relations and occupied their villages after burning Yar Ghulman’s property. His
relations, about 40 in number, have taken refuge in the Aka IChel country.
An old feud between the notorious Zakka Khel Dakait, Multan, and cne
Santak, a Shan Khel Zakka Khel, was revived during the week, and is being
vi%qrously prosecuted. Some of the Zakka Khel elders have volunteered to
arbitrate between the rival parties.

Enclosure 5 in No. 29.
Lxtract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending the 8th June, 1907.

The Zakka IKhel jirga, which arrived in the Khyber on the 1st instant,
visited the Political Agent at Landi Kotal on the 2nd and 3rd. They announced,
on arrival, that they had come to make peace with Government, but their attitude
was independent, and it was obvious that to come to any sort of settlement with
them, all concessions must be on our side. The proceedings of the jirga have been
separately reported. The jirga left on the evening of the 3rd instant, saying that
they would discuss matters among themselves in the Khyber villages and return next
day, but on the 4th they all left for Bazar on the transparent pretext that they
feared arrest. The leaders of the “ War party,” Dadai, Usman, Multan, Zamir,
and others, had refused to accompany the jirga to Landi Kotal but were waiting
1ts return on the Bazar border. On arrival in Bazar on the morning of the
S5th instant the jirga dispersed, but a number of the leading elders proceeded to
Chura to discuss matters with Malik Yar Muhammad Khan, Malikdin Khel.
Yar Muhammad’s attitude is curious, as he has always taken the lead among
the Afridi Maliks in pressing for the punishment of the Zakka I{hel and for. the
occupation of Bazar, but he is intensely jealous of the two Zakka Khel Maliks who
have been working well to bring their tribe to reason and he sees that any settlement
In which they are concerned must result in strengthening their position to an extent
which will be distasteful to him. It is possible also that it may have dawned upen
him that an occupation of Bazar, or a settlement which would strengthen our hold
on the Zakka Khel, might be inconvenient to him and might lower his importance.

le 1s anxious that negotiations with the Bazar tribes should be conducted through
him and not through the Zakka Khel Maliks.
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Enclosure 6 in No. 29.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the
Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated
14th June, 1907.

With reference to the previous correspondence, I have the honour to forward,
for the consideration of the Government of India, a copy of letter, dated 5th June,
1907, from the Political Agent, Khyber, dealing with the present attitude of the
Zakka Khel and proposing that the allowances now due to the clan, amounting to
Rs. 11,900, shoultf be confiscated and utilised in settlement of thf; claims for com-
pensation made b British subjects on account of losses suffered in the_ raids com-
mitted by the Zakka Khel during the last twelve months. These claims amount
to Rs. 19,771-12-0, but, as pointed out by the Political Agent in his letter, are
doubtless exaggerated. ‘ '

2. The present position of affairs, as described by Major Roos-Keppel, more
than confirms my report on the attitude of the tribe, submitted in my telegram
dated 18th March, 1907, and it is evident from the Political Agent's letter
that the atfitude of the Zakka Khel continues unconciliatory and uncompromising.
There appears to be no probability of a satisfactory settlement with a clan who,
instead of offering redress for their offences, put forward a number of preposterous
and impossible proposals. The fact that the principal offenders were present at
the jirga held hefore the Zakka Khel attended at Landi Kotal and that they openly
refused to be bound by any agreement which the tribe might come to with Govern-
ment, is in itself sufficient indication that there is at present no hope of a satis-
factory settlement.

3. There seems to be no immediate necessity for finally confiscating the accumu-
lated allowances and for paying them to the injured parties, until Government have
definitely decided what action, if any, is to be taken in regard to the Zakka Khel.
I would, however, ask for sanction to the accumulated allowances being placed
meanwhile in deposit, with a view to meeting claims for compensation later.

Annexure.

Letter from the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Secretary to the Chief Conunissioner, North-West
’ Frontier Province, dated 5th June, 1907.

(Extract.)

In continuation of my letter of the 7th February, 1907, I have the honour to report,
with regard to the Zakka Khel Afridis, that in February and March last, rumours were widely
current in Peshawar and on the border that a punitive expedition was to be sent against the
tribe. This rumour put the Zakka Khel on the defensive and deterred them from raiding
for the time, as they feared that any night the Bazar Valley might be surprised. They
organised a syetem of defence and for many weeks, in all weathers, their pickets
occupied the numerous passes leading from the Khyber to the Bazar Valley. By
the beginning of April, when the fear of invasion had begun to pass away, the usual
messages were sent to all the other Afridi tribes to come in to receive their annual allowances,
and the Zakka Khel waited to see whether they would be sent for or not, as they still hoped
that we would be anxious to pateh up some sort of a * settlement”™ Ly which they would
retain their gains by paying a nominal fine in return for a free pardon. During this month
they had approached each clan of the Afridis in order to induce them to {ake their part.
but without success. and al the distribution of the allowances none of the jirgas expressed
any svmpathy with the Zakka Khel, while some openly said that they would be glad 1o see them
punished. Earlyin day it became obvious o the Zakka Khel that it was not intended to summon
them, so they began to send messages asking why {ley had not been invited, and enquiring
whether they might come. in to discuss maiters. As the sending of an invitation to them
would have implied that it was intended to pay their allowances, their messages were invaria-
ably given the reply that no invitation would be sent. but that the jirga could come in at
any convenient time to see the Polilical Agent, to ask any questions, or to make any pro-
posals. A lingering fear of attack induced them to cause delays until the crops of the Bazar
Valley were harvested and threshed, and this interval was employed in sending childish
Diessages regarding the nature of {heir reception. To these messages, which were sent .\‘\'lﬂ.l
the object of guining time, no replies were given. By the 25th May u fully representative jirgs,
ineluding all 1he leading dalkaits, hadl assembled in Bazar, and a week was spent in discussions
as 1o the demads to be put forth by {he jirga and the extent of concession to he made by them.
On the 1st June, the jirga crossed into {he Khyber villages, bui the more notorious
raiders and organisers of raids, such as Multan, Usman, Zamir, and Dadai, refused to accom-
pany it or to he bound by its decisions. The jirga came to Landi Kotal on the 2nd, and that
and the following day were spent in discussions with them. The jirga announced that they
had come to make peace with Government, 1o hear the charges against the tribe, and to settle
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the cases. They were informed of the claims against them, and they replied that these claims
were absnrd and that they could not entertain them. They went on to explain that they were
prepared {o restore any stolen property which accused men might acknowledge to having in
their possession, al_ld that they would return three of the suiooth-bore rifles taken from the
Pabbi Police Station. Fines, they said, were irrecoverable, as they had decided 1o insist
npon reverting to the “old system” (which they state was in force before 1897) by which
stolen property was claimed from the tribe, who then decided, by questioniug the actual
accused, whether in their opinion the claim was or was not a valid one. They also said
that their allowances must in future be paid in full, as the system of deductions on account
of fines, which had been introduced of late years, was, in their opinion, unfair and must be
stopped ; that their oath must in future be accepted as setilement in all cases; that they would
acknowledge no responsibility for raiders passing through their country from Afghanistan
or for property taken to Afghauistan, and that all restrictions on members of the tribe going
to Kabul must be removed. As regards the punishment of notorinus offenders, they said that
they would never, under any circumstances, give them up for punishment, but would, if they
considered their guilt proved, punish them in their own way, 7.e., by a demoustration and a feed
at the expense of the culprit.  Unfortunately this mild remedy can only be applied to a very weak
man. From the above it will be seen that their desire for a settlement was not very real, nor
their attitude promising. Had they seriously wished to settle their cases they could have
done s0 by the deposit of half the rifles they had brought wiith them, until recovery of the
value from the raiders, but in their then mood no settlement would have been satisfactory
to them which did not involve the abandonment of practically all our claims. I do not
suppose that all their terms and demands need he taken literally. For several months they
have had a very real fear of actual punishment before their eyes and now that this fear
is removed the revulsion is proportionately great. DBy the afternoon of the second day of discus-
sion they had talked themse{’ves out, and they left for the Khyber villages saying that they would
discuss the matter amongst themselves and return next day. Next morning, however, they did
not come but sent messengers, followed by the two Zakka Khel Maliks, with frivolous messages
asking for formal invitation, guarantees of safe-conduct, &c. No auswer was sent and by the
time the Maliks returned to the Khyber villages in the afternoon the jirga had left for Bazar.
What the result will be it is not possible to say. The jirga may decide to come in again
with more reasonable suggesiions, the tribe may remain quiet in the hope that things will
blow over, or there may be a recurrence of raiding. Of the t#ll‘(‘,(’ alternatives the latter secms the
more probable. It is clear that in the present mood of the tribe there is no hope of any settlement
unless Governmeut is willing to pay bYa(‘kmail by abandoning its claims and thaese of the unfor-
tunate sufferers by the raiding of the last vear, and even such a settlement as this would
only wipe out past offences while encouraging the tribesmen to further outrage. The Zakka
Khel believe that they have tried their strength with us and that we have shirked the issne
and the result is that their mood is now anything but conciliatory. The allowances
due to the Zakka Khel up to the 3lst May total Rs. 11,000. I propose to
send this amount to the Deputy Commissioners, Kohat and Peshawar, for pro rata distribu-
tion to the sufferers by the raids of the past twelve months. The claims 2mount to
Rs. 19,771-12-0, but they are doubtless exaggerated, and Rs. 11,900 should settle them. The
claim of Government for Rs. 13,775 on account of fines can stand over for the present, and
can _be enforced or remitted in the autumn according to the behaviour of the Zakka Khel
in the meantime.

Enclosure 7 in No. 29.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the wecl ending 15th June, 1907.

Messengers from Tirah state that Muhammad Asghar’s brothers [diary for the
week ending the 1st June, 1907] are being pressed by the Zia-ud-dins to give up
Yar Ghulam's garhi, but thav they are supported by Multan and several other Zakka
Khel and are offering opposition to the tribe. The Mohib Khel section of the Zakka
Khel sent in a message to the Political Agent during the week to say that there
were no serious cases against them and that they were prepared to make peace with
Government if their similar offences were pardoned. No reply was sent,
as it is quite impossible to deal with the clan piecemeal. It is reported
that a few days ago a party of Zakka Khel headed by Usman, Khusrogi,
while on one of their ordinary visits to Ningrahar, kidnapped a Hindu,
with a donkey load of miscellaneous goods from Battikot. and brought him to the
Bara Aka Khel country. The Hindu managed to cscape from Bara and took refuge
with Malik Yar Muhammad Khan at Chura and has sent a message to his relations
to come and take him back to Ningrahar.

Enclosure 8 in No. 29.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 22nd June, 1907.
The Bazar Zakka Khel held a meeting at China on the 17th instant to

discuss the question of their future hehaviour towards Government. but with no

definite result. The majority of them were of opinien that they should make no
32510 L
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overtures for peace until the autumn when they will have learnt more about the
intentions of Government, and that, if they then found the Government firm ip
their demands for full restitution and for the thorough punishment of their bad
characters, they will decide what to do. The old feud between the Zarif Khel and
Hatim Khel sections of the Khusrogi Zakka Khel was finally dlspo_sed of by the
former killing three of their own men to settle up their account with the Hatim
Khel. The Zarif Khel had also the inheritance of the large estates of the deceased
for their second object in view. Sher Baz, Paindai, whose brothers Lal Baz and
Inzarai were killed by the Zakka Khel lashkar last summer for assisting us in the
Tandai affair, and who had taken refuge at Chura, returned to China on the 19th
instant, and with the assistance of Mir Ahmad Shah, Pakhai of Barg, occupied a
garhi at China which he is still holding against Usman and other Khusrogis who had
taken a leading part in the murder of his brothers. Usman has applied to Dadai
and other Zakka Khel elders for help, reminding them that it was they who had
put him up to the mischief and that they should therefore support him through thick
and thin.  Saiyid Mir and Jabbar, two of the Zia-ud-din Zakka Khel tried by jirga,
were found guilty of being members of a notorious gang of dakaits and sentenced
to seven and four years’ rigorous imprisonment each.

Enclosure 9 in No. 29.

Letter from the Deputy Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign
Department, to the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, dated
8rd July, 1907.

I am directed to acknowledge the receipt of your letter dated the
14th June, 1907, in which you recommend that the accumulated allowances (amount-
ing to Rs. 11,900) withheld from the Zakka Khel on account of their misconduct,
may be placed in deposit, pending a settlement as to the line of action eventually
to be followed in regard to the Zakka Khel. The proposal is made with a view to
the sum confiscated being available hereafter to meet claims for compensation
preferred by those who have suffered loss at the hands of Zakka Khel raiders during
the past twelve months.

2. I am to inform you that the procedure proposed is irregular and cannot
be sanctioned. The unpaid allowances, if they have been drawn by the Political
Agent in the Khyber, should be recredited to Government, and if, hereafter, sanction
is given to the payment of compensation to sufferers at the hands of the Zakka
Khels, the expenditure must be met from general revenues.

Enclosure 10 in No. 29.
Euxtract from the Khyber Political Diary for the weck ending 6th July, 1907,

The visit of the Bazar Zakka Khel jirga to the Political Agent seems to have
temporarily quieted the tribe as, although the raiding season has begun, no move-
ments are reported.

Enclosure 11 in No. 29.
Extrast from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 13th July, 1907.

The Zakka Khel of Bazar having finished the sowing of their kharif crops
Lave started with their Kaddas for Tirah. They have as usual left behind a guard
of 30 men to guard their villages. Before leaving for Tirah they held a jirga in
which they discussed the question of their future dealings with Government.
Some of them were in favour of not committing any mischief in future in British
limits, others suggested the resumption of hostilities, but nothing definite was
arrived at, and the jirga decided to go into the question again on their arrival in
Tirah in consultation with the Zakka Khel of Maidan, Bara, and Waran. The
usual Afridi visits to Kabul have commenced.
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Enclosure 12 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary to
the Government of India, dafed 16th July, 1907,

(Telegraphic.)

Reference correspondence ending with my letter dated 15th February,
1907. Political, Khyber, reports that Ganga Ram, the Hindu who was abducted
from Badbher in December, gas been brought in by a Kambar Khel jirga.

Enclosure 13 in No. 29.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Under-
Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated 27th July,
1907.

(Extract.)

With reference to the release of Ganga Ram, who was abducted from Badbher
in December last, I have the honour to forward the accompanying copy of a letter
dated 15th July, 1907, with its enclosures, from the Political Agent, Khyber, from
which it will be seen that the Hindu was ransomed for Rs. 64, Kabuli, by a Kambar
Khel.

Annexure 1.

Letter from the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Secretary to the Chief Commissioner, North- West
Frontier Province, dated 153th July, 1907,

I have the honour to report that to-day a jirga of the Shalobar Kambar Khel brought
in to me Ganga Ram of Badbher, who was carried oft by a raiding party on the 5th December,
1906, and who has since been kept a prisoner in Nakhtarnao, a hamlet of Nazian village, in
Ningrahar, Afghanistan.

Mirza Ali, the only Kambar Khel member of the band of Zakka Khel raiders, who so
harassed the Peshawar border last summer and winter, was instrumental in obtaining the release
of the prisoner and in handing him over to the jirga of his tribe.

When the autumn allowances of 1906 were paid to the Kambar Khel Afridis on the
15th December, 1906, the tribe paid a fine of one month's allowances as a settlement of Mirza
Ali's share in recent raids, and bound themselves to either reform him, or per-
manently expel him from their country. Since then Mirza Ali has entirely severed his con-
nection with the raiders and the unconditional bringing in of the Hindu is a hopeful sign
of his reformation, and the jirga seem quite determined that they will not allow him to
compromise them further.

The Kambar Khel jirga made a petition for Mirza Ali’s pardon, and were informed that
his past offences would be so far condoned that no further action would be taken on this
account against him through his tribe, but that if he were to enter British territory he would be
liable to trial for the dakaities in which he had taken part. The jirga were quite satisfied
with this reply.

T enclose translation of the petition of the jirga and of the Hindu’s statement.

Annexure 2.
Translation of a statement by the Shalobar Kambar Khel Jirga, dated the 15th July, 1901,

‘We harassed Sadr Ali, brother of Mirza Ali, the Kambar Khel outlaw, very much, and
told him that, if the latter would cease to raid in British territory and would hand over
to us 1he Hindu carried off from DBadbher, we would allow him to return to
his country and at the same time would recommend him to Government for pardon.
Sadr Ali, who has since been killed in a feud, communicated our words to Mirza Ali
who consequently seitled the Nakhtarnao Shinwaris’ claims regarding the Hindw, handed
him over to us and promised before us that he would never henceforth commit any mischief
whatever in British territory. We then brought the Hindu with us and proceeding vid
Samana reached Kohat where we reported the maiter to Mr. Donald. Ile detailed a sepoy
with us to avoid our being interfered with in the way. We reached Peshawar the day before
yesterday, and as you were not present there we have now brought the Ilindu before you

ere, and beg to reguest that, as Mirza Ali has not offered any excuses in the restoration of

the ITindu, has paid a large sum of money to the Nakhtarnao Shinwaris in effecting his
release, and has moreover promised never to commit any mischief in DBritish territory, his
past offences may be pardoned.

32510 L2
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Annexure 3.

Translation of a statement by Ganga Ram, son of Nand Kaur, of Badbher, dated the
13th July, 1907,

(Extract.)

About seven months ago when I was going to my village after closing my shop in the
Badbher serai at about 9 p.m., a raiding party of about 21 men arrived there. = At fipg
{hey made me, Ramji Mal, and two other Hindus,. prisoners. Before this they had seized
two Police sepoys. Six of the raiders took us to a distance and seated us there, and the rest
went to attack the serai from where they raided 11 camels, two horses, six bullocks, and twe
donkeys. They then returned to their homes E.md took us too with them. Farly in the
mornihg we reached Shin Kamar. The raiders released one of us named Tlukmy
in the way as he was ill, and the other, who was dumb, they released on arrival at Shiy
Kamar. Next day the raiders took me, Ramji Mal, and the two Police sepoys, also the looted
property, to Lakarai Ziarat, and the following day they got us to Nakhtarnae. The raiders
had robbed me of a khes, volued Rs. 10, and cash, s, 11 The vingleaders of the
party were Multan Anai Zakka Khel and Nur Rahmav Afghan Shinwari, of Nakhtainao,
and the other members of the gang were either their relations or  fellow-tribesmen.
During may slay at Nakhtarnao, Multan, with a gang consisting of his brothers and other
Zakka Khels and of Shinwarie of Nakhiarnao, had twice left Nakhtarnao for British territory
with intent to raid. In the first raid they sacked Pabbi and carried off six rifles and other
miscellaneous property, and in the second they attacked the Matanni serai and carried off
31 camels and eight bullocks. Sheikh Almad Nur, of Bara, ransomed the two Policemen
for Rs. 160, Kabuli, and brought them in, while the Xamarai, Malikdin Khel,
and Sipah Jirga, effected the release of Ramji Mal and brought him in to Peshawar.
Mirza Al paid Rs. G4, Kabuli, to Nur Rahman Shinwari, of Nakhiarnao, on my account,
and thus effected my release and handed me over to the Kambar Khel jirga, who hrought me fo
Peshawar v7¢ Kohat, and from there they brought me here and presented me hefore vou.
Mirza Ali has now given up raiding, as his enemies have killed his brother Sadr Ali in s
feud, and ke himself has been prevented by the Kambar Khel from committing raids.

Enclosure 14 in No. 29.
Extract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending the 24th August, 1907.

A Hindu and a Musalman, who were abducted from the Kohat border on
the 11th ultimo, are reported to be the prisoners of Mir Khawas (a Sangu Khel of
Naktarnao in Nazian, Afghanistan), who has held them to ransom. Enquiries
made into the case show that the men were originally kidnapped by Gulab Sher
and other Orakzais who handed them over to Taza Khan and other Zakka Khels
for disposal. The Deputy Commissioner, Kohat, has been informed.

Enclosure 15 in No. 29.
Latract from the Khyber Political Diary for the weelk ending 14th September, 1907.

A party of 24 men, Sangu Khel Shinwaris of Nazian and Zakka Xhel
of Bazar, is reported to have carried off from near Basawal in Ningrahar about
30 camels belonging to some Peshawaris, who were taking goods to Kabul, and
to have brought the camels to Bazar. They are also said to have robbed the camel-
<_iri]v3ers of Rs. 300 in cash. The Peshawaris are arranging to ransom their camels
in Bazar.

Enclosure 16 in No. 29.
Eaztract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 21st September, 1907,

The theft of a drove of camels from near Basawal by a party of Sangu
Khel and Bazar Zakka Khel raiders was reported in the Khyber Diary for week
ending the 14th September, 1907. The Zakka Khel elders, headed by Dadai and
Usman, called out the tribal laskkar and completely destroyed the villages of some
of the Zakka Khel who had taken part in the raid.
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Enclosure 17 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Fronticr Province, to the Foreign Secretary
to the Government of India, dated 9ih Uctober, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Deputy Commissioner, Kohat, wires 8th instant:—Begins. A serious raid
occurred about 8 p.m. on night of 5th instant at Samarai village in Lachi Thana
limits. The Officiating Superintendent of Police, whose report has rcached mec
to-day from Samarai, reports that the raiders appeared to he Afridis and were well
armed with Lee-Metford and Martini-Henri rifles. ‘The raiders, said to be about
90 in number, divided into two parties and attacked the houses of two Hindus,
namely, Kishan Ram and Moti Ram, who allege that goods to value of about Rs. 300
were taken from each house. The villagers tried to hold up the raiders at Moti
Ram’s house, but the raiders werce too well armed and succeeded in getting out of
the village, taking with them Shankar, son of Kishan Ram, and Ganga Ram, son
of Moti Ram, and property to the value of Rs. 600; hut as the raid was very quickly
over it seems probable that complainants have exaggerated their losses. Villagers
attacked raiders with stones and swords, upon which one villager named Muhammad
Jan was shot dead. Eighteen empty Lee-Metford cartridges and 15 empty Snider
cartridges were found on the scene of the occurrence. Kishan Ram, who 1s a rich
Hindu, is trying to ascertain whereahouts of his son in order to pay ransom.
Officiating Superintendent of Police reports that raiders are beliecved to be Zakka
Khels, and it seems probable that some of this gang were Zakka Khels. The raiders
made good their escape before special patrols could he sent out and the place where
they crossed into imsjependent territory after committing raid is not yet known.

Enclosure 18 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary
to the Government oy India, dated 10th Uctober, 1907,

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram dated 9th October, 1907. Political Agent, Khyber,
wires 9th instant:—Begins. A party of 27 Zakka IChels, headed by Dadai and Yar,
left Maidan on 4th instant saying that they were going to raid. They have not yet
returned, and it seems probable that they committed raid on Samarai in Kohat
district ; enquiries are being made. Ends.

Enclosure 19 in No. 29.

Letter from the Deputy Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign
Department to the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, dated
10¢% October, 1907.

(Extract.)

With reference to the correspondence ending with your letter dated the
27th July, 1907, I am directed to request that you will furnish the Government
of India with a report on the present position as regards the Zakka Khel Afridis.
I am to enquire, with reference to the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending
the 24th August, 1907, whether the Hindu and Muhammadan who were abducted
from the Kohat border on the 11th July last, and held to ransom by Mir Khawas of
Nakhtarnao, have yet been released.

Enclosure 20 in No. 29.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the
Deputy Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department,
dated 24th October, 1907.

~ In continuation of my telegram dated the 10th October, 1907, regard-
ing the occurrence of a raid on the night of 5th instant at Samarai village in
the Kohat district, I have the honour to submit, for the information of the Govern-
ment of India, a copy of the Political Agent, Khyber's letter dated the
19th October, 1907, on the subject.




82

Annexure.

Letter from the Palitical Agent, Khyber, to the Secretary to the Chief Cominissioner, North- West
: Frontier Province, dated 19th October, 1907.

Reference Deputy Commissioner, Kohat’s, telegram of 8th instant, to your address.

I have the honour to report that the raid of 5th instant upon Samarai village in the Kohat
district was commii{ted by a gang of about 27 Zakka Khel, including the following men;—

(1) Dadai, Anai.
(2) Tut, cousin of No. (1).
(3) Randu ”
4) Satdanai ,,
(5) Nurbai, Paindar.
(6) Yar Shah, Anai.
7) Mir Akbar, brother of No. (6).
58) Amher Khan, cousin of No. (6).
(9) Saiyid Akbar " .
10) Sarfaraz I{han, Shan Khel.
11) Shermadi, son of Khanukai, Anai.
(12) Sobai, Anai.
(13) Shinai, Anai.
(14) Nazar Gul, Anai. )
(15) Saivid Mir, nephew of Saiyid Khan, Anai.
(16) Pahlawan, Zia-ud-din.
(17) Gulzaman, brother of No. (16).
(18) Mir Azam » s
(19) Rakhtu, brother of Muhammad Jan, Zia-ud-din.
(20) Nur Khalim, Zia-ud-din.
(21) Majid, cousin of Multan, Anai.
(22) Murak, Anai.
(23) Mulla Ghulam Muhammad, Zia-ud-din.

Dadai, who has recently returned from Kabul and who is now the most prominent of
the “ Kabul Elders ” among the Afridis, has been urging the Zakka Khel to recommence raiding.
Failing to induce his fellow-tribesmen to pull the chestnuts from the fire for him, he has betn
forced to take the field himself, and this is the first time for five years that he has actually taken
part in a raid. Dadai was in doubt in which direction to raid, he personally being in favour
of attacking some village in the Peshawar district, as he said that this would most annoy
Government, hut his followers preferred Kohat, as they said that the risk there was less and
the chance of booty greater. While still undecided, Dadai received information from one
Mir Akbar, a Malikdin Khel Afridi of Mirobak, in the Kohat district, with whom he is con-
nected by marriage, and from Mir Azam, a Zia-ud-din Zakka Khel, who is in the habit of
visiting Kohat, that a rich Hindu at Samarai would be worth attacking.

Dadai consequently collected his gang at his house in Maidan on about the 3rd instant.
He went first fo Swaikot in the Bora to pick up his Zia-ud-din friends and from there proceeded
vid Zera and by Zangal Killi, in Shia limits, to Borakka and from therz made his attack on
Samarai. On his way he picked up two Firoz Khel Orakzai guides named Zarjhun Shah,
Kasim Khel Firox Khel, and Sher Ahmad, Haidar Xhel Firoz Khel.

At Samarai they met with trifling opposition, killed one man, carried off what little loot
they could find, captured two Hindus (one Shankar, son of Kishan Rami, and Ganga Ram,
son of Moti Ram), and returned to Maidan vi¢ Kandauli and Ublan, thence through tﬁe Bizot1
and Firoz Khel limits to Barki.

Oue of the raiders (No. 22), Murak, who is deaf, was left behind, and the raiders waited
two nights and one day for him in the hills near Barkai, being supplied with food by Malik Sanjab
Khan of that place. Murak eventually returned and the raiders broke up. Of the two
prisoners, one is in the hands of Dadai, in Maidan, and the other is with Pahrawan, Zia-ud-din
(No. 16), at Tseri-Kandao. The amount of loot actually taken appears to be small—it only
gave each man Rs. 8. .

I would suggest that the relations of the captured men should be dissuaded, if possible,
from paving ransom, as to do so will only encourage this form of crime. There is no chance
of the Hindus being killed or seriously ill-treated, and they will no doubt be released after
a time if their captors find that there 1s nothing to be gained by keeping them.

The Denevolent neutrality shown towards Zakka Khel raiders by all sections of the
Orakzai has, in this as in all previous dakaities in Xohat, greatly contributed to their success.

Enclosure 21 in No. 29.
From the Chic/ Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Forcign Secrctary
to the Government of India, dated 30th October, 1907. '

(Telegraphic.)

Raid on Pabbi on 28th reported. As raiders were carrying off two Hindus and
Patwaris (subsequently released), they encountered party 45th Sikhs, and shots were
exchanged. One Sikh sepoy wounded and probably one raider. Raiders, while
retreating, passed, at Turnab, Camp of Native Revenue Assistant, whom they wounded
slightly, carrying off his chaprassi and three horses. Chaprassi escaped and horses
were recovered by Police near Badbher. No information yet as to identity of
raiders, but in view of Khyber reports they were probably Zakka Khels.
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Enclosure 22 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier DProvince, to the Forelqn Secretary
tv the Government of Indiu, dated 30th October, 1907,

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram dated 30th instant. Following details of
Pabbi raid now reported: About 6.30 p.m. on 28th, band of Afridis,
pumbering from 12 to 30, appeared at Pabbi and seized three Hindus (Aya Singh,
Kifa Ram, and Natha Singh) and proceeded with them towards Peshawar. In
addition, on the way, two Patwaris (‘(I_‘:obind Sahai and Ram Chand) were captured.
Village Chigha turned out and followed. Near Railway Station they came upon
detachment of 45th Sikhs camped there. Havildar Nand Singh, Commanding,
enquired what was happening. Raiders replied with volley, by which one Sikh sepoy
was seriously wounded and also Zamindar Ghulam Rasul, who happened to be in
line of fire. Sikhs fired in return, causing raiders to abandon Hindus and retreat
by Cherat road. Sergeant Crawford, 1st Mule Corps, camped at Pabbi, taking ten
rifles, 45th Sikhs, and three policemen, proceeded in pursuit, but, owing to darkness,
failed to come up with raiders. On receipt of news at Peshawar, 40 police were
despatched by tum-tum to Badbher and 30 sepoys to Phandu, 15 to Pakhai, and
15 down Grand Trunk road, Border Police holding Bara-Janigarhi line. Raiders
proceeded to Nasargarhi, where they robbed ten cartmen, thence to Turnab, where
they found Revenue Extra Assistant Commissioner Bakhshi Ghani Sham Das in
Camp. They wounded him with knife and would have carried him off, but he could
not ride or walk. They looted his tents and carried off his three horses. Raiders
apparently proceeded towards Hazar Khani and were met and challenged about
3 a.m. by body of police on Kohat road about two miles from Peshawar. The
replied with volley, wounding two constables, and a running fight ensued, in whic
one raider was apparently wounded and horses and heavy loot had to be abandoned.
Near Siaband the raiders escaped in the darkness.

Enclosure 23 in No. 29.
Eztract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 2nd November, 1907,

On the night of the 28th October, 1907, a raid was committed at Pabbi
(Peshawar District), in which one sepoy of the 45th Sikhs was wounded and an
attempt was made to abduct some Hindus. An attempt was also made to abduct
Ghani Sham Dass, Extra Assistant Commissioner, Revenue Assistant, Peshawar,
who was in camp near Taru, but this failed, as the Police, who had received informa-
tion of the raid, waylaid the gang and had an encounter with them, losing three men
wounded. From inquiries made it appears that the party consisted of 16 Zakka
Khel, 4 Aka Khel, and 6 Naziap Sangu Khel. Abduction, which was formerly rare,
is now a feature of nearly every raid. It has been ascertained that a dacoity,
which was committed at Patwar Bala (Peshawar District) on the 23rd October, was
the work of a gang of Zakka Khel raiders headed by the notorious Multan. The
gang only got about three hundred rupees and, not being satisfied with
this, left for the Kohat border, whence they have just returned unsuccessful.
On the 29th instant a Zakka Khel raiding party is reported to have entered
the Loi Shilman valley viA Dakka and Kam Dakka and to have had a fight with
the Shilmanis, in which two Zakka Khel and one Shilmani were killed or wounded.
Some say that the intention of the raiders was to attack the railway camp at Shahid
Miana, but no details are yet known.

Enclosure 24 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-TWest Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary
to the Government of India, dated 3rd November, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram dated 30th October. Political Agent, Khyber,
reports that Pabbi raid was committed by gang of about twenty-six, the majority
of whom were Zakka Khels, accompanied by six Shinwaris, Afghan subjects, and
about four Aka Khels. He reports rumour that one of the raiders was wounded
and lost his rifle, but this has not yet been confirmed.
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Enclosure 25 in No. 29.

Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the
Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated
7th November, 1907.

In compliance with your letter dated 10th October, 1907, I ' have
the honour to forward a copy of a letter dated 1st November, 1907 , from
the Political Agent, Khyber, and to submit the following remarks regarding the

resent position as regards the Zakka Khel Afridis, for the consideration of the
vernment of India. ) :

2. Major Roos-Keppel's letter gives a full statement of the facts of the case
up to date.  The only other incident which perhaps deserves mention in this con.
nection is a very deliberate attempt to derail the mail train, which occurred on the
night of the 1st November. Several large stones were placed on the line near Taru,
which luckily failed to upset the engine. It seems more than likely that this outrage
was the work of one of the gangs mentioned in the Political Agent’s letter.

3. 1 entirely agree with the Political Agent that the situation is even worse
than it was last year. And, unless prompt and vigorous action is now taken, I
anticipate that there will be a very serious epidemic of lawlessness on this bozder.
One tribe is easily influenced by the bad example of another; and the fact that these
Zakka Khel gangs are again harrying the Peshawar border with apparent impunity
‘can only have the effect of encouraging other sections of the Afridis and adjoining
tribes to follow suit. My recommendations for dealing with the situation have

Letter dated 3rd December. 1906 already been submitted to Government fully

Lottor dated 13th Febraore, 1907 in the marginally noted correspondence, and

Telegram dated 18th March, 1907, I have nothing to add to the views there set

forth, except that the present season is
favourable for military operations, should such be sanctioned, as the cold weather
migration from Tirah has commenced.

Annexure 1,

Letter from the Political Agent, Kliyber, to the Secretary tv the Chief Commissioner, North-West
Irontier Province, dated 1st November, 1907.

(Extract.)

I have the honour to state that the resolute attitude of Government in the spring
and the uncompromising reception of the Zakka Khel Jirga in June had so excellent an
effect that .we enjoved the only quiet summer since 1897, and the peace of the five monthe
from lst April to 30th September was only broken by one offence, viz., the kidnapping of
one Hindu and one Musulman from Hangu referred to in the Government of India leiter
of the 10th October last. I have received information that Dboth have escaped.
The Zakka Khel really believed in the spring that the time of their long-delayed punish-
ment had arrived, and when this belief had begun to fade it was again revived by the reception
of their Jirga in June, which convineed them of the firmness of Government. These beliefs,
however, are not lasting, unless they are proved {o be true by subsequent facts, and as time

assed, the fear of punishment passed with it, witl the result that a strong party, headed
y Dadai himself, crossed the Miranzai Valley and attacked the village of Samarai, in the
Kohat district, killing one man and carrying off two Hindu boys (who are still prisonere of
the Zakka Khel) and some booty in cash—as detailed in my letter of 19th October, 1907. Since
then five separate raiding gangs have been organised under the following leaders: —

(1) Dadai, Anai, Zakka Khel.

(2) Multan ,,

) Gul Baz ,. " ,

(4) Muhammad Afzal, Zia-ud-din, Zakka Khel.

(5) Usman, Khusrogi, Zakka Khel.
On the night of the 23rd UOctober, Multan’s gang (No. 2) raided the village of Patwar
Bala and carried off a small booty in cash after firing some shots. Disappointed with the
result of this, they left for the Kohat border, whence they have just returned unsuccessful.
I received reliable information in Qctober of the intention of one of 1hese gangs to attack the coolie-
camp working at the Shahgai cutting on the Khyber road and was foreed 1o move the camp to Fort
Maude for protection. On the 281h October, Gul Baz's gang (No. 3), consisting of sixteen Zakka
K_hel, 81X nghan Shinwaris of Nazian and some Aka Khel, committed a raid at Pabbi (about
25 miles inside the border) where they wounded a sepoy of the 45th Sikhs and earried off some
Hindus. On their way back they attempted to carry off the Revenue Assistant, Peshawar district,
and looted his camp; they were, however, intercepted by a party of Police, of whom they Wuunde(}
three. I have just heard from Landi Kotal that a Zakka Khel raiding party had atiacked Loi
Shilman from Kam Dakka and had killed or wounded three of the Shilmaunis. No
details have been received. Dadai, a Zakka Khel elder who has just returned from
Kabul and who poses as the leader of the Afghan party among the Zakka Khel,

’” .
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has been preaching to his fellow-tribesmen that, if the worsi came to the worst,
they can always save themselves from punishment by declaring themselves Afghan subjects.
So far as the situation has changed at all during the last 12 months it has altered for
the worse. The Zakka Khel helieved last spring that they were to be punished for
their long misconduct, but they now believe that, although we had then decided to punish
them, we were afraid at the last moment to do so. The Samarai and Pabbi raids of last month
bave equalled, if not surpassed, in bolduness any previous records of such crimnes, and the
bill against the tribe has grown considerably. In February last I computed our claims against
the Zakka Khel at Rs. 33,646, of which Rs. 19,771 was on account of compensation to sufferers and
Rs. 13,775 on account of fines (see my letter of Tth Fobruary, 1907), and I now attach a list of
offences which were not included in that letter or which have oceurred since its submission.
The present position as regards the Zakka Khel Afridis is that the tribe is openly hostile
to us, that the tribesmen have got over their fear of punishment, that they believe that
(iovernment does not dare to attack them. As I stated in my letter of 18th November, 1906, 1he
only possible solution of the problem is the occupation of tile Bazar valley, and to this T have
notﬁing to add.

Annexure %.

Raids commitled by Zakkr Khel since submission of Political Agent, Khyber's letter of
Tth February, 1907,

|
Parties. ‘ Nature of offence. Remarks.

Date of Place of j

No. occurrence. oceurrence.

1|2nd January, | Khatak Banda, | Crown versus Sher Ali, Sarfaraz, &c., | Abduetionof 3 Hindus, | Relensed on payment of
1907. tahsil Hangu,| _Shen Khels; Niazai. Majid Sikan- | 2 Muhammadan hoys | ransom.

Kohat district, | dar Khan,Anai; Malang Shah, Mir | and 6 donkeys.

Afeal, Zaafran, &ec., outlawe. |

2 | 15{/16th March, | Jangli Burj, | Crown versus Gulbaz, Sahib Dad, | Bobbery of 3 Martini- _—

1907. Police Station, | Zamir, Rakhtu. Anni; Muhammad | Henry rifles with

Peshawar. Afzal, Muhammad Asghar,and Mir; some cartridges and

Akbar, Zig-ud-din ; Sher Ghulam,| Government uni.

Zakkn Khel (Kurrami); Zarghon | forms,

Shah, Mehrab S8hah, Zuri 8hah, Mir |

| Afzel, and Malang, Aka Khel. |

3 120th  March, | Mastu  Lalwma, ; Crown rersvs Yar Shah, Anai; Mir ; Abduction of two Mu- The men were sobze-

1907, Marai  Bala,| Akbar, Pahlawan, Mir Azam hammadansand theft | quently released.
Kohat. Zia-ud-dine ;: and Habib, Peshawari i  of 15 bullocks.
outlaw, |

4 | 11th July, 1907 | Jabai, tahsil | Crown veraus Multan. Khialu, Gul- | Abduction of one Mn- | 8ince reported to have
Hangu, Kohet| baz, Sshib Dad, Amir Shah, Tarza | bammadan and one| escaped from Naziau.
district, Khan, and Mitha Khan, Anai; i Hindu,
Sarfaraz, Shan Khel: Babarai,: I
Nazar Gul, Nizam Gul, Mir Din, | !
Khbusrogis; Muhammad Afzal, ! |
Zie-ud-din ; with four others, Baz : !
Mubammad Ake Khel; Gulak ! !

l

Sher, Musalli Gulfaraz, Wali Sher- |

zai, and Nadir Sher, Miehtis. | '

b [5th October,  Samarai, Kohat | Crown versws Dadai Tut, Randu,' MurderofaMussulman ' R
1907. districe. Saidanai, Yar Shah, Mir Akbar,{ and abduction of 2.

Akbar Khan, Saiyid Akbar, Sher | Hindus and theft of

Madi, Sabi. Shinai, Nazar, Gul.; property valued un;

Saiyid Mir, Majid, Nurakh, Apais; ! Ra. 800, ;

Nurbai Paindai; Sarfuraz. Shan | |

Khel; Pahlawan. Gul Zaman, Mchr :

Azam, Rakhta and Nur Khalim,

Zis-ud.din. i l
6 | 24th October, | Patwar BAlA ... | Devi Das «versus Multan, Zamir, | Dakaiti with theft of ' Shots were exchanged
1907, Tarza Khan, and other Zakka Khel. ! property valued at; Dbetween the villagers

Rs. 334-10-0,

] | and raiders,and Nanik
, } Chaad,eon of the com-
i ! | plainant,was wounded
| # (with knife) on both
. I hands.
7 [ 28th OQotober, | Pabbi ... ... | Crown versus Gulbaz, Sangar, Sahib ! Dakaiti with attempt: Full details not yet
1907, ! "Khan and 13 other Zakka Khels,| ab abduction of Re-! knowa,
| four Aka Khels. six Sangu Kbhel | venue AssistantGhani|
; Shinwaris, two Baré Sturi Khels, | Sham Das and some
: ‘ Revenuesubordinates,
: Also wounding of one
i sepoy,5th Sikhs, and
three sepoys of the '

: ; Police. !
8 | 29th Ootober, | I.oi Shilman ... ' Zakka Khel raiding party ... ... | Cattle raid and wounnd- i Reported by telephone,
1907, i ing of 3 men. detailed report not

received.

32510 M
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Enclosure 26 in No. 29.
Eztract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending the 9th November, 1907,

The Bazar Zakka Khel assembled at China on the 8th instant to celebrate
the Id and freely discussed the question of their future behaviour towards Govern.
ment. The majority were for war though some of the more sober-minded elders
advised the Kishara that they could still avoid trouble with the Sarkar if they only
abstained from committing further mischicf in British territory. On the other
hand Usman and others were arguing that, mischief or no puschlef, Government
were bent on taking Bazar, and that it was better to die in honour than to be
vanquished in disgrace. No definite decision was however arrived at.

Enclosure 27 in No. 29.

From the Chicf Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary
to the Government of India, dated 14th November, 1907.

(Telegraphic.) . ‘ .

Deputy Commissioner, Kohat, reports serious rg,ld committed on night of
13th instant at Lachi by Afridi gang of about fifty raiders. They broke into post
office and looted cash chest and into Hindu’s shop and took away jewellery, cash, and
silks. Some men of Lachi kept up fire on raiders, otherwise losses would have been
much heavier. Raiders shot one villager and wounded three others. Raiders cut
telegraph wire on main road three miles north of Lachi.. Party of Border Military
Police, in three tum-tums, proceeding to Lachi to take part in search for Khatak
outlaws in recent Banda Daud Shah case, were ambushed by these raiders with
result that two sepoys were shot dead and two seriously wounded and four rifles and
160 rounds ammunition were carried off by raiders. Remaining sepcys acted with
great presence of mind, lying flat on road under heavy fire, and opened fire on
raiders, who dispersed westward. Every effort has been made to intercept gang
and military at Hangu and Kohat have been asked to co-operate in stopping routes.

Enclosure 28 in No. 29.

From the Foreign Secretary to the Government of India to the Chief (ommissioner,
North-West Frontier Province, dated 16th November, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)
Your telegram dated 14th November. Lachi raid. You will no doubt

inform us as soon as possible to what clans raiders belonged and if they were also
responsible for Banda Daud Shah raid.

Enclosure 29 in No. 29.
Eztract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 16th November, 1907.

The Tirah Zakka Xhel held a jirga at Madato-Kass-Maidan on the
day of the Id (Friday, the 8th instant) to discuss (like the Zakka Kbhel
in Bazar) the question of their future behaviour, and the majority of the
elders present voted for war. They said that it would be a great blow
to their izzat if they took the initiative in suing for peace and that unless
Government themselves invited them to a conference at Peshawar, and agreed to
entirely wipe out the past, it would pay them to maintain their hostile attitude as
no gharib tribe was ever treated with consideration by the British Government.
There was hardly a dissentient voice among them. The majority are now busy in
bringing their kaddas to Bazar. A very serious raid was committed at
Lachi on the 12th instant. The raiders seized the Post Office, broke open
a treasure chest, and entered some Hindus’ shops and carried away a
quantity of jewellery and silk. Some of the raiders came across a party
of Border Military Police going out in tumtums in the direction of Lachi
in search of some Khatak outlaws, who had kidnapped three Hindus from
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Banda Daud Shah on the 7th instant, and fired on them, with the result that two
of the sepoys were shot dead and t{wo others severely wounded and four rifles and
160 rounds of ammunition were captured by the raiders. One of the raiders, a
Shan Khel Zakka Khel, is reported to have been killed by the pursuit party and to
have been left behind by the raiders. It is not yet known definitely who the raiders
were, but it appears almost certain that they were Zakka Khel. They fled in the
direction of Tirah and the man killed is reported to he a Shan Khel Zakka Khel,
brother of a notorious raider.

Enclosure 30 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreijn Secretary
to the Government of India, dated 18th November, 1907,

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram dated 14th November. Troops in Kohat
garrison co-operated with Samana Rifles, Border Military Police and villagers in
holding line between Kohat and Mirkhweli to intercept Lachi raiders. Raiders
apparently retreated in two parties, one of which is hitherto untraced. Other party
retreated west in direction of Orakzai country and broke through line of pickets
held by 56th Rifles near Hangu on night 14th instant, losing one man killed, subse-
quently identified as Yamir, brother of Niazmir, Shan Khel Zakka Khel. One of
police wounded near Lachi has succumbed to wounds.

Enclosure 31 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary
to the Government of India, dated 21st November, 1907,

(Telegraphic.)

At 8.30 last night party of Afridis came to vicinity of Bara post and fired few
shots in order to turn out garrison of Border Military Police. Border Police went
out and were ambuscaded about 200 yards from post on road to Ilm Gudar, losing
two men killed and two ‘wounded. Raiders then retreated towards Ilm Gudar
followed by border police and village chighas, who have not yet returned. Affair is
very deliberate act of hostility to Government.

Enclosure 32 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary
lo the Government of India, dated 22nd November, 1907. '

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram dated 21st November. Following letter,
dated 22nd instant, from Political Agent, Khyber, is repeated for informa-
tion: —Begins. One of my Zia-ud-Din Zakka Khel messengers has just arrived
and states that he met at Mamanai the party who attacked the Border Military
Police at Bara on the night of the 20th instant and recognised among them : Anai
Zakka Khels, (i) Dadai, (ii) Multan, (iii) Rakhtu, (iv) Zamir, (v) Amir Shah,
(vi) Saidanai, (vil) Mastan, (viii) Gulistan, (ix) Mehr Jan, (x) Mehr Dast, Zia-
ud-Din Zakka Khels, (xi) Shaghar, (xii) Mir Akbar, (xiii) Sher Alam, (xiv) Mir
Afzal, (xv) Sher Khulam, Shan Khel. There were also about half a dozen Aka
Khel and ‘Sturi Khel of Bargdi. He states that the plan of the raiders was to
lure the Border Military Police out of the Fort at Bara and, if possible, to kill
them all—partly as an act of war and partly in revenge for the raider killed in
tl_le Pabbi raid of 28th October, 1907. Four of the Border Police fell at the first
discharge, but two men stayed with the fallen sepoys and opened fire on the raiders,
severely wounding Mchr Dast (No. x), a first cousin of Dadai and a man of import-
ance. This loss upset the raiders’ plans and they had to abandon their attacks on
the Border Military Police and carry off their wounded comrade. They retired
slowly in the direction of the Besai Spur, keeping back the chigha by occasional
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ghots. Their reason for going in this direction was that there is, at the south side
of the Besai spur, a tower held by about 60 Kambar Khel, and they counted upon
these men for support. Having arrived safely there, they swung to left and went
to Mamanai, where they rested for some hours and got a charpoy on which they
carried Mehr Dast up the Bara. Mehr Dast’s shinbone is completely shattered and
he is certain to die. The raiders said that as the Border Military Police had now
killed their men they would revenge themselves upon every opportunity. Since
writing this, other messengers have come in who fully confirm above. Ends. In
the recent raids since 5th October, in which Zakka Khels were implicated, the tale
of killed and wounded has been as follows :—
At Samarai, one villager killed. .
At Pabbi, one sepoy, 45th Sikhs, two Palice Constables, Revenue Extra
Assistant Commissioner, and one villager wounded.
At Lachi, two Border Military Police and one villager killed and two Border
Military Police sepoys and three villagers wounded.
At Bara, four Border Military Police sepoys wounded.

Enclosure 33 in No. 29.

From the Chicf Commissioner, North-1est Fronticr Province, to the Foreign Secretary
to the Government of India, dated 23rd November, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram dated 18th November. Lachi raid. Political,
Khyber, reports that gang consisted of twelve Zakka Khels and about ten
others, chiefly Orakzai and Aka Khel. Names of all Zakka Khel concerned are
known. Gang started on day after Id from Maidan and proceeded vid Sampagha
Pass and Rabbia Khel Orakzai country, where they stayed three days. They left
eight men to watch road while sixteen attacked Lachi. The eight men encountered
the Border Police and one of them, Yar Mir, Zakka Khel, was killed on spot
Raiders got four rifles from the Border Police, of which three are now in Maidan
in possession of Niaz Mir, Majid, and Jafar, Zakka Khel, while the fourth was left
with the Orakzai. This information is all amply corroborated. Unless prompt
action is taken to deal with these cases, T anticipate a spread of lawlessness to other
tribes and consequent serious trouble. '

Enclosure 34 in No. 29.
Eatract from the Khyber Political Diary for the week ending 23rd November, 1907.

~ The Zakka Khel Afridis continue to preserve a warlike attitude. A Malikdin
Khel Afridi who recently visited China in Bazar states that the peace party has prac-
tically disappeared and that all sections of the Zakka Khel are openly hostile to
Government. The Zakka Khel have sent messages to the Malikdin Khel, Kuki Khel,
Kambar Khel, and Sipah Afridis informing them that they (the Zakka Khel) have
declared war against Government and that they wish to attack the Khyber if the
other tribes do not object. The tribes have replied that this is too important a
matter to be decided off-hand, and that they will reply after their kaddas have
moved from Tirah and after they have had time to discuss the subject.
On the night of the 20th instant a strong party of Zakka Khel, including
almost every raider of note, attacked the Border Police Garrison of the Bara Fort.
The){ sent a few men to fire shots in the offing and, having thus lured a part of the
garrison out of the fort, fired into them at short range, killing two and wounding
two sepoys. Some of the Border Police returned the fire, seriously wounding
one of the raiders. This forced the raiders to retire and they retreated in the
direction of the Besai spur, where there is a tower with a garrison of Kambar
I&hle Afridis whom the raiders counted on to cover their retreat if necessary.
It is generally helieved that the man wounded was one Mehr Dast, a cousin
of the notorious Dadai, but there is a rumour that Dadai himself was wounded and
that the fact is being kept dark so as not to discourage the tribe. Neither Dadai
nor Mehr Dast has yet returned to Bazar or Tirah. On the evening of
the 18th instant one Ahdulla Jan, a cousin of Dadaj, went to Chura and
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spent the night with Malik Yar Muhammad Khan. 'The Malik sent in a
letter, dated 19th, regarding the whereabouts of a horse recently stolen from
Lieutenant Crosthwaite. On the 21st instant (the day after the attack on the
Border Military Police at Bara) another letter was received from the Malik warn-
ing the Political Agent of an impending raid. Enquiries show that the Malik had
had no other Zakka Khel visitor in the meantime, so it appears probabic that he
knew on the 18th of the departure of the raiding party and that he intentionall
sent the information a day too late. The Malik's inveterate tendéncy to run with
the hare and hunt with the hounds will inevitably bring him to grief hefore long.
On the 23rd instant information was reccived that the party of raiders who
attacked Bara Fort on the 20th had reassembled at the mouth of the Bara and
intended to commit another raid. Precautions were taken and no raid occurred,
but it is stated that the raiders actually started on the night of the 23rd, but that
they bad a dispute with the:Aka Khel, who accused them of getting them into trouble
by using their country as a raiding route and demanded that tﬁey should keep to
their own side (the left bank) of the Bara. The raiders have asked the Kambar
Khel and Malikdin Khel garrisons of the Kajurai Plain what will be their attitude
if that line is used for raiding and havc received a reply that this question can
only be settled when the elders arrive from Tirah. In addition to the raider Yah
Mir(a Shan Khel Zakka Khel) who was killed in the raid on Lachi on the 13thinstant,
two men, Yar Shah and Hazrat Gul, both Zakka Khel, have been missing. Yar Shah
has just returned severely wounded, but nothing is known as to the fate of Hazrat
Gul. Although the Afridi kaddas have not yet come down, the Malikdin Khel
and Kambar Khel have very strong garrison in the Kajurai Plain. To the south
of, and close to, the Besai spur the Kambar Khel have two towers held by about
sixty men, while about a mile to the south the Malikdin Khel have a strong tower
with a garrison of about the same strength. In the caves in the north-west corner
of the plain there are about 150 Kambar Khel and further south are the Malikdin
Khel caves with between 200 and 250 men. All these men are well armed, and
are unencumbered by families or flocks and they are a source of anxiety, as there is
always a chance of some of them joining the Zakka Khel in their raids. Hitherto
they have been fully occupied with their own feud and on the 19th an engagement
took place in which four men were wounded, but they have now arranged a truce
until their kaddas arrived. Probably the nearness of the payment of their allow-
ances will keep them steady; but the impunity with which the Zakka Khel have
extended their operations far into the Peshawar and Kohat Districts makes the
temptation to individuals of an adventurous disposition to take a hand, almost too
great to be resisted. The Shinwaris of Lowargai are now excluded from Afghanistan
on account of their loyalty to the British Government and of the complaints of the
Zakka Khel with whom they are at feud.

Enclosure 35 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Sccretary
to the Government of India, dated 26th November, 1907.
(Telegraphic.)
Deputy Commissioner, Kohat, reports that sowar, proceeding on 24th from
Marai to Kachi was fired on by raiding party. Sowar was unhurt. Pursuit
parties turned out and engaged raiders said to be about fifty strong.

Enclosure 36 in No. 29.

From the Chicf Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary
to the Government of India, dated 26th November, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Since the receipt of your telegram of the 25th November to Secretary of State,
two further raids have been separately reported, namely, at Kachi and Matanni,
and we hear Multan with gang of 100 raiders have been’in Miri Khel cave in Aka
Khel country for three nights, and have only been deterred from raiding by troops



90

sent out to different posts. Situation has become intolerable for villagers, olice,
and Border Military Police, against last of whom Zakka Khel have declar open
feud. I must respectfully urge that action shoulq not be deferrfad, as I anticipate
spread of lawlessness with damage and loss of life to our subjects and servants,
who are already suffering great feeling of insecurity. '

Enclosure 37 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary
to the Government of India, dated 26¢th November, 1907, ’
(Telegraphic.)
Report received of raid on cattle last night near Matanni. Some shots were
fired at Ladaur Burj (small road post near Matanni), but no one was hit. The
telephone wire was also cut.

Enclosure 38 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary
to the Government of India, dated 27th November, 1907. ’

{Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram dated 26th November. Deputy Commis-
sioner, Kohat, wires 26th instant:—Begins. Parties of Samana Rifles, Border
Military Police, half troop 23rd Cavalry on foot, and large chighas from villages
of Marai and Kachi, encountered raiders yesterday evening south of Marai and
pursued them till dark. Raiders reported to have been in large numbers, but about
30 to 35 only were seen. ‘No heavy firing took place, no casualties on our side, but
raiders lost two men, whose corpses are being sent to Kohat for identification. Both
are believed to be Zakka Khels and ring taken from one corpse bears impression
“ Rukhan.”  One Martini-Henry rifle also recovered from one corpse. Raiders
retreated north-west towards Sturi Khel country, and it is believed that others are
wounded and search will be made in the hills close to our border. Bar Muhammad
Khel chigha of Karez (Independent Territory) turned out and gave great assistance
and successfully held one line of retreat of raiders. Am sending this telegram from
Marai, and on return to Kohat will submit a further report. Manner in which
Militia, &c., turned out in pursuit most satisfactory and promptness and pluck of
village chigha most commendable. Ends.

Enclosure 39 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-1West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary
to0 the Government of Indin, dated 28th November, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Following telegram received from Deputy Commissioner, Kohat, to-day:—
Begins. Owing to activity of raiders on this border the Samana Rifles and
Border Military Police have, during past fortnight, had little rest and very few
nights in bed, and hard work is telling on health of the men, many of whom are
suffering from fever and pneumonia. With the Samana Rifles and Border Military
Police at present strength, it is not possible, along such a long hordeT line, to under-
take proper and adequate measures for defence of our villagers and subjects in
British territory from the attacks of Afridi raiders without calling upon the
Military to afford greater assistance than I have hitherto asked for. I now propose
asking General Officer Commanding, Kohat, to send half battalion Native Infantry
to Raisan and half hattalion to Chillibagh for co-operation, when opportunity arises,
against raiders. This would be in addition to small detachments regular Infantry
and Cavalry which I might require at Alizai and Muhammadzai posts. 1 have
deferred making these proposals to General Officer Commanding, Kohat, pending
receipt of orders of Chief Commissioner as to his concurrence and would request
that his orders may be telegraphed to me. Ends. I have replicd:—DBegins. Your
telegram of to-day. Chief Commissioner agrees to your asking General Officer Com-
manding for troops as suggested. We are informing Government of India accorc-
ingly. Ends
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Enclosure 40 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioncr, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary
to the Government of India, dated 29th November, 1907,

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram dated 26th instant. Appears that Multan,
with gang of about 35 Zakka Khel, came from Miri Khel caves on night 25th instant.
Gang divided into two parties, one of which lifted 400 goats from Matanni and
carried off herdsman as far as Shinkamar where he was released. Other party fired
on Ladaur Burj, but fled on arrival of Matanni chigha. The telephone wire was
cut in several places and about one thousand feet of wire carried off.

Enclosufe 41 in No. 29.

From the Foreign Secretary to the Government of India to the Chief Commissioner,
North-1West Frontier Province, duted 30th November, 1907,

(Telegraphic.)

Your telegram of 27th November. Viceroy has received with satis-
faction report of satisfactory behaviour of troops, police and villagers on occasion of
Marai raid. He regrets the strain imposed on all concerned by the present raids,
but trusts that raiders may find that, with our border on the alert, these raids arc
more damaging to themselves than to us.

Englosure 42 in No. 29.
Extract from Khyber DPolitical Diary for the week ending 30th Noveriber, 1907,

In last diary it was noted that the raiders who attacked Bara Fort
on the 20th November had re-assembled at the mouth of the Bara and on
23rd news was received that one raiding party had left for the Kohat
District and that one intended to raid into Peshawar. This information was com-
municated to the Deputy Commissioner concerned, and the first party were so
warmly received by the Kohat Border Police and villagers, on their arrival at Marai
on the 25th instant, that they lost two killed and three wounded, while they got
no booty and there were no casualties on our side. One of the men killed was the
notorious “ Rokhan Karigar,” a Khusrogi, who has been a bold and determined
raider for the past twelve years. The other party made a futile attack on
a Border Police post named Ladaur in the Peshawar District, cut and carried
off about 1,000 yards of telegraph wire and some herds of cattle. Raiding
parties are still hanging about Barkai and the mouth of the Bara, but
there are detachments of troops on the line Matanni-Peshawar, and it is
difficult now for them to raid with comparative safety. It is stated, however, that
their recent losses, viz., two killed and three wounded at Marai, one killed and one
wounded at Lachi, onemortally wounded at Bara, and one mortally and one slightly
wounded at Palbi, have not discouraged, but have rather exasperated the Zakka
Khel. In last diary it was noted that there was some doubt as to the
identity of the raider shot at Bara. He turns out to be Mehr Dast, as at
first reported, and it is stated that he expired in Bazar on the 30th November.
Malik Sinjab, Sturi Khel, appears to have abandoned all pretence and
to have now openly taken sides with the Zakka Khel. Almost every raiding
party is lodgecf) and fed at Barkai, Sinjab’s men regularly join the raiders—in
fact it is stated that his son, Abdulla Jan, has taken part in the Bara Fort affair
and in other raids. Sinjab receives a share of all loot, openly gives out that he is
at war with the Sarkar, and is now turning out many of his kamsayas to make room
for Zakka Khel and Aka Khel mercenaries to defend Barkai in case of attack.
This village has been a thorn in the side of the Peshawar district for years and
15 now a second Gumatti. The two Hindus carried off from Samarai on the 5th
October last are still in captivity in Maidan, one is with Dadai’s family, and one
with the relations of Pahlwan, Zia-ud-din.
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Enclosure 43 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-1West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary
to the Government of India, dated 2nd December, 1907,

Telegraphic.) '

ontinuation my telegram dated 27th November. Following telegram from
Political Agent, Khyber, to Deputy Commissioner, Kohat, dated 1st December,
is repeated for information:—Begins. The two raiders killed were Rokhan,
Khusrogi Zakka, a very notorious raider gemerally known as Rokhan Karigar,
and Yardan, Zia-ud-din Zakka. Three men were wounded, Jemadar, Zia-ud-din
Zakka, Ser Jan, Khusrogi Zakka, and Mandozai, Anai Zakka. Ends. Political
Agent adds that Rokhan Karigar was one of the boldest raiders among the Zakka
Khel, who has lived by raiding and receiving stolen goods for the last ten years,
and he considers him equal in importance to Multan or Dadai.

Enclosure 44 in No. 29.

From the Political Agent, Khyber, to the Foreign Secretary lo the Government of India,
dated Gth December, 1907,
(Telegraphic.)
Twelve mules and donkeys employed on Fort Maude cutting carried off yesterday
from Khyber Road at mouth of Pass by Zakka Khel raiders. Animals taken to
Bazar.

Enclosure 45 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North- West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secretary to
the Government of India, dated €th Deccmber, 1907,

(Telegraphic.)

On night of 5th instant a gang of about 12 raiders, said to be Afridis. broke
into a bania’s shop in Masho Khel in Peshawar district, and after ransacking boxes
shot the bania dead and made off. Before leaving village they fired ten shots at
Lambardar. Village Chigha turned out and met party of 57th Rifles, who had
come out from Bara, and by mistake fired on them wounding an Afridi lance-naik,
but not badly. The party of 57th Rifles and Border Military Police proceeded to
Hamzarai Ender in search of the raiders, but returned without success this
morning.

Enclosure 46 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Foreign Secrctary
to the (Fovernment of India, dated 8th December, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Commandant, 17th Cavalry, Bannu, reports that four Afridi sowars of his
regiment have deserted with four Martini-Lee-Enfield rifles and 80 rounds each ball
ammunition from Squadron Training Camp, Laluzai, near Bannu.

Enclosure 47 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Fronticr Province, to the Forcign Secretary
to the Government of India, dated 9th December, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

Continuation my telegram dated 6th December. From information received
it appears that gang who raided Masho Khel and shot bania on 5th instant
consisted of 16 persons, of whom 6 were recognised as Zia-ud-din Zakka Khel;
namely, Sher Dil, Merak, Mir Azam, Pahlwan, Amir Shah, and Saiyid Khan. The
remainder consisted of another Zakka Khel and persons unknown, possibly also
Zakka Khel. They retreated viA Mamari Gudar towards Barkai.
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Enclosure 48 in No. 29.

From the Foreign Secretary to the (fovernment of India, to the (hie/ Commissioner,
North-West Frontier rovince, dated 17th December, 1907,

(Telegraphic.) .

Please refer to your letter of 3vd December, 1906. What, in your opinion,
would be the effect on the Afridi and horder tribes in Afghanistan, if we now took
action against Zakka Khel and occupied Bazar Valley?

Enclosure 49 in No. 29.

From the Chief Commissioner, North-West Irontier Province, to the Foreiyn Secretary to
the Government of India, dated 17 December, 1907.

(Telegraphic.) ,

Your telegram of the 17th December. Ju .rom present attitude
of Afridis, there is no disposition on the part of ot.  sections to identify them-
selves with Zakka Ihels, and there is no reason to anticipate that they would join
in opposing the advance into Bazar. Until punishment of Zakka Khels has heen
carried out, it is impossible to predict the future attitude of oth¢r Afridis, to wiom
occupation of Bazar will doubtless be distasteful, but who, at the same time, have
no desire to give Governmernt cause for again entering Tirah. The only Afghan
border tribe of any importance, viz., the Sangu Khel Shinwaris, have no interest in
Bazar or Tirah, and I see no reason to anticipate trouble from them.

Enclosure 50 in No. 29.

From the Chicf Commissioner, North- West Fronticr Province, to the Foreiyn Secretary to
the Government of India, dated 20th December, 1907.

(Telegraphic.)

My telegram of 17th December. If we are allowed to say definitely to
the Afridi clans that unless they put an end to the present state of affairs with
the Zakka Khels, Government have decided to punish Zakka Khels at once, I would
ask permission to summon Afridi Jirga and put matters clearly before them. This
course offers only possible alternative to use of troops. If Afridis express inability
or unwillingness to coerce Zakka Khels and to take responsibility for future
behaviour, we should, any way, obtain from them public expression of our right
to do so and deprive them of any excuse for joining Zakka Khels. It would, how-
ever, be useless and only weaken our position to discuss matters with them unless
we can express intention of Government definitely.

No. 30.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 2Tth January, 1908,
(Telegraphic.)

_ North-West Frontier. See our Despatch of 9th instant. Telegram from
Sir H. Deane states that Kacha Garhi railway station between Jamrud and
Peshawar was attacked by 30 raiders on night of 24th instant; one of the station
staff was severely wounded and another was carried off. Latter was subsequentl
released, on station-master raising cry of approach of Khyber Rifles, at whic
raiders took to flight. As regards composition of the gang that executed the raid,
further inquiries are being made. :
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No. 31.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 30th January, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)

My telegram dated 27th instant. Telegram from Sir H. Deane states that
object of Zakka Khel gang which raided Kacha Garhi was to lure out and attack
Border Military Police garrison of that place. Gang consisted of Anai and Zia-
ud-din Zakka Khel, with some Aka and Sturi Khel.

No. 32.

From Secretary of State to Viceroy, dated 30th January, 1908,
(Telegraphic.)

My sense of the fundamental objections to a policy of occupation of Zakka
Khel territory, which appears founded on assumption that strict limitation of
operations to occupying Bazar Valley will be possible, is increased by definite
proposals in your letter of 9th instant. It is impossible to regard your
present proposals otherwise than as involving a reversal of the policy estab-
lished by Lord George Hamilton’s Despatch of 28th January, 1898.*  Dis-
cussion of the subject from this wider point of view has not heen considered
necessary by you, and you have left for consideration after the event the
question of what action to take should an 'Afridi rising, or possibly a general
tribal rising on the scale of the 1897 rising, take place. This result the
occupation of Bazar would tend to produce owing to the restlessness it would rouse
in every tribe along the northern frontier, and the suspicion that it was only part
of a scheme for the practical annexation of all of them in turn. His Majesty’s
Government are not prepared in these circumstances to approve measures incon-
sistent with the policy laid down in the despatch cited above, which my predecessor
confirmed in his Despatch of 28th October, 1904. On that occasion it was decided
that no reason for abandoning the principles fixed in 1898 was constituted by fact
that certain Orakzai clans had expressed the desire to be taken over by us.
You state, I observe, in your letter of the 7th March, that, but for geographical
position of Bazar Valley, which made occupation preferable, you would have
recommended punitive expedition or blockade. Though they must disallow
any policy of permanent occupation or annexation, His Majesty’s Government
would be prepared, in view of grave situation which incessant Zakka raids have
produced, to consider any proposals that you may think it desirable to submit,
limited to blockade and punitive measures in Bazar Valley. Combination of
blockade with punitive action séems to be favoured by experience of Maahsud opera-
tions of 1901. Please refer to telegram of 1st November, 1901, from Lorfd George
Hamilton,t in which sharp sallies, limited to three or four days’ duration, in
addition to the passive blockade, were sanctioned. Please report for previous
sanction terms of communication you think should be made to Afridi jirga regarding
conduct of Zakka Khel section, bearing in mind restrictions on operations against
Zakka imposed by these instructions; and also that neutrality of Afridis, not their
active co-operation, seems to be all we can expect or reasonably claim.

* See Cd, 496 of 1901, p. 5. t See Cd. 1177 of 1902, p. 246.
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No. 33.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 30th January, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)

Following telegram, dated 29th instant, received from Chief Commissioner,
North-West Frontier Province:—* Peshawar city raided last night by gang of
60-80 men. There is no doubt that gang were Zakka Khel, as it was known they
had left Bazar for purpose of raiding, it being given out that Nowshera was their
destination. Casualties were: Two chaukidars wounded, one of whom is stated to
be dying. Two police constables wounded, one killed. It is reported that property
was carried off from house of a banker named Chela Ram, to the value of
Rs. 1,00,000. Deputation complaining of the great state of insecurity has been
sent up by Hindu merchants of the city. No successful action on part of troops
and Khyber Rifles, who turned out after raiders, has been reported.”

No. 34,

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 3lst January, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)

North-West Frontier. Grave situation occasioned by latest raids on railway
station at Kacha Garhi and in Peshawar city has been considered by me in Council.
Our opinion is unanimous that vindication of our authority without delay and
proof of our determination to protect life and property in British administered
territory have become absolutely necessary, and that immediate action is required
for credit of Government. To influence position by aid of jirga, as our Despatch
of 9th instant suggested, is, in our opinion, no longer possible, but we propose that
maliks of other sections of Afridis should be assembled, in order that the impos-
sibility of the situation created by the insolence of the raids and unprovoked out-
rages of the Zakka Khels may be pointed out to them, and that they may he re-
assured that no injury to other sections of the Afridis, or interruption of our
friendly relations with them is in any way intended by our punishment of Zakkas.
We propose that, as soon as possible after assembly of maliks, expedition should
start for Bazar Valley. Permission for immediate action on above lines is
requested. Employment of two brigades from Peshawar and Nowshera respectively,
with one brigade held in reserve at Nowshera, would, in our opinion, successfully
accomplish operations.

No. 35.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 1st February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)

North-West Frontier. My telegram of 31st ultimo crossed yours of
30th January regarding Zakka Khels. We do not think punitive expedition can
be delayed, as the situation on the frontier is now so acute, and, notwithstanding
our strong opinion that steps should be taken to open up Zakka Khel territory in
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order to prevent a recurrence of similar events in future, we think the necessity
for immediate measures is so great that we must act in any case; and we consider
that, however restricted our subsequent action may be, punitive measures should
at once be taken. A Dblockade on lines of Mahsud operations would, owing to
geographical position of Zakka Khel territory, be impossible without the entry of
our troops into territory of other sections of Afridis, whose friendship we seek to
retain, and possibility of a general Afridi rising would doubtless be greatly
increased by such action. Our proposals as regarcfs jirga, which appear to be in
accordance with your views on the point, were communicated in our telegram of 31st
January.

No. 36.

From Secretary of State to Viceroy, dated 2nd February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Zakka Khel. Your telegram, dated 31st ultimo. Subject to restrictions
imposed in my telegram of 30th ultimo, viz.,, strict time limitation on punitive
operations in Bazar Valley and no occupation or annexation, I approve your
proposal for immediate action. Fact that there is to‘be no occupation or annexa-
tion should facilitate communidation to be made to Amir and Afridis. In view
of participation of Sturi Khel in raid on Kacha Garhi, it seems question whether
communication should not be made to Orakzai jirga on same lines as to Afridis,
I shall be glad to receive a statement of the details of operations contem-
plated as soon as possible. Reference in my telegram of 30th to
Lord G. Hamilton’s telegram of 1st November, 1901, will not escape
your observation. It is a matter for your consideration whether, for
purposes of actual punitive action in Bazar, most effective means of carrying out
object would not be the employment of a small detachment from force you propose
to mobilise, equipped to act with greatest celerity.

No. 87%.

From Viceroy to Secvetary of State, dated Ath February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Zakka Khel. Your telegram dated 2nd in-tant. I would propose that
question of summoning Orakzai nialiks should be left to discretion of Chief Com-
missioner, North-West Frontier Province, it being intimated to him that Orakzai
maliks should be summoned with Afridi maliks, unless there are reasons to the
contrary. Instructions regarding communication to maliks in sense of your tele-
gram have been sent to Chief Commissioner, but to inform Amir that we had no
intention of anmexing tribal territory would in my opinion, not be necessary.
As regards proposed military action, great risk of a disaster to our men, which
would undoubtedly set whole frontier in a blaze, would, in our opinion, be involved
by small sallies of froops unsupported in the Bazar Valley. Fighting strength
'which Zaklka Khel can produce in the Bazar Valley is about 6,000, and we propose
to move into'the valley at or near China two brigades, consisting of about a similar
number of men, with two batteries, sappers, &c., one brigade being held in readiness



a7

to support t}_1e-m should necessity arise. Th_e foroq in the Bazar Va}ley, after
occupying China, would take such measures, with a view to capture of ringleaders
and those implicated in recent raids, as circumstances may require. Passes
surrounding valley would be blocked during this period, and we propose that a
force f selected Khyber rifles, who we are assvred can ke relied on for the pnrpose,
should be used to assist in this.

No. 88.

From Secretary of State to Viceroy, dated 6th February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.) .

Zakka IXhel.  Your telegram dated 4th instant. You do not, T gather, object to
jirga being informed that no annexation of trikhal territory is intended. It must be
better that Amir should learn this from us at first hand, as it is sure to reach
him through tribal sources. That Amir should clearly understand nature of our
action against the tribes is plainly to our advantage. An explanation to him of
this in friendly terms cannot surely present any difficulty. Employment of
proposed force is approved. It must be clearly understood, I repeat, that
end in view is limited strictly to punishment of Zakka Khel, and not occu-
pation or annexation of tribal territory, either directly or indirectly, imme-
diately or ultimately. In the event of escape of ringleaders leading to longer
duration of operations this should especially be borne in mind, and any announce-
ment of policy that you may make, whether to the tribes or otherwise, should on no
account mention capture or surrender of ringleaders in such a way that we are
committed to it as a condition of withdrawing. The chances of complications with
other tribes will increase the longer vou stay in Zakka Khel territory after inflict-
ing punishment.  Any opportunitv of eflecting a settlement with tribe that
presents itself during or after operations will no doubt he taken.

No. 389.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated Tth February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)

Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, reports that on the night
of the 5th February a gang, supposed to be Zakka Khel, raided Alazai village, in
Peshawar District, and looted house of a Hindu, who was shot and stabbed. Raiders
carried off a Government rifle.

No. 40.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated Sth February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.) :
~ On the night of 3rd February last house of a Hindu named Ram
Singh at Tirahi Bala, Peshawar district, was looted of cash and jewels, estimated
value Rs. 800, by gang of Afridis. Ram Singh answered raiders’ fire with his
snider, and at least one of the gang was wounded. Ruaid was doubtless work of
Zakka Khel, but no definite information on this point.
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No. 41.
From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 9th February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Your telegram dated 6th February, 1908. Amir could easily be informed in 5
friendly letter that we have no intention of changing present system of administering
tribal territory owing to behaviour of Zakkas. ‘As expedition will, we trust,
be short, and Amir will we hope see troops withdrawn soon after he gets letter, we
think, on the whole, it would be better that no reference as to our future action
should be made to him. Instructions for expedition issued by us are precisely
as stated by you. Necessity for surrender of leaders is not laid down. We shall
oome out, after capturing all we can and inflicting as severe punishment as possible,

No. 42,
From Secretary of State to Viceroy, dated 10th February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Full details of force employed against Zakka Khel and of military opera-
tions should be furnished. I quite agree, with reference to your telegram of 9th
instant, to Amir being informed in friendly terms that no change in present system
of administering tribal territory is intended.

No. 43.
From Secretary of State to Viceroy, dated 12th February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)

I should be glad if reply could be expedited to my telegram of yesterday
regarding details of force to operate against Zakka Khel. Estimate of cost of
operations should be telegraphed.

No. 44.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 12th February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)
Composition of expeditionary force against Zakka Khels as follows : —
Commanding, Major-General Sir James Willcocks, with full political control,
and Lieutenant-Colonel Roos-Keppel as Political Officer.
General Commanding First Brigade, Brigadier-General Anderson, with
following troops : —
1st Batlalion Royal Warwickshire Regiment.
53rd Sikhs (Frontier Force).
59th Scinde Rifles (Frontier Force).
2nd Battalion 5th Gurkha Rifles (Frontier Force).



99

General Commanding Second Brigade, Major-General Barrett, with following

§:—
trook 1st Battalion Seaforth Highlanders.

28th Punjabis.

54th Sikhs (Frontier Force).

45th Rattray’s Sikhs.

Divisional and lines of communication troops:—
Two squadrons 37th Lancers (Baluch Horse).
Mountain Division, No. 3 Battery, Royal Garrison Artillery.
Four guns 22nd Derajat Mountain Battery (Frontier Force).
No. 6 Company of 1st Prince of Wales’s Own Sappers and Miners.
Three sections No. 9 Company of 2nd Queen’s Own Sappers and Miners.
23rd Sikh Pioneers.
25th Punjabis.
19th La.lncers (Fane’s Horse), cover advance as far as border of Peshawar
Valley.
Third Brigade in reserve stationed at Nowshera, General Commanding, Major-
General Watkis, with following troops:—
1st Battalion, Royal Munster Fusiliers.
1st Battalion 6th Gurkha Rifles.
55th Coke’s Rifles (Frontier Force).
23rd Peshawar Mountain Battery (Frontier Force).
* Strength of garrison Peshawar increased by 1st Battalion 5th Gurkba Rifles
(Frontier Force) from Brigade in reserve.

Troops will move lightly equipped, and followers have been reduced as much as
possible. General Willcocks continues to command Peshawar Division during the
operations. Information regarding composition of force has not been given out
yet to any one. Force probably moves to-morrow, but this depends upon result of
discussion with Maliks, of which we have not heard anything as yet from Deane.
You will be kept fully posted, and all information will be sent to you before it is
given out. .

No. 45.

From Viceroy to Secretury of State, dated 13th February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Zakka Khel operations. Lstimate of cost. See your telegram of 12th February.
From materials directly available following rough estimates have been framed.
It is should be clearly understood that they are necessarily very rough.

(1) Something under Rs. 10,000,000 1f operations are completed within three

weeks.
(2) Cost will somewhat exceed Rs. 20,000,000 if operations extend to two

months.
(3) Probably cost will be between Rs. 26,000,000 and Rs 30,000,000 if opera-

tions extend to three months.

No. 46.

From Viceroy to Sccretary of State. dated 13th February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Zakka Khel. Following received from Political Agent, Khyber, dated 12th
February : —* Most of the Zakka Khel have moved their Families, flocks, and move-
able property to Ningrahar and the Bara, and have buried their grain. The
majority have gone to Ningrahar. Dadai has faken his family to Kahi, Multan
to Nakhtarnao, and Usman to the Bara. All fighting men have promised to return
at once. Usman has returned the stolen camels to the Sarhang of Dakka. All is
quiet on the Khyber road and here.” ’
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No. 47.

From Vicervy to Sceretary of State, dated 14th February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.) o ' _ .

Zakka Khel. ‘Chief Commissioner interviewed the Maliks and elders of the Alrigj
clans assembled at Peshawar on the 12th instant and addressed them to the following
effect :—“Maliks and elders, you have seen for yourselves how the Zakka Khcls have
for some time past raided into British territory, robbing and killing and wounding
subjects and servants of Government and carrying off people for ransom. g
several occasions during the last four years I have asked you to combine to put
a stop to this. Government have ) een very patient and unfortunately you have not
sucoeeded in putting a stop to these raids. I have summoned you here to-day to
announce to you that Government have decided to punish the Zakka Khels by force.
You yourselves have adhered to your agreements and we have no quarrel with you.
In sending troops Government has no desire or intention of annexing the territory
of any one. What is desired is that an end be put to this misbehaviour of the Zalkka,
Kbels. We look to you to assist us in making satisfactory arrangements for the
future. 1f you choose you can do so, for you can put pressure on the Zakka Khels
in Tirah. Since some of you came in here I know that mischief-makers have tried
to impress you with lies as to Government’s intentions. They will certainly do so
again when the troops start. 1 tell you not to believe them. If you have any doubts
in your mind, come and ask me. After seeing you now I shall tell the General he
can move the troops, and I advise you to go at once to your clan and assure them as
to the intentions of Government and restrain your young men from joining the
Zakka Khels against the Government troops. I also advise you to get together
the Zakka Khels of Bara and Tirah, and with them make arrangements for future
peace with the Bazar Zakka Khels. The sooner satisfactory arrangements are
made, the sooner will Government be able to withdraw the troops. We hope to be
able to do this quickly.” TFollowing received from Political Agent, Khyber, dated
Landi Kotal, 13th February:—

“Chief Commissioner’s speech to Afridi jirgas has had excellent effect.
Maliks and elders reached Kajurai plain yesterday evening from Peshawar,
and have gone to Bara valley to-day re-assure their tribesmen. They propose
to raise lashkar, take it to Zakka Khel villages in Upper Bara. and put utmost
pressure on Zakka Khels. Attitude of younger men not yet known. Several
messengers from Bazar arrived to-day and report wholesale exodus »id Thabai
pass. Reported that Zakka Khels have not gone far, but are living in caves
and camps on northern slopes of pass. Weather fine and warm: snow on the
hills melting rapidly.”

No. 48.

From Secretary of State to Viceroy, dated 14th February, 1903.

(Telegraphic.)

Expeditionary Force. I should be glad if substance of military instructions
issued to Willcocks be telegraphed fully to me. I should be glad to be informed
at once by telegraph whether troops have been supplied with expanding bullets.

No. 49.
From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 15th February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Expeditionary Force. With reference to your telegram dated 14th February,
Willcocks has received instructions to following effect:—(Begins): Tull political
control is vested in the General Officer Commanding the expedition.
He will be accompanied by the Political Agent, Khyber, as Chief Political
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Officer who, as such, will in political matters advise and give him every possible
assistance. The General Officer Commanding must possess complete authority and
responsihility,_but the views of the Chief Political Ofﬁcgr as to any question of
policy respecting the attitude of any of the Khyher tribes or adjacent country
shall be forwarded to the Government of India if the Chief Political Officer, for
reasons recorded, so wishes. The punishment of the Zakka Khels is the only object
of the expedition, and no annexation or occupation of tribal territory will take
place either directly or indirectly now or ultimately. Tn order to prevent extension
of trouble to country outside Bazar Valley every possible precaution must be taken.
Without previous reference to Government of India no terms, fine, or surrender of
raiders should be imposed on Zakka Khel tribe. (Ends.) No expanding bullets
are kept in store in this country and none have heen issued to troops.

No. 50.

From Viceroy to Sccreinry of State, duated 16th February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

General Willcocks telegraphs 15th: “Left Lala China with Barrett’s
Brigade, half 2nd Battalion 5th Gurkha Rifles, No. 3 Mountain Battery, and de-
tachment No. 6 Company 1st Sappers and Miners at daybreak. All ranks carried
three days’ rations, no baggage or supply column accompanied. Arrived Walai
near China in Bazar Valley, rear guard coming in at 7 p.m. After passing Tsar
Kham our left flank was fired on, and left flank picquets were fired on the whole
way into camp, guns covering them. Have no news of Roos-Keppel's column, but
hope they have reached China in Bazar; am trying to get into touch with him.
Most of Anderson’s column is at Chora in fort in village and half battalion remained
at Ghora Kotal. Everything tends to show I was not expected till to-morrow.
Zakka Khels were taken by surprise and had not time to occupy their strongest
position—the hill above Walai called Khar Gumba; 1st Battalion Seaforth High-
landers’ picquets now hold this hill.”

No. 51.

From Gpicer Commanding Bazar Valley Lzpedition to Sceretary of State,
dated 16th I'ebruary, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Fort Maude, 16th February. I left Lala China, near Ali Masjid, yesterday
morning, with Second Brigade under General Barrett, and half battalion 2nd Batta-
lion 5th Gurkhas, No. 3 Mountain Battery, and detachment Sappers without any
baggage, and all ranks carried three days' rations on person. Column reached
Walai, near China in Bazar, last evening. Immediately after leaving Malikdin
country, at Thar Chanai Kamai, column was opposed on left flank, and this con-
tinued through march. Heavy sniping during the night. Simultaneously with my
advance, column under Roos-Keppel, consisting of wing 2nd Battalion 5th Gurkhas
and 700 Khyher Rifles marched from Landi Kotal viia the Bazar Pass. It is
reported from Landi Kotal to have crossed the Bazar Pass without opposition and
entered Bazar Valley. I expect to join hands with him to-day. Most of the First
Brigade under General Anderson are at Chora. Our rapid advance completely
Surprised enemy, and enabled us to anticipate them gaining possession of the
strongest position in the valley.
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No. 52.

LFrom Officer Commanding Bazar Valley Eupedition to Secretary of State,
" dated 17th IFebruary, 1908,

(Telegraphic.) .

Fort Maude, 17th February. Joined hands with Colonel Roos—Keppel’s
column yesterday, 16th February. He reached China in Bazar on night of 15th
without opposition, but his picquets were fired on during night. He has had no
casualties. Moved my camp yesterday near to China in Bazar. 45th Rattray’s
Sikhs, which formed part of escort for large convoy coming here from Chora
yesterday, whilst picqueting hills close to my camp were attacked by enemy in.
considerable strength. I ordered them to take the hill on which the enemy were
posted, supporting them by the Seaforth Highlanders, two guns of No. 3 Mountain
Battery, and the 22nd Derajat Mountain Battery. The hill was carried. Wing of
2nd Battalion 5th Gurkhas, which I had detached on 15th to hold commanding hill
on line of communication, report they were sniped that night, but only a few mules
wounded.

No. 53.

From Viceroy to Sceretary of State. dated 19th February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)

General Willcocks telegraphs from camp east of China in Bazar on 17th
February last as follows:— Sipah Malik Shah Mard and Kamarai Malik Anar Gul
write from Bara that Bara Zakka Khels have stated that they will submit to any
terms. The Zia-ud-din Zakka Khels have left Shinkadar and most have gone to
the Khel country. Large numbers of Bazar Zakka Khel and many Sangu Khel
Shinwari volunteers have collected at Thabai and Mangal Bagh passes. Strong
lashkar of Zakka Khel assembled on 15th February at Darbund, as it was believed
the Landi Kotal column would enter Bazar by that route. The Kuki and Kambar
Khel Maliks are collecting their jirgas and assembling at Bukar in the Bara; they
have not got in communication with Bazar Zakka Khel. Report of Mohmands join-
ing Zakka Khel is untrue.” :

No. 54.

From Opficer Commanding Bazar Valley Evpedition to Secretary of State,
dated 19th February, 1908,
(Telegraphic.)
Camp east of China in Bazar, 18th February. Camps fired into last night.
I to-day accompanied column under the command of General Barrett, and destroyed
the fortified towers of China. On leaving to return to camp the column was
persistently attacked by Zakka Khels.

No. 55.

Urom Officer Commanding Bazar Valley Eupedition to Secretary of State,
dated 19th February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Camp east of China in Bazar, 19th February. Column under General Ander-
son to-day completed the destruction of the towers at China. The Zakka Khel
opposition was markedly less than it has been hitherto, and reliable information has
becn received that their casualties have been very heavy.
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No. 56.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 20th February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)
Expedition against Zakka Khel. General Willcocks tclegraphed as follows
on 19th instant from Bazar Camp east of China. “ Confirmation received of news

that Amir has issued a proclamation by which his subjects are fori;idden to join and
help Zakka Khel. No signs exist that other_Afridis, in any numbers, are joining
Zakka Khel. In the fighting of 15th and 16th February Zakka Khel are reported
to have lost 8 killed and 17 wounded. Xhel Jan (Shinwari), Saminulla and Ghani
(Anais), and Khair Jan (Khusrogi) were among the killed. No accurate information
has yet been received as to Zakka losses in yesterday’s fighting, but they are believed
to have been very heavy. No Mohmands have come through Bazar Valley although
Zakka have sent messages to Mohmands urging them to rise. Full confirmation
received of news that Dadai was dangerously wounded. We have as yet received
no news of Kambar Khel and Kuki jirgas.”

No. 57.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dateid 20th Frbruary, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Expedition against Zakka Khel. Arrival at camp, yesterday evening, of Malik
Shah Mard Siah, Sipah, and Anar Gul Azam, Kamrai, with 15 elders, 1s reported
by General Willcocks. They state that Kambar and Kuki jirgas are momentarily
expected, and that jirga of about 400 Malikdin Sipah and Kamrai has arrived
at Halwai. Jirgas have been told to proceed as soon as possible to Chora; all
are anxious for peace, with a few exceptions, but, until other tribes interfere,
Zakka will continue to resist according to code of honour. It is believed by Maliks
that they can obtain assurances from Zakka, which will enable them to guarantee
their future good behaviour, if they are give sufficient time to collect jirgas and
negotiate with tribe. Before committing themselves to definite pledges they require
ume for deliberation; and they say that, both for our sake and their own, matter
must he settled while the support they have hitherto required is still afforded them
by the presence of the troops. When jirga is assembled Willcocks says that he and
Roos-Keppel will see them; they both consider tribesmen in a mood to make amongst
themselves really binding agreement by which future responsibility for good
behaviour of Zakka will %e undertaken. Willcocks adds that unique opportunity
to obtain lasting results from the expedition is thus offered. Question is only
one ot days, but elders will be unable to make arrangements, and all efforts on
their part will disappear if troops are suddenly withdrawn without warning
whilst deliberations are in progress. Instructions are solicited by Willcocks whether
present arrangement to retire from valley on 23rd February should, in the circum-
stances, Le adhered to. Telegram from Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier
Province, states that to act through other Afridi jirgas while troops are still in
Bazar is the only hope of effecting settlement with Zakka Khel; and that jirgas are
not likely to do anything once troops withdraw. Following instructions have been
sent to Willcocks:—* You should not consider yourself rigidly bound to date fixed
for evacuation, as the importance of arriving at settlement is so considerable.
At the same time this must not be regarded as in any way changing Secretary
of State's orders, by which evacuation is required at earliest possible date compat-
ible with as satisfactory results as can be hoped for. Meeting of jirga should be
expedited, and early decision pressed for, and you should be very careful that our
withdrawal from Bazar without in any way breaking faith with tribes is not jeo-
Pardised by these negotiations, should they fail or Le unduly protracted.”
We are not aware what Willcocks considers will be duration of mnegotiations
before such a settlement as would enable troops to retire is arrived at. Willcocks
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has also been told that to get our troops out as soon as possible must be to advan.
tage of Afridis generally, and Zakka in particular, and that it might be possihle,
working on this consideration, to arrange with Malik for troops to withdraw
when general decision on the subject is arrived at by jirgas, and before all details
of an agreement, arrangement of which might take time and much discussion, are
formally settled by them. Your views on the situation that has arisen are solicited.

No. 58.

From Officer Commanding Bazar Valley Expedition to Secretary of State,
dated 20th Lebruary, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Camp, east of China, in Bazar, 20th February. Column under General Ander-
son moved to-day to reconnoitre Sassobi Pass. Towers at Khwar and Surmundo
were destroyed. Advanced guard was fired on from hills'on both sides of pass. Left
flanking Dbattalions were attacked by Zalka Khel on hills west of China. No
casualties. Enemy are mainly in neighbourhood of Halwal and Nikai, where they
have strongly sangared positions which I will attack to-morrow.

No. 59.

From Secretary of State to Viceroy, dated 21st February, 1908.
(Telegraphic.) .
Expedition against Zakka Khel. Extension of time limited to purpose named
in your instructions to General Willcocks is approved. There seems promise of
ood result in situation. Bearings of discussion of details with jirga should be
fully reported to me. General Willcocks should be instructed that any report to
you on the subject should be repeated direct to me for my information. No opera-

tions which could be construed as infringing even debatable Afghan territory
should be undertaken.

No. 60.

From Officer Commanding Dazar Valley Expedition to Secretary of State,

dated 21st Februwry, 19U8.

(Telegraphic.)

Camp, east of China, in Bazar, dated 2Ist February. I attacked the enemy's
position at Halwai to-day with two columns under command of General Barrett and
General Anderson. Barrett seized hills north of China and occupied them with 28th
Punjabis, sending Seaforths and Khyber Rifles up the Bazar River south of China,
the 54th Sikhs heing in support. Anderson moved up valley north of China hills,
and, debouching through Kotal, west of China, delivered combined attack with
Barrett. The enemy were in considerable strength and strongly sangared on the
high hills over Halwai, but troops carried position without a check, and held them
whilst towers were destroyed. On leaving Halwai to return to camp, distant seven
miles, enemy were joined by considerable numbers from direction of Thabai Pass,
and persistently clung to our flanks and rear to within a mile of camp, but could
nowlere make any impression. The retirement was carried out with great coolness,
particularly by the Seaforth Highlan-lers, 53rd Sikhs, and 59th Rifles, and was
admirably supported by the guns of the 22nd Derajat Mountain Battery. I attribute
our small losses to the high state of efficiency in training which our troops have
acquired. From personal observation I am convinced that the enemy lost very
heavily. In. Major Forbes-Semphill, who was killed during the day, the service has
lost one of its hest officers. He was killed whilst gallantly leading one of His
Majesty’s finest battalions. Troops in excellent health. All wounded doing well.
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No. 61.

Irrom Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 23nd February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.) .

Expedition against Zakka Khel. Instructions have hecen sent to General
willeocks, in accordance with your telegram of yesterday. Report already reccived
from him states that, in the opinion of Major Roos-Keppel and himself, there is
every hope of a satisfactory settlement under discretion now given. Both he and
Major Roos-Keppel consider that, as jirga would have no other incentive to settle
business once pressure of troops is removed, it is imperatively necessary that any
settlement arrived at should-be signed ‘and sealed hy them before troops begin to
move. Full jirga is expected at Chora to-day, and General Willcocks hopes that
pegotiations may be completed in three days.  Supplies for a week are heing
arranged by him. Following instructions have heen sent to General Willcocks in
order to avoid delay :—* We give you free hand to make the hest terms you can
with tribe subject to conditions alrecady laid down.  Obliteration of past and
guarantee for future have been stated hy Sir H. Deane to be probably the only
practicable line of settlement. If this will securc speedy settlement, which Secretary
of State desires, we will accept it.”

No. 62.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 23rd February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Zakka Khel expedition. Jirga of most important elders has now heen collected,
according to telegram from General Willcocks of to-day’s date. Mulla Saiyid
Akbar has gone to Waran in disgust, having failed to induce Afridis and Aka
Khel to join Zakka.

No. 63.

LFrom Officer Commanding Bazar Valley Fepedition to Sceretary or State,
dated 23rd February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)

Camp east of China in Bazar, 23rd February.

The Afridi jirga, fotalling about 300, arrived in camp this evening. They
include all the maliks and a majority of the representative elders, and form a
satisfactory jirga. They state that owing to the expedition they have had no direct
Intercourse as yet with the Zakka Khel, but that they have received messages
from many of them asking them to mediate and to ascertain the terms of Govern-
ment. I have told them that we do not wish to tie their hands hy announcing
elaborate terms, and that it is for them to consider and decide the hest manner of
effecting a real settlement. They are discussing this question to-night, and I shall
see them to-morrow. They seem to be in a reasonable and sensible mood and to
have confidence in the success of their efiorts. They deserve great credit for the
way in which they have prevented their voung men from joining the Zakka Khel
In spite of the incitements of the Mullas.

No. 64.

From Opicer Commanding Bazar Valley Eepedition to Secretary or Statr,
dated z-tth February, 1908.
(Telegraphic.) )

. Camp east of China in Bazar, 23rd February. Camp was heavily sniped last
night.  As usual some men pushed close between the pickets. Parties of Sangu
Khel and other Shinwaris continue to arrive in Bazar and in Thabai. It is esti-
mated that 500 have arrived to date. During the return to camp from Halwai, on
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21st instant, parties of enemy dressed in khaki uniform pushed to within short
distance of firing line of Seaforth Highlanders, at least five so dressed being shot
close up to the line. As the enemy were observed yesterday to be collecting on the
China ﬁills, a column under General Anderson was sent this morning to disperse
them. Only slight opposition was experienced, and although the Zakkas pursued
their usual tactics in following up our return to camp, they did so in a half-hearted
way, and no casualties occurred except two sappers and a follower who were injured
during explosion of a remaining tower. DPresent information fully confirmed pre-
vious estimate of heavy losses inflicted on enemy. 300 elders of Afridi jirga are
now in camp, including the maliks of the most important sections, and others are
reported to be coming in. Propose to interview them to-morrow, and have hopes
of satisfactory settlement.

No. 65.

From Officer Commanding Bazar Valley Expedition to Secretary of State,
dated 24th February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Camp east of China in Bazar, 24th February. All quiet since last report. Only
few shots fired into camp last night. To-day several columns under Colonel Buchanan,
54th Sikhs, searched country at south-east of Bazar Valley in neighbourhood of
Jabagai. Only trifling resistance encountered, and few enemy seen. The column
destroyed the low fortified tower at Jabagai, and returned without any casualty.
In my message of 21st February, I omitted to mention that General Anderson’s
column, which made the frontal attack on the hill above Halwai, consisted of Royal
Warwicks, 53rd Sikhs, 54th Rifles, and 2nd Battalion 5th Gurkhas, with the
22nd Derajat Mountain Battery. I intervicwed the leading Afridi Maliks to-day.
They openly confessed the heavy and merited punishment inflicted on the Zakka
Khel, and are desirous of effecting a settlement. But, although I have every hope
of arriving at a satisfactory agreement, the maliks referred to the necessity of
receiving the moral support of the presence of our troops in case the Zakka Khel
proved recalcitrant during the preliminary negotiations, as the accession to their
strength from the Sangu XKhel, reported in my previous telegram, which is
now stated to be considerably increased, may possibly encourage the Zakka Khel
to hold out for a time, at least against the pressure of the Afridi jirga. The maliks
and elders of the other Afridis are most anxious in their own interests to arrive
at a definite settlement, as they see trouble and danger to themselves in the future
if the situation is prolonged. I consider that as we have called them in to help us
in effecting a settlement we are bound to consider their wishes and opinions, and
give them such sufficient time for their negotiations as will give a reasonable
prospect of success.  But for the complication introduced by the accession of
strength referred to I should have been confident of almost immediate settlement,
and I still hope that this may only cause slight delay. I feel, however, that it is
my bounden duty, in the position in which I am then placed, to point out that any
premature withdrawal will result in political deadlock and a certainty of renewed
trouble on any scale. We are now here in a dominating position, and one in which
the presence of our troops has a great influence in completing a satisfactory solution,
and I would earnestly deprecate any rigid limitation of the actual number of days

r%quired to arrive at a settlement, which I am using every possible endeavour to
effect.

No. 66.

From Secretary of State to Viceroy, dated 25th February, 1908.
(Telegraphic.)
Expedition against Zakka Khel. See telezram of 24th February from General

Willcocks. So long as General Willcocks has good reason for believing presence

of troops conducive to satisfactory result of negotiations, there is no case for rigid
limitation.
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No. 67.

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 25th Felbruary, 1908,

(Telegraphic.) )
Expegition against Zakka Khel. We have replied as follows to telegram of
94th February from General Willcocks, which was repeated to you:—" Actual

number of days required to arrive at a settlement has not been rigidly limited.
Our readiness to accept Sir H. Deane's view of terms, and Secretary of
State’s desire for early settlement have heen communicated to you. Quick settle-
ment, followed by withdrawal of troops, is the important thing to effect. Within
these limits you have been given full discretion.”

No. 68.

From Officer Commanding Bazar Valley Ezpedition to Secretary of State,
dated 25th February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)

Camp east of China in Bazar. 24th February. The Maliks and elders
of the Afridi jirga spent last night in discussing the best means of effecting
settlement with the Zakka Khel. Roos-Keppel had a long interview with
the jirga this morning, and we are satisfied that they are really anxious
to come to a lasting arrangement with the Zakka Khel, as they all feel
that the continued misconduct of this clan must eventually bring the whole
tribe into conflict with Government, and endanger their independence. While
all agreeing as to the end, they show much diversity of opinion regarding
the means, as the maliks are all jealous of one another, and the clans are strongly
influenced by their own politics, the Gar clans, viz., the Kambar and Kuki Kbhel,
desiring to break the power of the Zakkas, to whom they are hostile, while the
remaining clans, the Malikdin, Kamri, and Sipah, do not wish to see their own
partisans permanently weakened. The jirga are leaving to-morrow morning for
Halwai, and have sent messengers there to collect the Zakka Khel. They have asked
for four or five days for discussing, and have been told that two days must suffice.
It will certainly be necessary to extend this period, but had the first request for
four or five days been granted that also would have been extended. They hope to
arrange for each of the great Afridi clans to become responsible for the future good
behaviour of one Zakka Khel section, the guaranteeing clan taking action against
the section in the event of the misconduct of any of its members. If they can
arrange this it will give us a very satisfactory guarantee for the future. I am
satisfied that the punishment of the Zakkas has been very complete. The Afridi
elders are unanimous that no frontier tribe has ever been so sharply, quickly, and
effectively punished, and state that the losses of the Zakka Khel in proportion to
their fighting strength have been crushing, and that there is not a family in the Bazar
Valley which has not lost at least one of its members. The more far-sighted of the
Maliks and elders argue that the Zakka Khel have been and are a standing
danger to all the Afridis, and that they must in their own interest take this oppor-
tunity of placing matters on a satisfactory footing. T have as yet had no direct
communication with the Bazar Zakka Khel, but they have been sending messages
to the Afridi jirga asking for their intervention. I have to-day received informa-
tion of a large influx of Afghans, mostlv Sangu Khel Shinwaris, into Bazar,
and my messengers report that the arrival of these reinforcements has again put
heart ‘into the Zakka Khel. Tt is stated that there are to-dav 1,500 outside
volunteers in Halwai and Thabai. This is probably exaggerated. but the number
1s undoubtedly high. The Afridi jirga will have a very difficult and delicate
task, and, although they are hopeful, their success is bv no means certain.
I am satisfied, however, that they will do their best. One point on which
all were agreed was the necessity of inflicting tribal punishment upon indi-
vidual raiders who have amassed wealth bv raids into British territory, as
they say that to leave these men in undisturbed possession of their booty, while
the punishment for their misdeeds had fallen upon the whole community, would
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present too great a temptation to individuals to follow their example in the future
and thus bring constant trouble upon the guarantors of their sections. Such actiop
is highly desirable, but it is not necessary to delay a settlement for it, as it would
require a long time to organise and could be carried out later in communication
with the Political Agent, Khyber. I received the Maliks this afternoon and their
interview has done much to re-assure those of them who were nervous regarding our
intentions towards them.

No. 69.

From Opicer Commanding Buzar Valley Expedition to Secretury of State,
dated 26th February, 1908.

{(Telegraphic.)

Camp cast of China in Bazar. 25th February. All quiet; no movement made
to-day. The Afridi jirga left camp this morning for Halwai, where they were
received by the Zakka Kliel numbering some 600 men, including the representative
elders of the clan. From accounts received up to the present, the prospect of satis-
factory settlement appears promising, in spite of efforts of large number of Sangu
Khel and other trans-border men, who incite the Zakkas to further resistance.

No. 70.

From Officer Commending Bazar Valley Expedition to Sceretary or State,
dated 26th February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.) :

Camp east of China in Bazar. 25th February. The Afridi jirga left this
morning for Halwai. Roos-Keppel accompanied them beyond the picket line.
On parting they put up prayers for the success of their mission. They rested at a
shrine between China and Halwai, and were met there by a deputation of Zakka
Khel, who conducted them to Halwai. At Halwai they found about 600 Zakka
Khel, including most of the representative elders of the clan, who received the jirga
well, and took an oath on the Koran that they would abide by the decision of the
jirga, and would join the Afridis in punishing the raiders. Maliks Yar Muhammad
Khan and Zamar Khan Jabbar Khan have written to the above effect. Their mes-
sengers say that the proceedings of the jirga were much disturbed by hundreds
of Sancu Khel Shinwaris, who stood round and shouted abuse at the jirga,
urging the Zaklka Khel to continue the fight. It is fully convinced that well over
1,500 Afghans, mostly Sangu Khel, but including Kuda Khel Mohmands and
men from every part of Ningrahar, have arrived in Bazar, and that they are
doing evervthing in their power to induce Zakka Khel to hold out. Shakar, the
notorious raider of Hazara has brought a band of 60 well-armed men. The
messengers say that the Zakka Khel are themselves becoming afraid of these out-
siders, who considerably outnumber them. Kumrgul Amai, a well-known raider
and first cousin of Dadai, was present, and took the cath with the rest. He had
to leave the jirga suddenly as a messenger came to say that Dadai was dying and
wished to see him. Yar Shah, the great raider and Dadai’s rival in the tribe, also
took the oath. Multan is in hiding, as he distrusts the jirga, and Kaman, who
has beeun slightly wounded. has gone to visit the Afghan commandant at Kahi
Messengers have been sent by the Zakka Khel elders to all men of note who were
not present to-day summoning them to the jirga at Halwai to-morrow. T consider
that the commencement of these negotiations is promising. I have received a
message from the celebrated Mulla Saiyid Akbar, Aka Khel, asking me not to

believe stories azainst him and stating that he has no intention of exciting the
trihes.
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No. 71,

From Viceroy to Secretary of State, dated 27th February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.) )

Peshawar City station was attacked 9 p.m., 25th February, by gang said to
number 40. Rs. 50 taken, station-master and chaukidar wounded. Chief Commis-
sioner, North-West Frontier Province, reports :—

“ Everything points to raid on city station heing work of Zakka Khel gang.
Chaukidar says they ‘were Afridis armed with rifles. A fired Lee-Enficld cartridge
was found on the spot, and the gang retired by precisely the same route as that
taken hy recent city raiders. On receipt of information this very line held by
troops, but raiders had passed, as information was not given by station officials
until raiders had left; and then only by foot messenger to city police station instead
of by telegraph to cantonment station. We had no information of movement of
gang from Bazar, but it seems not unlikely that advantage has been taken of lull
in operations during negotiations.”

Have called for further report with special reference to apparent absence of
police at railway station and arrangements made, or about to bec made, for the
protection of life and property in Peshawar.

No. 72.

From Officer Commanding Bacar Valley Expedition to Secretary of Slate,
dated 27th February, 1908,

(Telegraphic.)

Camp East of China in Bazar, 26th February. The Afridi jirga is expected
to return to this camp to-morrow. Their return has been delayed by the hostile
action of the lashkar of men from Afghan territory, who are reported now to
n;n]lglber 1i).bout 2,000, under the leadership of the well-known Mulla, the Sufi Sahib
of Battikot.

No. 73.

From Officer Commanding Bazar Valley Ezpedition to Secretary of State,
dated 27th February, 1908,
(Telegraphic.)
~ Camp East of China in Bazar, 26th February. The Afridi jirga spent the

night with the Zakka Khel at Halwai, and it is reported that they came to terms
with them. At 10 o'clock this morning they started to come here, but
they perceived a lashkar of all the Afghans in Bazar coming from the Thabai
Pass.” The lashkar, which is said to be about 2,000 strong, consists of about
100 Mohmands, 900 Sangu Khel Shinwaris, and 1,000 miscellaneous Ningraharis,
all Afghan subjects. The jirga accused the Zakkas of treachery in bringing the
lashkar, but they swore that they knew nothing of it, and offered to go and turn it
back. The other Afridis sent four elders from each tribe to see that there was
no treachery, and the Zakka Khel begged the Afghan lashkar not to come further,
saying that they had come too late to be of use, and would only now spoil a
settlement, which all the Afridis wished to make. The lashkar agreed after some
demur to wait at the western end of the Bazar valley until the result of the negotia-
tions of the jirga are known. All this delayed the jirga, and instead of getting
to China by mid-day, as they had arranged, they only got there in the late after-
Doon, too late to come into camp to-day. I expect them here to-morrovw.

32510 P
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No. 74.

From Officer Commanding Buzar Valley Ezpedition to Secretary of State,
dated 28th February, 1908,

Telegraphic.) L

amp East of China in Bazar, 27th February. The_ Afridi jirga, numbering
about 1,100 men, including about 300 Zakka Khel, including all the leading elders,
came in to-day. Colonel Roos-Keppel proceeded by hlm_se'ff ‘half-way to China to
meet them and brought them in. They deposited their rifles for safe custody
without demur. A formal jirga will be held to-morrow. The Sangu Khel lashkar
is at Thabai, awaiting the result of the jirga.

No. 75.

From Officer Commanding Bazar Valley Ewpedition to Secretary of State,
dated 28th February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)

Camp East of China in Bazar, 27th February. All quiet except for continued
sniping into camp at night. Afridi jirga with many Zakka Khel came into camp
to-day. Sangu Khel and other tribesmen from across Afghan border stood collected
near Halwai and Thabai, awaiting result of jirga.

No. 76.

From Officer Commanding Bazur Valley Ezpedition to Secretury of Stale,
dated 29th February, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)

Chora, 29th February. Bazar Valley to-day evacuated by troops. Whole
force is now here except 2nd Brigade, which is at Ali Masjid. Owing to snow
and hailstorm preventing communication, the following message, which was written
yesterday from Camp East of China, could not be sent:—

28th February. Jirga of all the Afridis, including Zakka Khel, spent the
night discussing the details of settlement. I received them this afternoon, and a
petition to the following effect, to which were appended the seals and signatures
of 322 maliks and elders representing every tribe of the Afridis, was laid before
me:—"“ We, the elders and maliks of the whole Afridi tribe assembled in jirga,
make humble representation to the British Government that, as we are anxious
to end the quarrel between the Zakka Khel Afridis and the British Government,
which the former’s misconduct has caused, we have agreed and do promise that
we Afridis will hold ourselves responsible, jointly and severally, in the following
manner for the future good behaviour of every section of the Zakka IKhel tribe:—
Khyber Pakhai Zakka Khel will undertake responsibility for Bara Pakhai Zakka
Khel; Kambar Khel for Shan Khel of Bara and Tirah; Kamarai Khel for
Khusrogis Zakka Khel, except Jawal Khel, Kuki Khel and Nikki Khel Pakhai
of Khyber for Mohib Khel half of Anai Zakka Khel; Sipah Khel for Zia-ud-din
Zakka Khel; Malikdin, for Paindai, the Jawal Khel Khusrogis and the Sahib
Khel half of Anai Zakka Khel. We promise also that we will help one another in
punishing these bad characters, when called upon to do so, and the British Govern-
ment may punish us for the misconduct of the Zakka Khel sections for whom we
stand security, by fine, by exclusion from British territory, or in any other way.
With regard to the past we pray that the British Government will not complete
the ruin of the tribe for the misdeeds of a badly-behaved minority, but will, in its
might, take into consideration the losses which the Zakka Khel have sustained by
war and by exclusion from British territory. We beg that we, with the help of the
Zakka Khel elders, may undertake the punishment of the actual thieves, who have
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Jed the raids into British territory, wherever they may be; and as an earnest that
we will punish them in a manner satisfactory to the British Government, we
deposit here, as security, 53 rifles, which are worth over Rs. 20,000, according to
the prices current in our country. These rifles shall not be returned to us until
the Political Agent, Khyber, is satisfied that suﬂicwpt p1_1n15h1;1e_nt has been mf_hctqd
upon the thieves. We, the Zakka Khel, concur in this petition, and promise in
every way to assist the Afridi jirga.” The petition ends with an expression of hope
that the British Government will show mercy a_nd favour. Om behalf of Govern-
ment, 1 formally accepted the terms submitted in petition, which, in my opinion,
more than meet Government’s wishes; and in public jirga, at which all the senior
officers of the field force were present, I signed and concluded settlement. Govern-
ment will, I trust, approve the settlement. Of the tact and ability displayed by
Lieutenant-Colonel Roos-Keppel in effecting this settlement I cannot speak too
highly. I would also bring to notice the invaluable services of his assistant, Sahib-
zada Abdul Qaiyum. To-morrow all the troops will evacuate the Bazar Valley.

No. 77.

From Officer Commanding Bazar Valley FExzpedition to Se retary of State,
| dated 1st March, 1908.

(Telegraphic.)

Camp at Chora, 29th February. All the Afridi tribes were fully represented
nt yesterday's jirga. All the maliks, and a large majority of elders of each tribe
were present. The following well-known raiders, besides nearly all elders, were
includ[éd in jirga of Zakka Khel, who were most strongly represented :—Yar Shah;
Miras Khan; Mehr Din, uncle of Multan; Amir Shah; Dadai, and Saidani, Anai;
Godai, cousin of Usman, Zafar, Chaman, and Shinkai, Khusrogis. Usman and
Multan, fearing that they would be surrendered by jirga, remained at Thabai with
Afghan lashkar. Messengers to announce the conclusion of peace 'were sent by
Zakka Khel elders, after settlement had been arrived at, to all sections of the tribe,
latter Leing informed that elders themselves would fire upon them if they attacked
the camp or the troops on leaving. Afridi jirga hope that within a month their
bad characters will be punished, and securities for their behaviour taken. At local
prices, rifles which Afridis have deposited are worth value put upon them; they are
all of English manufacture. Most of the sniping into Chora camp is said to be
due to Mirza Ali, who is reported to be at Lawata, about four miles south of Chora,
with a band of nine Sturi Khel Orakzais.

No. 78.

Letter from the Government of India, Foreign Department, to the Right Honourable
John Morley, O.M., His Majesty's Secretary of Secretary jor India, dated 2nd April,
1908.  Recerved 18th Aprif, 1908.

In our Foreign despatch dated the 9th January, 1908, we stated that the
behaviour of the Zakka Khel Afridis had been such as to compel us to take severe
measures against the tribe.

_ 2. Shortly after the issue of the despatch the Zakka Khel Afridis committed
a tresh series of outrages of a peculiarly daring and defiant character, ending with
a raid on Peshawar City on the 28th January. On the 31st January, 1908, we
asked your permission by telegram to send a punitive expedition into the Bazar
Xalley. On the 2nd February you agreed to our proposals, but on certain condi-
ons,

3. Of the events in the Bazar Valley you have been fully informed. We now

L Letter from the Chief Commissioner h-ave the l-lonmu: to enclose, for the informa-
North-West Frontier Province, dated the tion of His Majesty’s Government, a copy of
lﬁgh March, 1908, with enclosures. the reports on the political aspect of the
Non:thl.‘\%m }f"r()f]f:?er C}‘}:_:;iin(cfomllllitS)Siloner: operations, together with our orders on them.
24th March, 1908, e, dated the 4. The punishment inflicted on the

Zakka Khel Afridis has been sharp and
32510 P2
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severe, and we have every reason to hope that a settlement has been satisfactorily
concluded. . L

5. We have already brought to your notice* the emmentg successful mannep
in ‘which Major-General Sir James Willcocks, K.CM.G., C.B, D.8.0O., executed
the task entrusted to him. We now desire to invite your attention to the remarks
recorded by Sir James Willcocks as to the valuable services rendered by Lieutenant.
Colonel G. O. Roos-Keppel, C.I.E., Chief Political Officer with the Field Force and
Political Agent, Khyber. We desire to express our entire concurrence with these

remarks.
We have, &c.,
(Signed) MINTO.

”» E. N. BAKER.
» H. ADAMSON.
. J. 0. MILLER.

Enclosure 1 in No. 78.

Letter from the Chief Commussioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the Secretary i
the Government of India in the Foreign Department, dated 16th March, 1908.

I have the honour to forward in original a letter dated 4th March, 1908, and its
enclosure, from Major-General Sir James Willcocks, K.C.M.G., D.S.0., which
contains the political report on the Bazar Valley expedition by Lieutenant-Colonel
G. Roos-Keppel, C.I.E., Chief Political Officer with the Field Force. :

2. T cordially endorse all that the General, Sir James Willcocks, says and I
consider that Government is to be congratulated on the settlement with the Zakka
Khel, effected, as it was, in the face of strong fanatical encouragement from Afghan
tribes which threatened to bring about awkward and troublesome complications.

3. In February I was authorised to exceed my grant for presents to Chiefs on
the eve of the expedition in order to reward the jirgas of the other Afridi clans.
I thought it better, however, to defer such rewards until these jirgas should have
demonstrated their sincerity of purpose. Now that they have L.een working hard in
the interests of Government in Bazar, in Peshawar, and now in Tirah and Bara for
over a month, doubtless much to their private inconvenience, I propose to reward
them suitably and, on the authority of your telegram, I have asked the Accountant-
General to place funds at my credit. I trust this action is approved.

Annexure 1.

Letter from Major-General Siv James Willcocks, K.C.M.G., C.B., D.S.0., Commanding Bazar Valley
Field Foiee, o the Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department, duted
At March, 1503,

(Extract.)

T have the honour to forward herewith, for the information of Government, the Political
report of the expedition into the Bazar Valley, compiled by Lieutenant-Colonel
Roos-Keppel, C.I.LE., Chief Political Officer with the Field Force under my command.
The report so fully explains everything connected with the situation that I do not
propose enlarging on it. As regards his remarks on the military operations, I leave them
as they stand, for they explain the fricudly views of a comrade and Political Officer com-
bined, as they appear to him immediately after the events they describe. If our troops have
gained an extra respect from an admittedly gallant foe, I hope it may be of benefit hereafter
to both parties. I can endorse every word regarding the Khyber Rifles,” I have already reported
to His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief in India on the good conduct and discipline of the
corps throughout the operations. It has indeed Leen an object lesson and proves what good
leading and example can do in a battalion culisted from amongst the very people they are sent to
fight against. The services rendered by Sahibzada Abdul Qaiyum, Assistant to the Chief Polilical
Officer, are deserving of the highest praise. lle accompanied me in my first advance from
Al Masjid to China, whilst Lieutenant-Colonel Roos-Keppel was commanding the Landi Kotal
column and his advice at Chora was most useful.  As for his services 1n relation to the
Zakka Khel settlement, I entirely agree with the Chief Political Officer in his commendation.
I sincercly trust the Sahibzada will receive some substantial acknowledgment of his
good work from Government. lle is a very hard-working, loyal, and zealous servant of the
State. Lieutenant-Colonel Roos-Keppel’s services are well known to Government, but it is a great
pleasure to me to be able to state here how impossible it would have been to make any seftlement

» Scel‘io;‘i )
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of value with the tribes, regarding the Zakka Khel, without his {act, knowledge, and coolness.
When the Afridi jirgas reached China from Halwai on 27th February, they sent word
to Licutenant-(_]olopel 'Roos-Keppel’, who went out alone half way to China to conduct
them in. Concidering it was unsafe for any man to go beyond the picquet line, I consider
his conduct deserving of high praise, for, to say the least of it, it was a very risky proceeding.
It was further his determined manner which finally persuaded the jirgas that Government
weant to have a good sound settlement or none at all, and I cannot speak too highly of his
work, and unhesitatingly place on record that the chief credit for the political success of the
expedition is due to him.

Annexure 2.
Political Report of the Bazar Valley Erpedition, dated 3rd March, 1908,
(Extract.)

It is not necessary, for the purposes of this report, to recount in detail the events which
led to the expedition. Suffice it to say that bands of Zakka Khel had for the past three or
four years so0 garrled the borderg pf.the ohat and Peshawar districts that all secunity of life and
property waa'lost. The other Afridis had behaved well in so far that they had restrained members
of their own clans from joining in these raids, but they had made only half-hearted efforts
to check the Zakka Khel from raiding and appeared to consider the matter no concern of theirs.
It became at last absolutely necessary to punish the Zakkas, but the Government of India
were paturally anxious that the punishment should be confined to them, and that, as far as
possible, measures should be taken to isolate them and to avoid a general rising, which is
always possible when troops move into any tribal territory. With this ohject the jirgas of
all the Afridi tribes, excepting the Zakka Khel of Bazar, were summoned to Peshawar, and
it was explained to them that, as Government had no quarrel with them and had no desire
to cxtend its territories at their expense, it behoved them in their own interests to refrain
from joining the Zakka Khel, who were about to be punished, to do their best to bring the
latter to reason and to obtain from them such guarantees as would ensure their future good
behaviour. Simultaneously with the dismissal of the jirgas the Bazar Field Force left Peshawar.
The Zakka Khel expected that an expedition would De sent against them, but they counted
on some delay and on slow movement on our part. In consequence they deferred the removal
to a safe place of their families, flocks, and portable property, until they got rews of the
actual start of the force which, once started, moved with such rapidity as to reach Walai,
a point which commands the entire valley of Bazar, on the third day after the jirga at
Peshawar, while the majority of the Zakka Khel were still arranging for accommodation for their
tamilies in Afghanistan. The duration of the expedition was rigidly limited by the orders of
Government and the problem how, in a very short time, so to punish the Zakka Khel as to induce
them to make anysubmission or to give any guarantees for the future, appeared almost insoluble.
Fortunately, we had to deal! with a very gallant enemy, who assisted the solution by fighting
in so determined a manner on the 18th, 19th, 20th, and 21st February as to sufter very heavy
loss. In spite hewever of the resistance of the Zalka Khel, their ** castellos,” or small forts,
were steadily demolished and large supplies of wood and fodder were obtained from them.
The enemy’s casualties in the fighting Eetween the 15th and 21st February exceeded those
of all the Afridis in the Tirah Campaign of 1897-98. These casualties, their material losses,
the hardships suffered by their families, who were enjoying the grudging hospitality of their
Afghan neighbours, and their total inability to inflict serious loss upon our force, had their
effect upon the Zakka Khel who, though they were too proud to sue for peace, became dis-
posed to welcome the intervention of the other Afridis, which they would have scouted earlier.
While the fighting had been going on in Bazar, the Chiefs and elders of the other Afridi
clans had been exerting themselves to the utmost to restrain the turbulent element in Tirah
from joining the Zakka IKhel, and thex were so successful that of the whole tribe probably
not more than fifty volunteers from the Afridis took part against us. When they were
satisfied that they could control their own tribesmen, the Chiefs and elders entered into
negotiations with the Zakka Khel and their preliminary overtures were received at least with
courtesy. Unfortunately, there exist both in India and in Afghanistan mischief-makers who
are never so happy as when setting others by the ears, and the Zakka Khel were in constant
receipt of messages from Peshawar encouraging them to hold out as Government had ordered
the withdrawal of the force, and from Afghanistan promising them material assistance.
These messages, taken with the fact that numbers of Afghan volunteers and large supplies
of ammunition and flour were arriving daily at the Thabai Pass from Afghanistan, un-
doubtedly stiffened the backs of the Zakka Khel, and up to the 25th February the istue of
negotiations appeared very doubtful. On that date the Afridi representatives who had assem-
bled in Sir James Willcocks’ camp left for Halwai. There they held a consultation with the
Zakka Khel which lasted that day and night. Their discussions were continually interrupted
by the howls of hundreds of Afghan fanatice, mullas and others, who clustered on the hills
around, abusing the jirga and calling upon the Zakka Khel not to listen 1o *‘the feringhi's
dogs.” " In spite of this a working arrangement was come to by which the Zakka Khel elders
placed themselves unreservedly in the hands of the Afridi representatives, details being left
for settlement later, and it was decided that the combined jirgas should proceed to China
next day, invite the Political Officer to meet them there, and settle the matter.
On the morning of the 26th, when the jirgas were aboul to start, it was seen that a laxge
force was advancing east from the Thabai Pass. It consisted of Afghans (mostly Shinwaris)
with standards, who were headed by bands of mullas including some of the most influential
In the Ningrahar Province. The “Afridi Chiefs and elders believed that they had been
deceived and accused the Zakka Khel of treachery, but the latter swore that they had mno
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knowledge of thir reinforcement and that they would do their best to induce it to returny
to Afghanistan. The Zakka Khel elders went off to meet the Afghan force and as the other
Afridis did not place much confidence in theny, four elders from each of the other clans accom-
panied them to guard against any double dealing. The Zakka Khel informed the Afghang
that they would iave been delighted to sce them ten days earlier, but that now that they hed
decided to make peace their presence was inconvenient. The Afghans were very loth to refury
but the Afridis swore that if they did not do so they themselves would attack them in flank
At last it was arranged that the Afghans should return to their own border and there uwait:
the result of the negotintions. If these proved unsuccessful their assistance would be welcomed,
All this took time, and the jirga arrived at China in ihe evening instead of the morning
of the 26th February. They spent the night there, and next day the whole assembly, nun.
bering about eleven bhundred men and including about three hundred Zakka Khel, marched
into camp. Most of them were armed, and it was necessary for the safety of the camp to
disarm them. This was a very delicate task, but it was eventually accomplished. The jirga
discussed with the Political Officer and the Assistant Political Officer ll])u-. whole question
of a settlement throughout that afternoon and evening and the following morning (28th
(February), and at last a draft agreement was arrived at which ran as fol%ows:»‘
“We, the Maliks and elders of the Afridi tribe in jirga assembled, humbly represent
to the British Government that, being anxious to end the quarrel between the Zakka Khe]
Afridis and the Dritish Government, which has been caused by the misconduct of the former,
ve lhave agreed and do promise:—

* That we, the Afridis, will hold ourselves responsible jointly and severally for the
future good behaviour of every section of tg?s Zakka Khel tribe; thus—

“The Malikdin Khel Afridis will be respousible for the Sahib Khel half of the Anai,
Paindai, and Jamal Khel Khusrogi Zakka Khel.

“The Ka(iulri%r Ehel Afridis will be responsible for the Shan Khel Zakka Khel of Bara
and Tirah.

“The Kuki Khel and Nikki Khel Pakhai Afridis will be responsible for the Mohib
Kbel half of the Anai Zakka Khel.

“ The Sipah Afridis will be responsible for the Zia-du-din Zakka Khel.

“The Kamarai Afridis will be responsible for the Khusrogi Zakka Khel, excepting the
Jamal Khel.

“The Khyber Pakhai Zakka Khel will be responsible for the Bara Pakhai Zakka Khel.

“ Also we promise that when we are called upon we will assist each other in punishing
these bad characters, and Government may punish us by fine, by exclusion from
British territory, or in any other way for the misdeeds of the Zakka Khel scctions
for whom we stand surety.

“ As regards the past we beg that Government in its strength will take into considera-
tion the losses suffered by the Zakka Ihel, by exclusion from DBritish territory
and by war, and will not complete the ruin of a tribe for the sins of the bhadly-
behaved minority.

*“ As regards the actual thieves who have been leaders in the raids into Brilish territory
we also beg that we, with the assistance of the Zakka Ihel elders, may under-
take their punishment wherever they may be, and we will punish them to the
satisfaction of Government, and in earnest of this we here deposit fifty-three
rifles, which are worth, according to the prices current in our country, more than
twenty thousand rupees, as sccurity, and these rifles will only Dbe returned
to us when the Political Agent, Khyber, is catisfied that the thieves have Dbeen
sufficiently punished, and we, the Zakka Khel, agree to this petition and promise
to assist the jirga 1n every way.

“ Further we hope for the mercy and favour of Government.”

This draft was approved by Sir James Willcocks, and arrangements were made for him
to receive the jirga at 3.30 pm. on the 28th February. The rifles mentioned
in the petition, which were to be deposited by the jirga, had to he obtained
from them and this was a tedious business, as each person was most anxious that
bis neighbour’s, not his own, rifle should be given up. Also efforls were made to induce us
{o accept arms of local maunfacture which have a very small market value. These difficulties
were at last got over, and Sir James Willcocks received the representatives of the whole tribe,
including the Zakka Khel. The petition of the jirga was read to them in Persian and
explained in Pashtu, and at the termination of the reading each Chief rose and formally
asked the elders of his clan whether they authorised him to guarantee these terms on their
helalf and on behalf of their constituents. The reply being unanimous, Sir James Willcocks
accepted and signed the settlement on behalf of Government. When the settlement had been
signed, the elders sent messengers to every part of Bazar to inform the Zakka Khel that
peace had been made and that they could mow bring back their families to their houses.
They also warned them that if they discredited the settlement by firing at the troops the
Afridi Jirga would attack them. Ag the weather was very bad some of the Zakka Khel
members of the jirga, whose homes were near, asked to be allowed to depart and were per-
mitted to do so. They sent some of their men to Thabai to dismiss the Afghan gathering.
Next morning, the 29th February, the whole force marched to Chora. — All the jirgs
accompanied the troops except the Zakka Khel elders, who waited until the rearguard had
left camp and then took leave of us in the most friendly manner. Not a single shot was fired at
the troops during the march of 29th February to Chora. during the night {here, or during the
march of the following day to Ali Masjid, a record in the history of frontier expeditions.
The campaign has been a most valuable and interesting test of the extent of our contro
over our horder tribes. That the Chiefs and elders of the other Afridi clans should have
succeeded in restraining their clansmen from joining the 7Zakka Khel, with whom they are
so intimately connected, is little short of marvellous, and that they should have bound the



115

gakks Khel in an agreement b‘{\‘w_hich they themselves acceﬁt a very onerous responsibility
is hardly lese so. The Afridi Chiefs and elders have worked hard and well, they have shown
determination and unselfishness and have deserved well of Government. Among so many
it is difficult to choose, but I cannot refrain from mentioning the names of Malik Zaman
Khan, Chief of the Kuki Khel, Malik Yar Muhammad Khan (Malikdin Khel), Malik Shah-
merd Khan (Sipah), and Malik Amaldin (Kembar Khel). Another point of t
political interest was the behaviour of the Khyber Rifles. This corps, which 1s
mainly compdbed of Afridis, including some 350 Zakka Khel, had to take part in
an expediilon against a people to whom the men were bound not only by racc and
religion but by the closest ties of blood. Indeed in many caces during the expedition brother
was fighting against brother and son against father. The experiment wos viewed with mis-
trust by many and with misgiving by all, but it has been more than justified, as throughout
the expedition the Khyber Rifles gained universal praise for their keenness and willingness,
pot a man deserted, and not a rifle was lost. I mention this particularly in this report, as 1
consider it of great political importance. The Khyber Rifles were in 1899 merely an armed
rabble without cohesion or discipline, and the tribesmen themselves have fully shared the
doubte of the authorities as to whether the men could really be employed against their own
relatives and countrymen. The political effect of the satisfactory behaviour of the Corps
cannot but be considerable, not only among the Afridis but throughout the border tribes.
I have made every effort to obtain an accurate estimate of the losses of the ememy, but
it is most difficult to get anything like complete figures. I shall know later, but at present
I can only ray that I know the names of 38 men buried in Bazar between the 15th and 21st
February. A good many corpses were taken to Afghanistan for burial and some to Tirah.
Also we havé to add the enemy's losses on the 21st February, when they are helieved to have
been heavy, and on the 23rd February, when they are believed to have been slight. Altogether
I think that it is safe to say that the enemy have lost not less than 70 killed. As regards
the wounded, Afridis are very disinclined to give details of their losses. This is partly owing
to pride and partly owing to fear of the evil eye, to which wounded men are particularly
susceptible. We shall probably never know accurate details of the enemy's wounded and can
only estimate their losses by the usual proportion of wounded to killed which would bring
their total casualties to a very high figure. But for these losses it would have heen impos-
sible to bring the tribe to reason without a protracted occupation of the country, and it is
only the remarkable military success of the expedition which mude a settlement feasible.
The Afridis, who are no mean judges of hill fighting, express themselves amazed at the
handling and conduct of the troops as unlike anything they have seen or heard of, and the
fact that they have obtained no loot in mules, rifles, stores, or ammunition, on which they
confidently counted to compensate them for their own losses, has given them a strong distaste
for expeditions conducted on these novel lines. As regards the punishment inflicted
upon the enemy by material loss, every fort and watch tower in the valley has
been razed to the ground, large supplies of wood and fodder have been obtained,
and the losses due to exposure among the sheep, goats, and cattle (which are always,
in Bazar, kept in caves in the winter) have been very great. The Zakka Khel have
entirely exhausted their supplies of ammunition and cash and every individual in the
tribe has felt the sharp punishment inflicted and will continue to do so for some time. I
think that there is no dou%t that the Zakka Khel really repent their misconduet, and that they
will do their best to prevent further trouble. Thanks to a combination of military skill, political
good fortune, and the loyal efforts of the Afridi Chiefs, a settlement of the Zakka Khel question
has been arrived at which is more satisfactory than I should have dared to hope for even
had our movements heen unhampered and the duration of our stay unlimited, and I believe
that the settlement will prove a durable one, and that it will improve our relations not only with
the Zakka Khel but with all the Afridis. Should Government be satisfied with the political
results attained, and should my hopes for the future be justified by the event, I would like
to state that such political credit as may have been gained is due mainly to the efforts of
Sahibzada Abdul Qaiyum, whose services have been invaluable. The Sahihzada served through
the Tirah Expedition and has been since 1898 Assistant Political Officer, Khyber. Hif know-
ledge of the Afridis and the real affection and respect which they have for him have given
him a power over them which has ever been used for their good. The recent negotiations
were complicated and difficult, and we had many a maurvais quart d’heure when it looked us
if all would be broken off. We were hampered by the necessity for haste, and intriguers
from both the British and Afghan borders worked against us, but throughout the negotia-
tions Sahibzada Abdul Qaiyum never despaired; nothing could rufle his imperturbabie
patience or bend his determination, and that we have made a real settlement is due principally
to his influence and skill. T would take this opportunity of bringing his services strongly
to notice. In conclusion, I venture to express to Sir James Willcocks my very real gratitude for
zns krﬁ(_lness, advice, and support, without which his political staft could have domne little to
erve him.

Enclosure 2 in No. 78.

Letter frqm the Sceretury to the Government of India in the Foreiyn Department to the
Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, dated 24th March, 1908.

I am directed to acknowledge the receipt of your letter dated 16th March,
1908, with which you forward the political report by Lieutenant-Colonel G. O. Roos-
Keppel, C.I.E., on the Bazar Valley expedition, with the remarks thereon of Major-
General Sir James Willeocks, K.C.M.G., C.B., DS.0.
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2. The object of the expedition was to punish the Zakka Khel tribe for a series
of crimes committed by members of it in British territory, and to obtain satisfactory
assurances of their good conduct for the future. This object has been completely
fulfilled, thanks to the bravery and high efficiency of the troops and the conspicuous
ability with which the military operations and the political negotiations were con-
ducted. The Zakka Khels have submitted and the other Afridi clans have assumed
joint responsibility with them for their good conduct, and undertaken to bring
individual offenders to just punishment for their offences.  Never before in the
history of the frontier has punishment so sharp been inflicted so swiftly, with results
so satisfactory, and with so little loss to His Majesty's gallant troops.

3. Not the least interesting and re-assuring feature of the recent operations
has been the attitude of the Chiefs and elders of the Afridi clans. This attitude
was no doubt influenced by the confidence which you inspired at the outset of the
operations, when you explained to them in assembly the object of the expedition
and the intentions of the Government. The Governor-General in Council desires
to acknowledge the services which you rendered at this important juncture. The
assistance rendered by Malik Zaman Khan will be specially recognized. To Malik
Yar Muhammad Khan, to Malik Shahmard Khan, to Malik Amaldin and to others
you will now bestow suitable rewards.

4. The services of Major-General Sir James Willcocks as the General Officer
Commanding the expedition have been separately acknowledged. The services which
he rendered as officer in supreme political control remain to be acknowledged. The
Governor-General in Council desires to place on record his high appreciation of
those services.

5. General Willcocks pays a fine tribute to the tact, knowledge, coolness,
determination and fearlessness which Lieutenant-Colonel Roos-Keppel displayed,
and he adds that the chief credit for the political success of the expedition is due
to him. In selecting Lieutenant-Colonel Roos-Keppel as Chief Political Officer,
the Governor-General in Council was confident that all that could be done to effect
a speedy and satisfactory political settlement would be done, and he desires to
recognise the services rendered by this distinguished officer.

6. The Governor-General in Council also desires to associate himself in the
high praise bestowed by General Willcocks and Lieutenant-Colonel Roos-Keppel
on Sahibzada Abdul Qaiyum for his invaluable assistance in dealing with the tribes.

7. Tt only remains to join in the tribute which all concerned have paid and
justly paid to the Khyber Rifles, who have once more shown to their own people
their loyalty to the British Government, which is not less proud of them than they
are of their service. It cannot fail to be gratifying to them to read of the estima-
tion in which they are held by the General under whom they have served, and by
the Commanding Officer whom they know so well.

8. The Governor-General in Council trusts that the settlement recently con-

cluded will have important results in securing the peace of this portion of the
frontier.

No. 79.

Letter from the (fovernment of India, Army Department, to the Right Honourable
John Morley, O.M., His Majesty’s Secretary of State for India, dated th April,
1908.  Received 25th Aprid, 1908.

(Extract.)

Annexed is a copy of Army Department Notification dated 20th March, 1908,
publishing a despatch from Major-General Sir James Willcocks, K.C.M.G., C.B,
D.8S.0., describing the operations of the Bazar Valley Ficld Force from the
13th February, 1908, to the 2nd March, 1908.

Enclosure 1 in No. 79.
Army  Department Notijication, dated 20th March, 1908

The Right Honourable the Governor-General in Council has much pleasure in
directing the publication of the following letter from the Chief of the Staff in
India, dated the 16th March, 1908, forwarding a despatch from Major—General
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Sir James Willcocks, K.C.M.G., C.B., D.S.0., describing the operations of the Bazar
Valley Field Force from the 13th ¥ebruary 1908, to the 2nd March, 1908.
he Governor-General in Council concurs with the Commander-in-Chief in
bis opinion that the able manner in which the operations were conducted reflects
reat credit on Major-General Sir James Willcocks and the Brigade commanders
and Staff working under his orders.
His Excellency in Council also shares with the Commander-in-Chief his appre-
ciation of the soldierly conduct displayed by all ranks throughout the operations.

Enclosure 2 in No. 79.

Letter from the Chief of the Staff, Army Head-(Quarters, to the Secretary to the Government
of India, Army Department, dated 16th March, 1908.

I have the honour, by direction of the Commander-in-Chief, to submit, for the
information of the Government of India, the accompanying despatch from Major-
General Sir James Willcocks, K.C.M.G., C.B., D.8.0,, describing the operations of
the Bazar Valley Field Force.

2. The speed with which the Force was mobilised, and the rapidity of its
movement into the Bazar Valley and subsequent operations, contributed very largely
to the quick and successful termination of the expedition.

3. To secure speed in movement, the troops operated on a much lighter scale
of equipment and transport than has been adopted on previous occasions on the
frontier; but although the climatic conditions were severe, the health of the Force
and the admirable spirit displayed by all ranks left nothing to be desired.

4. The losses inflicted on the Zakka Khel were unusually heavy, and were due
?iolflhe excellent handling of the troops and to their training and efficiency in the

eld.

5. Lord Kitchener is confident that the Government of India will agree with
him in considering that the work done reflects the greatest credit on all concerned.

His Excellency desires especially to commend to the notice of Government the
excellent services of Major-General Sir James Willcocks, who so ably conducted the
operations and brought them so rapidly to a successful conclusion.

He trusts also that those who have been brought to notice in this despatch may
be considered deserving of commendation.

Annexure 1.

Letter Jrom Major-General Sir James Willcocks, K.C.M).G., C.B., D.8.0., Commanding Bazar Valley
Figld Force, to the Chicf of the Staft, Army Head-Quarters, Calcutta, dated 5th March, 19038,

(Extract.)*

I have the honour to submit the following report for the information of His Excellency
the Commander-in-Chief on the operations of the Field Force under my command in the
Bazar Valley.

1. On the 3rd February I received telegraphic orders from His Excellency which informed
me that a %)uniti\'e expedition against the Zakka Khel Afridis had been approved by the
Secretary of State for India. It was enjoined on me to keep the matter secret and to so
arrange that within a few days the troops which were to form the expeditionary force should
be ready to move al once on the orders for an advance being issued. I also received written
nstructions which gave a general idea of what was to be done; with detailed orders for the
composition of the Force and a scheme of operations as a guide up to the time the troops.
entered the country of the Zakka Khel.

The following were the strengths:—

First Brigade.

1st Battalion, Royal Warwickshire Regiment.

. 53rd Sikhs (Frontier Force), 59th Scinde Rifles (Frontier Force), 2nd Battalion, 5th
Gurkhas (Frontier Force).

_* This despu}ch was published in full in the - London Guzette™ of the 22nd May, 1908. It is reprinted here with the-
omission of the lists of nawnes of those whose services were specially commended, and of the detailed list of caeualties.

82510 Q
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Second Pripade.
1st Battalion, Seaforth Highlanders.
28th Punjabia.
4b1h Sikhs.

H4th Sikhs (Frontier Force).
Third Brigade (in reserve).

1st Battalion, Royal Munster Fusiliers.

93rd Peshawar Mountain Battery (Frontier Force).
1st Battalion, 6th Gurkha Rifles.

55th Coke’s Rifles (Frontier Force).

Divisional Troops.
2 Squadrons, 19th Lancers.
2 Squadrons, 37th Lancers.
23rd Sikh Pioneers.
25th Punjabis.
No. 3 Mountain Battery, Royal Garrison Artillery.
4 guns, 22nd (Derajat) Mountain Dattery.
No. 6 Company, lst Sngpers and Miners.
No. 9 Company, 2nd Sappers and Miners.

Attached.—800 Khybher Rifles.

2. Later on I received instructions to be ready to move forward from Peshawar as soon
as the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, had*interviewed the Afridi Jirgas,
which had meantime been ordered to assemble there.

3. During the few days remaining all the railway, transport, supply, medical and other
arrangements were completed, mostly by verbal orders. In accordance with instructions from
Army Headquarters and in communieation with the General Officer Cémmanding, Rawal Pindi
Division, the troops and followers from that division which were to form part of the Field
Force were held in readiness. Up to the last moment secrecy was maintained and not until
within a few hours of starting were all ranks of the advauced troops equipped with field
service clothing, &e.

4. On the 12th February the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, inter-
viewed the Afridi Jirgas. This same afterncon troops began to move forward, and next
day the picquets in the Khyber Puass were taken over by detachments of the Field Force;
and line of communication posts were established at Jamrud and Ali Masjid. Half a battalion,
5th Gurkhas, marched to Landi Kotal.

5. During the 12th February the 2nd Brigade from Nowshera and other {roops from
outside the 1st Division area arrived by road or rail at Peshawar, and the Force which was
to make the first advance was completed. The troops moving from the above two siations
were at once replaced by the Reserve Brigade which arrived by train.

6. On 13th February the Ist and 2nd Brigades and Divisional troops left Peshawar and
bivouacked at Jamrud. No tents were carried and all officers were on half field service scale
of baggage.

On 14th February the Force moved to Lala China near Ali Masjid.

8 T felt convinced, considering the quiet way in which the Force had been mobilised,
and how little was even known of its departure from Peshawar, that by a rapid march into
the centre of Bazar we should not only morally surprise the enemy but forestall them in any
of the positions they might have selected to defend. Accordingly at dawn on 15th February
the following troops, under command of Major-General Barrett, C.B., left Lala China:—

With the Divisional Staff T accompanied this column.

Strength.

3rd Mountain Battery. : 45th Sikhs.

Seaforth Highlanders. : d4th

28th Punjabis. ’ Wing 2-5th Gurkhas.
6th Company, Sappers and Miners.

Excepting a very small proportion of water, ambulance and other necessary mules, no
transport accompanied this advance and officers and men carried three days’ rations on the
%ﬂrson. The route taken was by Chora in Malikdin country. The strong fort helonging to

ar Muhammad Khan at this place was occupied by troops from General Anderson’s Brigade
which moved up from Ali Masjid this same day. .

No opposition was met with until after passing Chora when the Zakkas hegan firing
on the advanced guard near Tanda, Tangi and from the high hill Tsapara on to which the
5th Gurkhas were advancing. The column moved on, being fired at regularly from our left
flank till we reached Walai, east of China. Only one casually occurred, a gunner of the
3rd Mouniain Batltery being wounded. .

It was getting late now and a position for the night was selected. The Scaforth IHigh-
landers swarmed up Kbar Ghundai, a steep hill 1,000 feet above the bivouac, and established
themselves in sangars on the summit. Picquets were also placed round the Walai nala. Heavy
firing was kept up throughout the night. hut only caused us the loss of one 1ighlander and
one sepoy, 28th Punjabis, killed, boith in the piequets. The Highlanders also had an officer
and four men siruck by rocks hurled from close quarters into the sangars. The Zakkas lost
three killed and seven wounded on Seaforth’s hill, amongst the latter being the well-known
raid leader Dadai. badly hit.

9. The 5th Gurkhas on Tsapara hill were also sniped all night, but had no casualties.
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10. Whilst we were marchiﬂ to Walai, a small column from Landi Kotal, consisting
of & wing 6th Gurkhas and 700 Khyber Iifles, under command of Lieutenant-Colonel Roos-
Keppel, Ehief Political Officer with the Force, moved on the same date, and rapidly crossin,
the Bazar pass entered the valley without opposition and occupied China itself. The picque
were fired on all night, but no casualty occurred. This column maved without any transport
whatever and carried its ammunition and 3 daye’ rations on the person.

11. Thus within 12 hours of leaving the Khyber the two columns had established them-
gelves in the heart of the Zakka country. From information since received it is clear that
the Zakkas had no idea of our date of leaving Ali Masjid and had made up their minds we
phould in any case halt at Chora for a day, and in consequence had not time {o occupy Khar
Gundai, the strongest position in the valley.

12. On the same day as T moved to Walai the major portion of the first Brigade occupied
Chora, thus connecting up the line of communications.

13. On 1Gth February the advanced camp was moved up the Walai stream to a well-
protected sile where there was a plentiful supply of running water. Here the telephone
epparatus of {he Peshawar Divicion was set up and proved most useful, HHeadquarters being
connected with the two Brigades and all important picquets, rendering immediate communica-
tion safe and easy. ]

During this afterncon the Landi Kotal column marched inte Walai from China. A large
convoy of supplies from Chora also arrived in camp. Whilst this convoy was moving in,
the 45th Sikhs who were picquetting the lower spurs of Sara Paial Hill were being annoyed
by fire from the crest, which in consequence it was decided to occupy. The leading companies
asvanced but were hrought to a standstill by a heavy fire from what appeared to be a con-
siderable number of Zakkas. The Zalkas endeavoured to push forward, but other companies
were sent in support of the Sikhs and by my orders a steady fire of shrapnel was kept up on
the enemy who were plainly visible from the guns. Meantime half a battalion of the Seaforth
Highlanders arrived from camp and the combined troops seon cleared the hill. The Sikhs
had a native officer and a sepoy wounded. The Zakkas lost 5 killed and 10 wounded this
day.

v 14. On 17th February most of the 1st Brigade had reached Walai, and T had sufficient
troops to form two columuns for daily operations. This became the headquarters from which
punitive measures were hereafter carried out in every direction, according to the movements
of the Zakkas.

15. Before daybreak on 18th February a column under Major-General Barrett moved
out to destroy the towers and enclosures at China. With the Divisional Staf, I accompanied
this column.

Strength.
Seaforth Highlanders. i 5ith Gurkhas.
3rd Mountain Battery. | 23rd Pioneers.
54th Sikhs. ! 6th Company Sappers.

The Seaforths and Gurkhas moving by Surmundo and Khwar and covered by the mountain
guns occupied the hills north of China. Lieutenant Macfadyen of the Seaforths was mortally
wounded 1n this advance.

After destroying the main towers and securing a quantity of wood and fodder the coluinn
began its return march to camp and the Zakkas at once closed in on the rear-guard anl
flanks. The troops retired very steadily, the battery and its escort of Seaforihs whicli were
in the comparatively open country south of China being specially selected for attack. The
54th Sikhs also on this flank were hotly engaged, some of the tribesmen closing to revclver
range. Many Zakkas were here placed hors-de-combat.

By 420 p.n. the Gurkhas who held the hills ahove China had moved off them and
the Seaforths had also come down from the eastern spurs which they had been occupying.

The column now relired quietly. the Zakkas making brave hut fruitless attempts to
follow. Their losses this day were heavy and they avoided the Jpen country as far ae
possible for the future. Our casualties were ome Dritish officer wounded (since dead), two
British officers, {wo British rank and file, and four native rank and file wounded.

16. On 19th February a column under Brigadier-General Anderson procecded to China
to complete the destruclion of the towers and bring in fodder. No opposition was offered to
the advance, but as usual the Zakkas followed up the retirement and were again severely
punished. The troops returned to camp by the Jabagai gorge.

17. On 20th Fehruary Brigadier-General Anderson again moved out with a column (o
reconnoitre the Sassobi Pass and the Algad Valley. T accompanied this reconnaissance.
The advanced guard was fired on from both sides of the Pass, but a good survey was obtained
by Captain Rich, R.E.

Whilst the towers at Surmundo and Khwiar were heing destroyved, a portion of the eolumn
moved up the Algad Valley and from Sarwckai Pass saw a body of Zakkas advancing from
the direction of Halwai. A few shells soon scatfered them. The retiremeni o camp was
followed with less vigour than on the 18th instant, hut the enemy again suffered loss.

18. News had been received for some days that the tribesmen had collected in large
numbers at 1Talwai where they had been joined by many Sangu Khels and otlier Shinwaris
from across the Afghan Lorder. On 21st February T moved with two columus under connmaud
of Generals Barrett and Anderson, keeping a squadron of the 37th Lancers with me in case
an opportunity for the employment of cavalry presented itself.

Strength.
General Barrett's Column.
3rd Mountain Battery. 28th Punjabis.
500 Seaforths. 4 Companies, 54th Sikhs.

500 Khyber Rifles.
32510 Q2
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G@eneral Anderson’s Column.

22nd Mountain Battery. 400 of 5th Gurkhas.
Section No. 9 Company Sappers. 63rd Sikhs.
400 Warwicke. 59th Rifles.

The 28th Punjabis of Barrett’s Brigade occupied the China heights soon after daylight
and held them during the day to cover the retirement; the remainder of this Brigade took
the route south of China. The Khyber Rifles and 6th Company Sappers moved by the Bazar
nela and destroyed the towers at Kago Kamar. Fire was opened op them by the Zaklae
and kept up during most of the day. The Seaforths on our extreme left occupied the Saran
hills and kept the enemy to the south and west of Halwai. )

Meantime General Anderson’s Brigade, moving north of China by Khwar and the Sarwekaj
Pass, debouched on to the plain north of Halwai. During this movement the Zakkas kept up a
dropping fire from the direction of Pastakai. The two columns now advanced simultaneously.
The steep hills overlooking Halwai were occupied without a check, the mountain guns making
the enemy’s sangars quite untenable. Anderson’s right was very well protected from any
attack from the Thabai or Mangal Bagh passes by the 59th Rifles.

19. The towers and stacks of timber in Halwai were destroyed and the Force commenced
its return march to camp. This was, as usual, the signal for numerous parties to come down
from the Thabai direction. These opened fire at long ranges, but the Derajat Battery, very
well handled, kept them on the move. Both brigades were now moving by the south »f
China Hills which were held by the 28th Punja{vis. By the time the rearmost battalion
had arrived abreast of China the Zakka fire had almost died away, but as the 28th Punjabis
began to leave the hills, covered by the fire of six guns, the tribesmen appeared in consider-
able numbers and closely pressed the battalion. The Punjabis withdrew steadily, but lost
one man killed and eight wounded during the operation. Several acts of individual gallantry
are reported and I am recommending three men for the Indian Order of Merit.

On our left (facing enemy) the Seaforths and Khylber Rifles were also attacked, the
Zukkas advancing to close range, several of them being shot by both corps. It was whilst

allantly directing his rearmost companies at this stage of the fight that Major the Honourable
i). Forbes-Sempilf Seaforth Highlanders, was killed.
N d’fhde 53rd Sikhs who formed the rear centre covered the retirement and were very well
andled.

By the time the rear guard had got east of China Hills, the Zakkas drew off and only
fired at long ranges. Our casualties were one British officer and one Sepoy killed and ten
native rank and file wounded. Not a shot was fired into camp this night. :

20. On night of 22nd February the tribesmen tried the effects of sniping from several
directions simultaneously, but although they wounded a sergeant in the Warwicks their
own casualties are reported to have been a good deal heavier.

Next morning General Anderson again visited China with a column and brought
away most of the remaining wood and fodder. The Zakkas kept at a very respectful distance,
but the mountain guns again did some good work. Whilst demolishing the last tower two
sappers and a follower were injured.

During the afternoon the first of the Afridi jirgas arrived in camp and asked for ierms
and mercy for the Zakka Khel and expressed their eagerness and ability to deal with them
in the future. I gave them 48 liours to complele these arrangements and they all left for
Halwai. In order that thev might meet the Zakka elders I suspended active operations in
the Ilalwai direction for that period.

.22, On 24th February Liculenant-Colonel Buchanan, 54th Sikhs, with a small column
visited Jabagai and destroyed the towers. The Zakkas offered but a feeble resistance.

23. On 26th February a watler escort of 45th Sikhs on Tsapara 1lill was aftacked in
thick scrub jungle and had one Sepoy killed and two wounded.

24. On 27th February the combined Afridi jirgas, about 1,100 wmen (including 300
Zakka Khels), arrived at China from Halwai with while Hags. Lieutenant-Colonel Roos-
Keppel, Chief Political Officer, went out alone half-way to China to meet them and conducted
them into camp.

Next day I held a public jirga at which they presented a petition, the details of which
are known 1o Government. They deposited 53 rifles of lnglish manufacture as a guarantee
of keeping their promise to punish the individual raiders and begged we would now snare
the Zakka Khel, underfaking to hold themselves responsible for the conduct of the tribe in
future. A< in my opinion the terms more than satisfied the demands of Government I
accepted them ond a formal agreenment was drawn up and signed by 322 chiefs and clders,
representing all the Afridi iribes. including the Zakka Khel.

25. Detfore the {erms of above agreement were known at Chora on the night of
28th February, the camp at that post was heavily fired into and one Sepoy, 23rd Pioneers,
and four Sepoys, 45th Sikhs, were wounded.

26. Immediately the terms of settlement with the jirgas had been signed on
2B8th February. secret orders were issued for the entire force to leave the Bazar Valley at
dawn next morning. The Zakka Khels and such others of the jirgas as desired were allowed
to proceed to China at once, and this proceeding convinced them that we had no intention
of leaving for a few days at least.

27. At daylight on the 29th Fehruary Major-General Barrett’s Brigade hegan to leave
comp for Ali Musjid vid Chora, a distance of 15 miles. The transport and haggage of both
Brigades had gone by 9 aan., and by 10 o'clock the rearmost picquets hegan to withdraw.
General Anderson’s Brigade eovered the withdrawal and his arrangements were very well carried
out. I remained with this Brigade at Chora the night and next day marched through to
Jamrud, whess the entire foree was concentrated prior to demobilisafion. A battalion and
iwo squadrons were left at Ali Masjid as a temporary guard to surplus stores.
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98. From the time we left China till arrival in British India not a shot was fired by
the Zakkes. I am glad to be able to add that during the entire operations not a single
jollower, public or private, was killed or wounded by the enemy, and only one rifle was lost
in the Bazar Valley, and that was on a man killed while skirmishing in thick bush. )

29. I beg to bring to the notice of Iis Excellency the Commander-in-Chief the soldierly
conduct of all ranks of the Force. Their good discipline and cheerfulness have been very
marked, and it has indeed been an homour te command such a fine division in the field.
‘The fact that Drigades were employed intact under their own generals and staft, as they
had been trained in peace time, made the_carryl_ng out of all operations a simple mat'er.
and my own share in the work was appreciably lightened by having been allowed to select
wmy staff officers from the permanent divisional establishment. )

That the enemy lost heavily whilst own own casualties were small is due to the improve-
ment in muskelry training and the manner in which the {roops work and run up shelter at
the shortest possible notice. Sangars and pits quickly covered the bivouacs, and the picquets
“were secured against a rush at night by wire entanglements, &c. Constant night work now
forms a regular part of infantry training, and the results were very plainly visible. As
far as hill fighting is concerned our troops had little to learn from the Afridis.

The various gepartments of the Force were all satisfactory, and especially the transport
service, where the discipline and order that prevailed were very noticeable. .

The good conduct of the Khyber Rifled, many of whom were actually serving agains(
their own kith and kin, is a remarkable testimony to their efficiency and loyalty. Not a rifle
was lost by the corps, nor was there a single desertion.

30. The enemy’s losses, as far as can be ascertained at present, have heen at least 70
killed, and the wounded may reasonably bhe put at a much higher figure.

Annexure 2.

SoMuaRY oF CASUALTIES.
Officers.
1 killed (Major the Honourable D. Forbes-Sempill, 1st Seaforth Highlanders).

4 wounded (2nd Lieutenant I. C. MacFadyen, 1lst Seafrrth Highlanders, died
subsequently).

Non-commissioned Officers and Men.
British Troops.

1 killed (Private R. Fordyce, 1st Seaforth Highlanders).
6 wounded.
Native Troops.
1 killed.
27 wounded (two died subsequently).

No. 80.

Despateh from the Secretary of State o the Government of India, dated 22nd May, 1908.

I have considered the letter of Your Excellency’s Government in the Foreign
Lepartment, dated the 2nd April, 1908, forwarding the reports you have received,
through the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, on the political
aspect of the recent expedition against the Zakka Khel Afridis, together with the
orders you have issued thereon.

2. I desire to associate myself with the appreciation expressed in these orders
of the services rendered by Major-General Sir James Willeecks, K.C.M.G., C.B,,
D.S.0.,, as officer in supreme political control of the expedition, by Lieutenant-
Colorel G. O. Roos-Keppel, C.I.E., Chief Political Officer with the Field Force, and
lIJ{}{ﬂSahibzada, Abdul Qaiyum, and of the gallant and loyal conduct of the Khyber

ifles.

3.  Your letter brings specially to my notice the services of Licutenant-Colonel
Roos-Keppel, to whose tact, energy, and ability the conclusion of so prompt and
satisfactory a settlement with the tribesmen was largely due. I request that
Lieutenant-Colonel Roos-Keppel may be informed that His Majesty’s Government
highly aplPreciate the manner in which he carried out his difficult task.

4. Your letter on the subject of the conduct of the military operations by
Major-General Sir James Willcocks, and the troops under his command, is being
dealt with in a separate despatch.

I have, &ec.,

(Signed) MORLEY OF BLACKBURN.
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No. 81.

Despatch from the Secretary of State to the Government of India, dated 29th May, 1908,

I have considered in Council the letter of your Goverpment in the Army
Department, dated 9th April last, and its enclosures, regarding the operations of
the Bazar Valley Field Force against the Zakka Khel. o

2. His Majesty’s Government desire to place on record their high appreciation
of the Military dispositions made by His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief to
give effect to their policy; and to express their entire concurrence in the terms in
which, in your Army Department Notification of 20th March, Your Excellency has
spoken of the services of Major-General Sir James Willcocks and of the officers and
troops under his command.

I have, &c,,
(Signed) MORLEY OF BLACKBURN.

No. 82.

Letter from the Government of India, Foreiyn Department, to the Right Honouralle

Viscount Morley of Blackburn, lis Majesty’s Secretary of State for India, dated

4th June, 1908, Recetved 22ud June, 1908,

In continuation of our despatch dated the 2nd April, 1508; we have the honour
to forward, for the information of His Majesty's Government, a copy of a letter
dated the 5th BMay, 1408, from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier
Province, enclosing the final political report regarding the carrying out of the settle-
ment made with the Afridis on the conclusion of the Zakka Khel punitive expedition
in February last.

2. The prompt and successful manner in which the settlement has heen carried
into effect reflects much credit on Lieutenant-Colonel Roos-Keppel. A copy of our
letter acknowledging the report is enclosed.

We have, &c.,
(Signed) MINTO.

M KITCHENER.

" H. ERLE RICHARDS.
o L. N. BAKILR.

" C. H. 3COTT.

" H. ADAMSON.

”» J. 0. MILLER.

” W. L HARVLY.

Enclosure 1 in No. §2.
Letter from the Chief Commissioner, North-West Frontier Province, to the

Deputy Sccretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department,
dated 5th May, 1908.

i have the honour to forward the accompanying copy of a letter, dated the 30th
April, 1863, with its enclosures, from Major-General Sir James Willcocks,
K.CM.G, (DL, DS.O, forwarding a further report hy Lieutenant-Colonel
G. 0. Roos-Keppel, C.LLE., late Chief Political Officer, Bazar Valley Field Force,
regarding the completion of the settlement effected with the \fridis at Walai on
the 23th February, 1903

2. T concur with Sir James Willeocks that the Afridi Jirgas have, in the
thorough manner in which they have insisted on the restoration of the stolen pro-
perty, indicated a genuine desire to effcct a lasting settlement with Government.
Though subjected to a severc strain since the Bazar Valley Expedition owing to
pressure loth from Afghanistan and the Mohmands, they have hitherto stood firm,
and if they continue to do so through the present disturbances, Government will
have a good guarantee of the sincerity of their desire for peace. Lieutenant-Colonel
Roos-Kepypel is to be congratulated on bringing the negotiations to so successful a
conclusion. o
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Annexure 1.

| From Major-General Sir James Willcocks, K.C.M.G., C.B., D.5.0., lo the Chief Commissioner,
North-West Frontier Province, dated 30th April, 1908.

(Extract.)

I have the honour to forward herewith the final Political Report of the Bazar Valley

dition received from Lieutenant-Colonel Roos-Keppel, C.1.E., late Chief Political Officer
with the Field Force. In my opinion the efforts of the Afridi Jirgas have (as Colonel Roos-Eeppel
remarks) been remarkably successful, and I entlirely agree with him that the enhanced rewards to
them are well deserved. The return to them of the surrendered rifles is the natural consequence
of their loyal conduct in bringing the raiders and thieves to tribal justice, and, taken as a whole,
the settlement appears to have been very satisfactory, as I anticipated it would be.

Annexure 2.

Report, dated 22nd April, 1908, on the completion of the Zakka Khel setllement made at Walai on the
28th February, 1908,

(Ex(ract.)

The Afridi Jirga had undertaken at Walai to be responsible for the future good behaviour
of the Zakka Khef and to themeelves punish actual offenders in recent raids into British
territory. This latter clause was suggested by the Afridis themselves as they argued that
were individual thieves and raiders allowed tfo retain and ** digest” the hooty which they
had accumulated, the temptation 1o others to follow their example aud to defy the loose
organisation of the tribe would be irresistible. No fine bad been imposed by Government and
the nature of the punishment {o be inflicted was left to the Afridis themselves. After the
troops had returned from the Expedition the whole Jirga of the Afridis came to Peshawar to
discugs with the Politicul Agent the nature of the punishment to be inflicted upon the raiders.
An unfortunate incident occurred during the wvisit of the Jirga which nearly broke up
the assembly. Some youngsters, Peshawaris, Afridis and others, created a disturbance in
the streets 1n the money-changers’ quarter and some exposed money was stolen from the
sfalls. This was magnified into an “ Afridi raid” and a cry was raired that all Afridis were
being arrested. Fortunately it proved possible to reassure the elders and to satisfy them that no
harm to them was intended. They eventually decided to organise a Jirga of about 600 men, in-
cluding the Maliks and most influential clders of cach clan of the Afridis, and to visit the Zakka
Khel settlements in {urn.  On the Sth Marveh the combined Jirga left for the Zia-ud-din Zakka
Khel country at Shinkamar, aud speut aliout 5 days there; theyr then moved slowly up the Bara
visiting ithe Shan Klel and Palhai settlements, thence to Maidan where they speut 20 days,
thence 1o the Bazar Valley, and thence to Jamrud where they arrived on the 3vd April, 1908.
At each place they were fed throughout their stay Dby the Zakka Khel in accordance
with tribal custom and this in itself was a heavy punishment t{o the latter who sent in many
messages to the Political Agent begging to be reliecved of the burden of these unwelcome
guests and to be allowed to selile malters direct. In each place they succeeded in getting
hold of the raiders and hy heating them and threatening to burn iheir villages induced
them to hand over to the Jirga rifles as un earncst of their promise io dizgorge their booly.
The Jirga worked with an energy and unity of purpese never before displaved and were
extraordinarily successful. They brought to Jawrud every notorious raider in the trike (with
the sole exception of Multan who had taken refuge at Jalalabad) and the amount of loot
which they had compelled them to disgorge. This included : — R
S, AP,
(1) 4 Martini-Henry rifles taken from the Kohat Border Police
at Lachi on the 13th November, 1907, valued at Rs. 500 each 2000 0 0
(2) 2 smooth-bore Martinis taken from the Pabbi Police on
16th December, 1907, valued at Rs. 100 each 200 0 0
(3) 97 pieces of gold jewellery set with precious stones (mostly
rubies and pearls), weight 17113, and 221 vieces of plain
gold jewellery, weight 345 ,% tolas. The articles cannot be
1dentified from the Dolice lists, and there is no means of
valuing the jewels (a proportion of which may be false).
The total weight of the gold settings is 5106 3} {olas, which
at the low rate of Rs. 25 per tola comes to ... Lo 12924 3 6
(4) Loose stones, rubies, pearls, and other miscellaneous stoncs,
weight 341 tolas, value not ascertainable.

(5) 165 pieces of silver, jewellery, weight 826 {olas, bullion value 826 0 0
(6) Cash fines recovered in British coin from raiders ... ... 5981 9 3
(7) Cash fines recovered in Kabul coin from raiders, Rs. 3,103 ... 1,551 8 O

(8) 49% tolas of lrass ornaments and fragments, some set with
imitation pearls including some pieces of doubtful and
inferior gold. Not valued.
(9) Some donkeys, clothing. &c., and some sheep returned direct
to claimants. Not valued. _—
Total ... ... 23489 4 9
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To this must be added the value of the jewels in items 3 and 4 which must be at lenat
Rs. 10,000, and the allowances of the Zakkn Khel, which are in deposit, making a grand
total of Rs. 63,039-4.9, as under—

Rs. a. P

Loot recovered, as per above list ... 33489 4 9
Allowances of Zakka Khels from lst April, 1906, to 28th February,

1908 ... 19,550 0 0O

Total ... ... 53,039 4 9

When it is remembered that the fine imposed on the Zakka Khel Afridis for their share
of the 1897 disturbances was Is. 9,000, and this was eventually paid for them by the other
Afridis, who have never succeeded in recovering any part of it, I think it will be acknow-
ledged that the Jirga hLas been remarkably successful. As no fine had been imposed
at the end of the Zakka XKhel Expedition, I should have been satisfied with the mere
punishment of the offenders and should have raised mo objection to the refention by
the Jirgas, as a recompense for their trouble, of the amount which they recovered.
As, however, all the loot has been handed over to me, I have accepted it, and lave
sent it {o the Deputy Commissioner, Peshawar, for return to the losers, and I have
somewhat increased the rewards which I had decided to give to the Afridi Maliks and
elders instrumental in the settlement and in this subsequent punishmenl of raiders.
As regards Multan, who had taken refuge with the Afghans at Jalalabad, the
Afridi Jirga demanded that he should come in, make unconditional submission, pay a fine
of five thousand rupees and give guarantees for the future. Ile was at first inclined to
agree to these terms, but was persuaded by the Afghans not to submit. The Afridi
Jirga have deposited with me one Lee-Metford, eight Martini-Henry, and four snider rifles,
roughly valued at five to six thousand rupees, as a guarantee that they will not allow Multan
to return to, or to settle in, Tirah wuntil he has been properly punished. The
settlement of all these cases was long and tedious, and at one time 1t looked as if
the Zakka Khel were going to break away from the Jirga and defy them and Government,
as they put forward a very determined claim to payment of their back allowances, arguing
that if they paid up what they owed Government il was only just that Govermment should
pay what was due to them. They were told that their allowances were forfeited as a punish-
ment for their numerous violations of British territory, and they at last gave way with a bad
grace. Throughout the stay of the Jirgas at Jamiud they have been pestered by numerous mes-
sengers from the Mohmands and from Afghanistan, who have urged them to help the Mohmands
by rising and threatening Peshawar. This had, of course, an unsettling influence, and in-
creased our difficulties with the Zakka Khel, but I do mot at present apprehend any trouble.
Whatever the future may bring forth, the Maliks and elders of the Afridis have fully
redeemed their promise of punishing raiders, and they have done far more than I considere
was possible. I have therefore returned to them the rifles which they handed over at Walal
a3 a pledge for the carrying out of their promise. TUnless the Afridis generally, and the Zakka
Khel in particular, become affecled by the present agitation among the Mohmands, I have hope
that this settlement with the Zakka Klhel will prove satisfactory and that we shall have no more
outbreaks or organised raiding.

Enclosure 2 in No. 82.

Letter from the Secretary to the Government of India in the Foreign Department lo the
Chief Commissioner, North-Test Frontier Province, dated 22nd May, 1908.

T am directed to acknowledge the receipt of your letter dated the 5th
May, 1908, forwarding a copy of a letter from Major-General Sir James Willcocks,
giving cover to a report by Lieutenant-Colonel G. O. Roos-Keppel, C.I.LE., regard
ing the completion of the settlement effected with the Afridis at Walai on the 28th
February, 1908.

2. The Government of India concur with you that Lieutenant-Colonel Roos-
Keppel is to he congratulated on Lringing the negotiations so promptly to a success-
ful conclusion. The Governor-General in Council desires to acknowledge the
able manner in which Colonel Roos-Keppel managed these difficult negotiations.
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